
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO REMOTE MEETINGS 
 

During the Covid 19 pandemic virtual meetings are taking place. 
 
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen to proceedings at 
this virtual meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the Council website at 
least 24hrs before the meeting. 
 
To view live paste this link into your browser: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ 
 
 
Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live broadcast, as 
they would be able to during a regular Committee meeting in the Council Offices. 
It is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without 
disruption, so the only participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors 
concerned and the officers advising the Committee. 
 
 

 

 

CPH Children, Education and 
Skills Decision Session 

Monday 29 March 2021 at 6.00pm 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ


Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: 
Councillors K Meeson, L McCarthy, M Brain 
and J Hamilton 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
Jane Game 
Tel: 0121 704 6051 
Email: jgame@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date Monday 22 March 2021 
 

 
CPH CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND SKILLS DECISION SESSION - Monday 

29 March 2021 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
‘May I remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live via the 

internet.’ 
 

1.  APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF  INTERESTS  
 

To receive notification of any declarations of pecuniary and /or conflict of 
interests from Members. 
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 

To answer questions and hear deputations, if any, asked by any resident of the 
Borough pursuant to Standing Orders. 
 

4.  PROPOSAL TO EXPAND CHESWICK GREEN PRIMARY SCHOOL (Pages 5 - 
146) 
 

To update the Cabinet Member on the outcome of the statutory consultation on 
the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School from 1 September 2022 
and to determine the proposal in accordance with Department for Education 
guidance for decision makers. 
 

5.  LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF REVISED INSTRUMENT OF 
GOVERNMENT - BLOSSOMFIELD INFANT AND NURSERY SCHOOL (Pages 
147 - 152) 
 



To approve the revision of Governing Body Instrument of Government. 
 

6.  LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF APPOINTMENT OF LA GOVERNORS 

(Pages 153 - 160) 
 

To approve a Local Authority nominations to school governing bodies. 
 



 

 
 

Meeting date: 29 March 2021 

 

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education & Skills 

Subject/report 
title: 

Proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School 

Report from: Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Ann Pearson – Team Leader School Place Planning 
annpearson@solihull.gov.uk 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ Blythe  

 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

N/A 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

To update the Cabinet Member on the outcome of the statutory consultation on the 
proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School from 1 September 2022 and to 
determine the proposal in accordance with Department for Education guidance for 
decision makers.  

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 Approve the expansion of Cheswick Green Primary School by 210 places (1 form 
entry) from 1 September 2022 subject to planning approval being achieved by 30 
June 2021. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 On 11 January 2021, the Cabinet Member considered the outcome of the consultation 
process on the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School by 1 September 
2022 and approved that officers publish a statutory proposal for the expansion. 

3.2 A statutory notice was published on 27 January, on the Council website, through 
social media and in the local press, giving a four week period for all interested parties 
to comment on or object to the expansion proposals. The responses to the 
representation period are attached at Appendix A. 

3.3 When considering the proposals, the statutory guidance requires the Decision Maker 
to consider and have regard to a number of key factors.  These are: 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

 Consultation 

 Education standards and diversity 

 Equal opportunities 

 Community cohesion 

 Travel and accessibility 

 Funding 

3.4 These criteria are outlined in more detail at Appendix B with an officer comment on 
whether these proposals meet the decision maker’s guidance. 

Outcome of the statutory consultation period 

3.5 45 responses have been received, including responses from Cheswick Green Parish 
Council and Cheswick Green Residents Association, to the statutory consultation 
period and these are attached at Appendix A.  

3.6 As with the first round of consultation undertaken in November 2020, traffic and 
parking around the school site and the impact this has on residents in the area, has 
come forward as the main concern. In addition, the level of additional accommodation 
being provided at the school, pollution and the alternative option of a new school have 
been raised.  All of these issues were considered in Appendix B of the Cabinet 
Member report in January 2021, so this has been updated and included again as 
Appendix C of this report. 

3.7 Attached at Appendix D is the draft transport assessment that has been undertaken 
for the proposal.  This report is compiled by independent transport consultants and 
considers the implications of the proposal on the local road network whilst weighing 
this against local and national planning policy. It also assesses the need for 
appropriate mitigation measures required to make the proposal acceptable in planning 
terms. This transport assessment, when finalised will be a key document for 
consideration by Planning Committee, it is attached to this report to provide a 
complete picture of the work being undertaken to support the proposal should it be 
approved.  

3.8 Based on the evidence presented in the draft transport assessment and the 
implementation of a number of mitigation measures including:- 

Page 6



 

 
 

 The provision of a bespoke school bus (confirmed) 

 A park and stride scheme 

 The continuation of staggered start and end times for the school day  

 Promotion of the school travel plan.  

 Seek to negotiate reconfiguration of existing public service buses that service 
Blythe Valley and Cheswick Green.  

The draft report concludes that it is not considered that the expansion would have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety nor have a severe residual cumulative impact 
on the operation of the road network 

3.9 The implementation of a range of mitigation measures will together ensure that the 
school is accessible by sustainable modes, for both the existing local community 
within Cheswick Green, but also for pupils drawn from Cheswick Place and Blythe Valley 
Park which the expanded school will serve.  

3.10 The School Travel Plan will complement these measures by promoting and 
encouraging the uptake of these modes to parents, pupils, staff, and visitors.   

3.11 A number of responses received during the consultation period have suggested that a 
school bus for primary age pupils would be inappropriate due the age of the pupils 
concerned.  However, a number of school buses already run in Solihull for pupils of 
this age range.  This school bus service would be solely for the use of pupils travelling 
to and from Cheswick Green Primary School and would include an adult transport 
assistant to support and supervise the pupils. 

3.12 Any park and stride scheme would initially be funded by the Council.  This has proved 
successful at other school expansions, as it does not rely on unpaid volunteers whose 
own circumstances can impact on the delivery of the service. However, this mitigation 
measure is dependent on seeking the agreement for the use of a site, in Cheswick 
Green Village, for the park and stride scheme to operate from. 

3.13 154 (72%) of the families on roll at Cheswick Green Primary School live within the 
catchment area of Cheswick Green School, the majority of which are within walking 
distance to the school.  It is important to have a focus around supporting those 
families that can walk to school to do so. This would have the biggest impact on 
addressing the concerns about traffic and parking raised by residents as part of this 
consultation process. 

3.14 This proposal will be subject to all normal planning processes and the impact on traffic 
and parking will be considered in detail by the Planning Committee. 

3.15 The School’s vision for teaching and learning has been at the heart of the feasibility 
work that has been undertaken and the proposed building scheme has been designed 
in accordance with Government building guidance contained within the Department for 
Education’s Area Guidelines for mainstream schools – Building Bulletin 103 which 
provides guidance on the space required for a two form entry (FE) school.  It is 

Page 7



 

 
 

important to note the existing school buildings are greater than that required for a 1 FE 
primary school as the school was originally built with infrastructure for a 2FE school.  
This proposal provides significant investment in the school building.  The Head and 
Governing Body have been integral to the design and have carefully considered the 
use of the school building as part of the process. The Governing Body is in support of 
the expansion proposal. 

3.16 As with the first round of consultation, this consultation process has raised the 
alternative option of delivering a new school in Blythe Valley Park. It has also been 
suggested, through this round of consultation, that a new school could incorporate the 
relocation of Hockley Heath Primary School.   

3.17 The 750 dwellings for Blythe Valley Park will not yield sufficient pupils to sustain a new 
one-form entry school on the site.  No further housing has been identified for Blythe 
Valley Park as part of the review of the draft Solihull Local Plan and consequently 
there is no expectation that the dwelling numbers will change sufficiently to support 
the development of a new primary school.   

3.18 The suggestion to include Hockley Heath Primary School in a proposal to create a 
new school, raises similar issues to the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary 
School.  If the new school were located in Hockley Heath then the pupils living in 
Blythe Valley would have to travel to Hockley Heath village.  If the new school were 
located in Blythe Valley, then a local village school would be removed from the heart 
of Hockley Heath village and families that can currently access the school on foot 
would no longer be able to do so.  

3.19 No site has been identified for the creation of a new build school, the S106 funding 
would not be sufficient to support this proposal and the timing of places becoming 
available would not meet the needs of families moving into Blythe Valley Park now.  

3.20 The 90 dwellings identified in the draft Solihull Local Plan can be accommodated 
within the current capacity of Hockley Heath Primary Academy.  It should also be 
noted that as Hockley Heath Primary is an academy school it is not within the 
Council’s gift to make changes to the school, without the approval of the School Trust 
and the Regional Schools Commissioner.  Therefore there is no proposal to make 
changes to Hockley Heath Primary School. 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 When considering the proposals, the Decision Maker, in this case Cabinet Member, 
can decide to: 

4.2 Approve the proposals; the additional places at Cheswick Green Primary School are 
required in order for the Council to meet its statutory duty to provide sufficient school 
places for its local authority area.  These proposals will provide an increase in primary 
school places to meet the demand from both Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place 
developments as identified within the approved School Organisation Plan. Appendix B 
outlines how the proposals meet the Decision Maker’s Guidance.  It is therefore the 
view of officers that that the Cabinet Member should approve the proposals. 

Page 8



 

 
 

4.3 Approve the proposals with a modification (e.g. the date of implementation); the 
representation period has not identified a need to change the implementation date for 
these proposals. 

4.4 Approve the proposals subject to them meeting a specific condition; the 
guidance outlines a limited number of specific conditions that can set under a 
conditional approval - these are mainly around planning permission and site purchase 
etc.  Should the Cabinet Member approve the proposed expansion, the planning 
application will be considered by Planning Committee by 30 June 2021 and therefore 
any approvals remain conditional until this time. 

4.5 Reject the proposals; If Cabinet Member rejects this proposal then alternative 
schools will need to be identified to meet the growing demand. Expansion is proposed 
at Cheswick Green Primary School because it is the catchment area school and the 
closest school to the developments.  No other school has been identified as suitable 
for expansion, and it likely that any such proposal would incur the same issues as the 
ones raised as part of this consultation process. However, it will increase travelling 
time for parents, incur potential further cost to the Council’s transport budget and may 
result in the expanded school not serving the area where the places are most needed.  

4.6 There is insufficient demand to create a new school and any proposal to do so would 
not be cost effective or bring places on stream at a time to meet the demand. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 Solihull Council has a statutory duty to provide sufficient school places for its local 
authority area.  The School Organisation Plan 2020, has identified the need to add 
places to meet demand from the housing developments at Blythe Valley Park and 
Cheswick Place.   

5.2 When evaluating the Decision Maker’s Guidance, as outlined in Appendix B, it is 
Officers’ view that the proposals meet all of the requirements that Decision Maker’s 
should have regard to. 

5.3 When the planning application for the Blythe Valley Park was approved in 2016, the 
expansion of places at Cheswick Green Primary School was accepted and a S106 
agreement has been put in place to support the expansion. 

5.4 Through the consultation process carried out in November 2020 and this subsequent 
representation period the most significant concern of parents and residents is traffic 
and parking around the school site.  These issues have been considered in the 
transport assessment attached to this report and will also be considered in detail by 
the Planning Committee.  Appropriate mitigations are being explored to ensure that 
the impact on the local highway network is kept to a minimum.  

5.5 In addition, the proposed building scheme to deliver the necessary additional places 
required is in accordance with the DfE guidance BB103 for a 2FE primary school. 

 

Page 9



 

 
 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the 
opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

This proposal seeks to provide additional 
school places required to meet the demand 
from Blythe Valley Park, a strategic housing 
site with planning approval for 750 dwellings 
and the Cheswick Place development. 

The Council has a statutory duty to provide 
sufficient school places for families living in 
Solihull. 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment. 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

Cheswick Green Primary School is the 
closest school to the both developments.  
As part of the planning application for the 
proposal a transport assessment has been 
undertaken to look at the impact of the 
increase in the number of pupils and the 
possible mitigation solutions 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances in 
our most disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults & children with 
complex needs. 

Increasing the number of school places in 
good and outstanding school will ensure 
that high quality school places are available 
for families moving into the new 
developments.  This proposal seeks to 
provide a cost effective solution to the need 
to provide additional school places. 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 This report outlines the statutory consultation that has been undertaken and the key 
issues that have arisen as a result. 

6.2.2 Pre statutory consultation was undertaken for 6 weeks from November 2020, the 
outcome of which was considered by the Cabinet Member on 11 January 2021. 

6.2.3 Any subsequent planning application is also subject to normal planning consultation 
processes. 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 Revenue – Additional pupils generate additional Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), 
which funds extra pupils.  Further, the Schools Forum has approved growth criteria to 
identify additional revenue funding for those schools experiencing growth in pupil 
numbers.  There is an annual specific grant to fund the revenue cost of pupil growth in 
the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) which for 2020-21 is £728,500. 

Page 10

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

6.3.2 Mitigation – The cost of the park and stride scheme has not yet been identified but 
there is sufficient provision within the growth fund residing in the DSG.  The estimated 
cost of a dedicated school bus from Blythe Valley Park to Cheswick Green Primary 
School, including an adult guide is £24,700 per year for a 16 seater vehicle up to 
£36,100 per year for a coach.  

6.3.3 Capital - S106 funding has been secured and is expected to meet the capital cost of 
additional school places required as a result of both the Cheswick Place and the 
Blythe Valley Park housing developments.  This S106 agreements name Cheswick 
Green Primary School as a receiving school for the funding. This funding could be 
withdrawn in the event that this expansion were not to go ahead. The Children’s 
Services Capital Programme currently includes budgetary provision of £2.5M for this 
proposal but will need to be updated to reflect the latest feasibility scheme, circa £3M  

6.3.4 S106 funding of up to £532,000 has also been secured to enhance public bus 
services from Blythe Valley Park to Cheswick, the Town Centre and Dorridge.  

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 The Council has a legal duty to ensure there are sufficient school places to meet the 
needs of Solihull children and is required to follow a statutory process when 
considering a school expansion. 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 The key risk is that the additional school places cannot be provided in time to meet the 
growth in demand from the developments. 

6.5.2 This expansion does require additional accommodation to be provided at the school 
and will be subject to a full planning application.  

6.5.3 That the mitigation required to make the development acceptable in transport and 
highways terms are unaffordable. 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 This proposal seeks to ensure that the families moving into the Blythe Valley Park and 
Cheswick Place housing developments have access to a local school place. 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – Responses to the statutory consultation process 

7.2 Appendix B – Decision makers guidance  

7.3 Appendix C – Officer response to key issues raised  

7.4 Appendix D – Draft transport assessment  

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 School Organisation Plan 2020 

Page 11



 

 
 

8.2 Cabinet Member report – 11 January 2021 

8.3 Planning Committee Report – 30 November 2016 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 DfE Guidance – making significant changes to maintained schools 

Page 12



RESPONSE 1 
COUNCILLOR  

  
 
 
 
 
FAO Ann Pearson 
School Place Planning Team 
Solihull MBC 
Solihull 
B91 3QB 

Councillor Tim Hodgson 
Shirley West Ward 

C/o Solihull MBC Manor Square 
Solihull B91 3QB 
Mobile: 07507 935288 
Email: tim.hodgson@solihull.gov.uk 

  
  24 February 2021 

 
 
Dear Ann 
 
Re: Proposal to Expand Cheswick Green Primary School 
 
I write further to my letter of 16 December 2020, to object to the proposal to expand 
Cheswick Green Primary School into a two form entry school from September 2022. 
 
Whilst I recognise that there is a need locally for additional primary school places, I would 
like to reiterate my objection from December, and add that I am disappointed that Solihull 
Council has not taken on board the concerns raised by Cheswick Green residents and the 
Parish Council, and is pressing ahead regardless. 
 
As I stated in December, the proposals would have a huge and unwelcome impact on the 
highway network, especially on Cheswick Way which is already very congested at school 
drop off/pick up times, and there is an inadequate bus service or school bus between 
Blythe Valley and Cheswick Green to safely get children to and from school. 
 
In conclusion, my view is that Cheswick Green School is not a sustainable location to 
double in size, and the obvious alternative is a new one form entry Primary School at 
Blythe Valley itself, which would be a sustainable location. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Councillor Tim Hodgson 
Green Group Spokesperson – Environment and Highways 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



RESPONSE 2 
PARENT / CARER 
 
Sent: 08 November 2020 16:27 
 
As the consultation to expand the school is now open, is the school now going to 
communicate with parents about this?  
 
I am very disappointed to see that the buildings are set to be single storey so presumably 
taking up more of the field? I would like to know why this decision has been taken - eg is it 
a cost or perhaps logistic issue? 
 
If it is someone at the council I need to speak to, a name would be helpful. Obviously I 
know those are the council’s plans but I can see the school has been consulted as it says 
plans have been amended following school comments.  
 
I would also like to know what timescales will be for this if the plan is accepted and what 
the plan is for children not to be disrupted as the building work happens. 
 
 
Sent: 10 November 2020 14:59 
 
Thanks for trying to call me back earlier. I did try to call earlier but I think you’re out of the 
office. I have the following questions before I submit my consultation response: 
 
1. Has the school been told not to communicate with parents on this subject? 
2. Why can’t the buildings be two storey? If it is a cost issue, what is the cost difference? 
3. Will the additional numbers of children warrant a crossing/lollipop person? 
4. What are the thoughts on parking? It is already a massive issue. 
5. For the access road, will this be a one way system so cars in one way, out the other? 
6. Will any trees be cut down? 
7. Will the building be eco friendly?  
8. Are there any guidelines that are being followed for size of things like 
classroom/hall/wraparound?  
9. Will the space where forest school takes place still be there or recreated if removed? 
10. What is the potential timing of this and how will disruption by managed for existing 
children?  
11. Would a new head/management team be sought to lead this new, much bigger 
school?  
12. Can I see plans of the existing footprint of the school please, for comparison purposes. 
 
 
Sent: 28 January 2021 07:18 
 
I spoke to you previously about this and am so disappointed that in this latest consultation 
there are no more amendments to the size of the hall, wraparound facilities and any 
mention of how traffic will be managed. 
 
Am I missing something as these are all things that many of us flagged in the last 
‘consultation.’ Are the council actually taking any of these comments on board or just 
ploughing ahead with the original plans?  
 

Page 14



Are you able to set out next steps for their project please (beyond this ‘consultation’) and 
when the views of parents and residents will actually be addressed? 
 
Thanks, 
 
 
Officer Response: 28 January 2021 16:18 
 
Thank you for your email regarding the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary 
School. 
 
The two issues you have raised around the proposed building expansion and the traffic 
and parking issues were the two main  areas raised within the consultation process, the 
detail of which has been reported to our Cabinet Member on 11 January. 
 
With regards to the design of the building, I can see you have ongoing concerns around 
the proposals for the building. However, the proposals are in line with government 
guidance for a 2 form entry school.  Appendix B of the Cabinet Member report gave an 
officer response with regard to the design of the building and did respond to the main 
concerns raised.  Specific reference was been made to the hall space and the fact that it 
currently exceeds the requirements for a 2 FE School.  Where the school has specialised 
curriculum areas already in place, even if these are not required within the guidance, they 
have been reprovided even if this is through the use of a shared area.  The size of the 
reception classes have been reviewed and revised.   Nursery wrap around facilities are 
included and the school will continue to provide this.  This proposal will see a significant 
investment in the school building, estimated to be in the region of £3,000,000. 
 
With regards to the feedback from the consultation process on traffic  and parking this is 
being used to help shape the possible mitigation solutions that will be required for any 
planning application.  This work is ongoing  and will be published as part of any future 
planning application, which will be subject to its own process.  We are working with the 
School, our transport consultant and colleagues in the Highways and Planning 
departments to consider the implications of this proposal.  This will include considering 
what mitigation measures are deliverable to support this proposal.  A range of options are 
outlined in the proposal document. 
 
In answer to your question about the process, this consultation will run for four weeks until 
25th February, with a view to going back to the Cabinet Member at the end of March. At 
this point the Cabinet Member can decide to approve the proposal, approve subject to 
conditions e.g., planning approval, approve subject to modification e.g., the 
implementation date or reject the proposal.   The current timescales for the planning 
application are for submission in February/March.  The planning application is then subject 
to all the normal planning processes. 
 
If you would like any further information about the proposal and the process please contact 
me again, either by email or telephone. 
 
Kind regards 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Sent: Fri 12 February 2021 13:14 
 
I responded last time so comments remain the same: concerned about smaller classrooms 
and communal spaces, encroachment onto field and disruption for existing children.  
 
I also feel that the school and council need to have a more meaningful dialogue with 
parents on what is panned. Letters and emails are not enough. 
 
Traffic mitigations keep being mentioned but we need more detail. The idea of a bus from 
Blythe Valley is ridiculous and I don’t know any parents that would send infants on a bus! 
 
 
RESPONSE 3 
PARENT / CARER 
 
Good afternoon,  
 
My son started Cheswick last year, a lovely school from what we've seen so far. I disagree 
with making it bigger, only on the grounds of the traffic it will cause. I've just this second 
drove past as it's only keyworker children In school the traffic was horrendous and you are 
planning on doubling it!  
If this goes ahead then you  need to seriously think about traffic control, maybe putting in a 
crossing, parents double park as it is! Very dangerous trying to cross the road.  
 
 
RESPONSE 4 
PARENT / CARER 
 
Please register my objection to the above proposed expansion to Cheswick Green School. 
I object for the following reasons: 

1. The traffic outside Cheswick Green school is already dangerous. It cannot increase 
without repercussions, i.e an accident.  

2. There are literally no parking spaces for people to park when dropping children to 
school. 

3. Children from the new estates would not be able to walk to school, it would be too 
far. This means a direct increase in traffic, increase in traffic fumes, pollution and 
carbon footprint. 

4. Due to it being a Primary school, the children from the new estates are not old 
enough to travel alone on a school bus. 

5. Any extension will reduce the outside areas available for exercise and outside 
activity. In a time when we are trying to increase children’s activity levels and 
reduce obesity this is completely contrary to these positive messages. 

 
Thank you 
 
 
RESPONSE 5 
PARENT / CARER 
 
I am writing to object to proposals to expand Cheswick Green school. The traffic on 
Creynolds lane, Cheswick Way and Tanworth Lane at rush hour is awful with queues often 
all the way back to the school from the lights. For people in the village trying to get to work 

Page 16



this causes an absolute nightmare with very limited options for alternative routes out of the 
village.  This is not just about additional traffic coming from Blythe valley. My children 
attend Cheswick Green school and we are able to walk from home. However, I then have 
to walk back to my car and drive the work. The journey to the Birmingham Business park 
near the airport can take an hour as I have been known to queue to get to the lights at the 
end of Creynolds for 20-30 minutes during normal rush hour. Expanding the school is not 
the answer. A new school to serve the new housing developments needs to be built so 
children can continue to walk to school and parents can get to work.  
 
 
RESPONSE 6 
RESIDENT 
 
I would like to raise my objections to the proposed expansion of Cheswick Green primary 
school. 
 
My main concerns are firstly the need for the expansion at this time and secondly the 
impact on traffic in the village and specifically on Creynolds Lane. 
 
The first point is that there are other schools in the area who may be able to share the 
increase in pupil numbers but this option does not appear to have been considered. 
Cheswick green was traditionally below capacity and could absorb some additional 
numbers without the need for expansion.  
 
The after school club is usually fully subscribed with a waiting list as more and more 
parents are working and need wrap around care. The new proposals do not allow for an 
increase in this provision despite doubling students at the school. I'm not sure from the 
plans if the development actually reduces the space available for the after school 
provision.  
 
The hall and exercises spaces would also stay the same or reduce (IE the field) in the 
proposals again despite doubling student numbers. Why hasn't consideration been given 
to a 2 storey building in order to preserve the green space for the children for their 
exercise needs? 
 
Including the children from BVP is not practical. There are no pathways for them to walk to 
school. Putting primary school children into a school bus will not be chosen by parents and 
is therefore not a solution. All children attending the school from BVP will drive!!!!   
 
The number of additional cars in the village, parking and then travelling up Creynolds Lane 
will not be acceptable. The impact on surrounding roads and the children's health should 
not be accepted by the council. The option of park and walk will not be a solution. Working 
parents do not have time for this. And as I already state, all children from BVP will need to 
be driven. The lanes from BVP cannot handle this traffic and nor can Creynolds Lane 
which in non -covid times had queues from the traffic lights back past the Lloyds training 
centre every morning between 8.00 until 9.30.  
 
SMBC should not accept this proposal.  
 
 
 
 

Page 17



RESPONSE 7 
RESIDENT 
 
Good Day, 
 
I would like to register my objection to the proposed expansion of Cheswick Green School 
in order to satisfy the requirements of Blyth Valley. Local.  
 
It is a disgrace that when such a large development was planned that no provision was 
made for provision to service this estate with it's own school, doctors and dentist, shops 
and pubs as was done in Dickens Heath. Our surgery is already stretched to the limit and 
it is near impossible to get an appointment in a reasonable time. 
 
With regards to the school expansion then I suggest all councillors on the planning 
committee take a drive through Cheswick Green during drop off and pick up times in order 
to see the chaos already created by the number of cars that are parked on both sides half 
the way down Cheswick Way and surrounding roads. Doubling the size of the school will 
double this problem. It's already a dangerous situation which impedes traffic flow through 
the village at these times with small children crossing between parked cars all the way 
down Cheswick Way.  
 
No-one from Blyth Valley will be able to walk to the school as the road to Cheswick Green 
from Blyth Valley is a dark and narrow country lane. The talk of using busses from Blythe 
Valley would also be a none starter as the parked cars impede access of a bus which 
would then have no-where to park regardless of the fact that no-one would want to put 
their 6 year old onto a bus. 
 
I would suggest that you use the money earmarked to build a school at Blythe Valley and 
follow this up by building a doctors surgery there too. 
 
 
RESPONSE 8 
RESIDENT 
 
To whom it may concern.  
 
To expand a school that already has poor transport links and the local land is annually 
flooding due to poor drainage thanks to recent developments, Bloors, Blythe and Dog 
Kennel Lane. It’s ridiculous.  
 
The local roads are already clogged and no thought has been given what 200 extra pupils 
will bring. There has been an accident recently and the fire crew couldn’t navigate 
successfully past the school due to car parking.  
 
Eating into the green belt surrounding of the school and Cheswick green is not acceptable 
to accommodate the Blythe community. Plans should have been drawn up for that site to 
have its own school system.  
 
I believe alder took now needs to be expressed also.  
 
It just hasn’t been thought out fully. And expanding existing is not the answer.  
Regards 

Page 18



RESPONSE 9 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, I object on two bases. 
 
First, parking on Cheswick Way - and surrounding roads, at the start and end of the school 
day is a safety issue now. 
An expansion of the school will exacerbate that. 
 
Secondly, traffic on surrounding roads, in particular, Creynolds Lane and Watery Lane will 
increase significantly. This is a capacity issue. 
 
Connectivity between Blythe Valley and Cheswick Green is very poor - narrow lanes and 
no footpaths or cycle paths, and I doubt that parents would use a school bus to transport 
their Primary age children to and from school. 
 
As Hockley Heath School buildings are old, I would like to see a new school built between 
they present school site and Blythe Valley, thus serving both communities and releasing 
land in Hockley Heath for new houses. 
 
 
RESPONSE 10 
RESIDENT 
 
Good Afternoon, 
 
Please accept this email as an objection to the plans to expand Cheswick Green Primary 
School. 
 
I do not believe the proposed expansion to be a good idea for the local area, the road 
congestion or the education of children in this area. Whilst I acknowledge the council has a 
duty to educate, I believe this is being seen as the 'easy' option to meet this need and is 
certainly not the best long term plan for the area. I believe there is also potential that those 
making the decisions have personal benefit and gain and as such there is conflict of 
interest in both this process so far and those individuals being allowed to make such 
decisions forwards. 
 
Firstly, the councillor responsible for education in Solihull is also the ward councillor for 
Hockley Heath. This surely is a conflict of interest? Cheswick Green school is stated as the 
catchment area for the new Blyth development as it is closest to the development. I 
believe this is not a truthful statement. Hockley Academy is circa 1.9 miles from the 
development via Kineton Lane and the Stratford road and 1.7 miles via School road past 
Wedges Bakery. Cheswick Primary is actually 1.7 miles via Illshaw Heath road, a country 
lane and nearly 3.4 miles via Kineton land and the Stratford road. Hockley academy is 
therefore actually the closest current school to the Blyth development so should be the 
catchment for this new development. 
 
I understand no more than a desktop exercise was used to determine Hockley school was 
not suitable to expand, this I feel may have been done with bias. Hockley and Cheswick 
school sit on similar footprints so why is 1 considered suitable and the other not and who 
made that decision? There was also a proposal to knock down Hockley school and build a 

Page 19



new school to service both Hockley and Blyth again I believe this was ruled out but not for 
the correct reasons and should be revisited by an independent party to all areas. 
 
The current head mistress at Cheswick Green I understand backs this proposal, even 
though she has potential to retire before the 2 form entry would be full. I understand part of 
the final salary pension offered would however be based on the potential no. of pupils the 
school could accommodate. Therefore I'd suggest again that is a potential conflict of 
interest as the individual backing the proposal has potential personal gain should it go 
ahead. 
 
The conflicts of interest aside we also object as there is potential to damage the education 
of the children attending the school, if it is to double in size. Whilst the proposal appears to 
accommodate additional class rooms, the hall, after school club and several other areas 
remain at current size and were designed to accommodate the existing no. of pupils. 
Doubling of pupils will mean these areas need to be expanded also as do the 
outdoor areas for exercise. The proposal I've seen reduces the outdoor space available at 
the school, so as it stands would be double the number of pupils with a much smaller 
outdoor space.  
 
Our main objection to this proposal and should also be a higher priority for the council as it 
goes against several recent policies would be the additional traffic and congestion this 
expansion will bring into the area if it goes ahead. Anticipating most parents travelling from 
Blyth will do so by car and not some form of public or school transport if this proposal goes 
ahead it will just increase the traffic, congestion and air pollution already seen on 
Cheswick Way and Creynolds lane. So not only will this potentially damage the education 
of the children but also have direct impacts on their health! Not to mention the mental 
health of many residents as we battle against inconsiderate parking across our drives by 
parents on school runs, travelling along Cheswick Way between double parked cars or 
sitting for up to half an hour (if not longer) on Creynold Lane to the Stratford road trying to 
get to work. I know there is a proposal for the council to supply transport from Blyth to 
Cheswick but I'd suggest most primary school children would not be making use of this 
service so it is not a solution to a problem that will only be created by an expansion of 
Cheswick school. 
 
As noted in our previous objection to this proposal, as well as many other peoples, we live 
in Cheswick very near to the school and have children in attendance there. We are 
personally affected daily by the school traffic at present and have got into heated conflicts 
with others on several of the points noted above. We do not see how the council will 
reduce or solve this by expanding Cheswick Primary and request again that consideration 
is given back to Hockley Heath or to building a new school nearer the Blyth development. 
 
I'd be happy to discuss any points raised in this objection further and we make our 
objection in good faith that our views will be taken into account and this is not simply a box 
ticking exercise by the council for a decision that has already been made. 
 
Regards, (a concerned resident of Cheswick Green) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



RESPONSE 11 
RESIDENT 
 
My husband and I would like to. Voice our concerns with regard to doubling the number of 
children there.  The roads are already full of cars when it is time to drop off or pick up 
pupils.  Creynolds lane has great traffic problems in the rush hour and putting a carpark 
from Creynolds Lane would just make this worse.  The village carpark could not cope with 
school cars as well as people using the carpark for their normal business.   It seems to me 
that Solihull considers Cheswick Green a dumping ground for problems.   Why should we 
have to have a bigger school built when Blythe Valley would be so much better for children 
to use and they could walk to school.  Cheswick green is not a green solution. 
 
 
RESPONSE 12 
RESIDENT 
 
When the proposal to extend Cheswick Green School was announced I was against it. 
Only because of the expected problems with access and egress.  I have lived on Cheswick 
Green for 51 years and even remember the school being built in 1974.  I now live 100 yds 
away from the school and cannot help but seeing it every time I look out of my windows.  
As time has moved on there have been many changes at the school as one might expect.  
 
As the young population that came to live at Cheswick Green most of them sent their 
children to the school. As the occupants and their children got older there became more 
empty places at the school so places were taken up by children living outside the village.  
The congestion on Cheswick Way got worse and worse. The fact that the school proposed 
extension will be doubling in size means that the present congestion will double also, and 
so will the number of staff cars.  The bus route, from Blythe Valley, along Cheswick Way 
has been going for a long time but now, due to the congestion, the local bus company 
refuses to travel along Cheswick Way.  SMBC pay for the bus but the bus company decide 
which way they go not SMBC, how strange is that? 
 
At pre lockdown times anyone can see the problems with vehicle congestion outside the 
school during opening and closing times.  Vehicles are parked badly, sometimes across 
residents drives, on double yellow lines, in other side roads and most park with two wheels 
on the pavements. All this congestion does not help children that actually walk to the 
school and have to cross the road. 
 
I was a member of Cheswick Green Parish Council when the last proposal was made to 
extend the school in 2016/17, which did not happen, and we proposed then that there 
should be two access/egress provisions.  If the school was developed with the present 
access to be used by infants and the second access, via Creynolds Lane, to be used by 
junior pupils it would help considerably with the expected congestion.  
  
The second access point would go from Creynolds Lane across SMBC land rented to a 
local farmer. It would be a double lane wide road with a turning circle at the end as a drop 
off point. Land could be used by the school gate to extend the open green space for the 
children.  
 
Regards 
 
 

Page 21



RESPONSE 13 
RESIDENT 
 
To whom this may concern, 
 
        Understanding that there is more homes that are being built in Solihull there needs to 
be education for the primary age children. However, expanding the school of Cheswick 
Green School is not the answer I believe.  
 
        Flooding – You may not live in Cheswick like I do but we do suffer with flooding there 
has been times we couldn’t get out of the village as all access points where flooded and 
would have to drive your cars in deep water that could water log your engines.. of which 
has happened! My house is situated by the stream that runs past my garden, since Blyth 
Valley being built I have noticed a significant increase in the levels of the stream and on 
bad rainy days this starts to spill into my garden! I don’t know how its going to cope with 
more buildings being developed near Cheswick let alone the school being expanded 
taking up more group (less ground to soak up the rain water).  
 
        Traffic – It is a nightmare for school traffic you can barely get one car down at a time 
when the road it double parked adding more cars to the mix is calling for a disaster!  
Heard that a school bus was in the thinking but I don’t think this is the answer as after this 
for one not all parents are going to use this so increase in traffic is already a guarantee 
and with this a bus will just block up more of the road for those commuters travelling to 
work causing more upset and congestion. I also heard that the was going to be a new 
entrance on the main road coming into Cheswick which is a more of danger hazard than 
anything! One with young children on a even busier road! And this will inconvenience 
those daily commuters.  
 
        Pollution – More traffic means more pollution.  
 
        Resources – having bigger form classes will stretch the resources. The already built 
parts of the school such as hall, gym are not going to accommodate such an increase in 
the amount of pupils.   
 
        I feel this was a quick fix with very little care or consideration of the education system 
of the families that are going to live in these new homes. Thinking expanding a school will 
solve this was very naïve. A new primary school should be built closer to those homes 
creating more jobs, stability and eco friendly living. A closer school for those homes will 
decrease carbon emissions due to people can walk and drop of their children.  
 
        It may be more money to do that but think there will be more issues in the future with 
roads, pollution, resources and even flooding that it would be far simpler and potentially 
cheaper to put effort and resources in sorting out the new homes rather than quick fix. 
Please take our villages thoughts and opinions and think of the impact this is going to 
cause us. Its not fair and very irresponsible if this goes through.  
 

As mentioned before I understand that primary school is needed for these new 
homes with young children, but expanding Cheswick Green Primary School is not the 
answer it will cause more problems and more money to rectify the effects of expansion.  
 
Many thanks, 
 

Page 22



RESPONSE 14 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear sir 
 
I would like object to the expansion of Cheswick Green junior school as as this is a totally 
unsuitable site.  The road is already congested with some staff cars parked on both sides 
of the road all day and even worse when parents park at start and finish times.  
 
The local bus is an added problem and it is not uncommon for the traffic to be stationary 
for several minutes at a time during normal times (not lockdown).  The ideal answer would 
be to build an additional school at Blythe Valley. 
Yours Faithfully 
 
 
RESPONSE 15 
RESIDENT 
 
Good morning, 
I wish to highly Object to the expansion of cheswick green school. 
 
Kind regards 
 
 
RESPONSE 16 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sir or Madam 
 
I have been a resident of Cheswick Green for 20 years and strongly believe that the 
infrastructure of our village cannot cope with a further expansion to the school.  
 
Although the school is not functioning at full capacity at this time due to Covid, when things 
were normal, the traffic at the beginning and the end of the school day was horrendous 
and sometimes it was impossible to access Cheswick Way from Creynolds Lane due to 
the amount of parked cars.  
 
This will also create a bottleneck at the junction of Creynolds Lane with the Stratford Road 
by the Plough and not least will mean that Illshaw Heath lane will become a "rat run" for 
people coming from the new houses at Blythe Valley to get to the school. The junction of 
Cheswick Way, Illshaw Heath lane and Watery Lane is already classed as dangerous and 
I can foresee many more accidents there unless there is a substantial change in the road 
management. 
 
I strongly believe that it would be far better to build a school at the Blythe Valley 
development which would serve both communities better. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



RESPONSE 17 
RESIDENT 
 
Please accept this email as my objection to the proposed expansion of the school. 
I live on Cheswick Way a few properties down from the school entrance. 
There is already grid lock traffic at start and finishing times. It is completely unacceptable 
to double that traffic. 
Buses will not be an option as they would never get down Cheswick Way with cars parked 
either side of the road. 
I am at a loss to understand why you are even considering this proposal where there is 
ample space for a new school on Blythe Valley. There may not be enough children 
currently in Blythe to fill it . However, Children could travel in that direction as opposed to 
travelling to our village. 
Yes, it is a village with a single intake village school. We do not want or need this to 
change. 
 
Upon watching the on line meeting which reviewed the proposal I was of the opinion that 
you had made a decision already and were simply giving the residents lip service.  I so 
hope that this is not the case and that you will listen to the objections being made. 
Residents do not want this! 
 
Additionally, there are also obvious issues with the plan 
 
The hall for 200 children is the same size for 400 children? 
The after-school club for 200 children is the same size for 400 children? 
The library for 200 children is the same size for 400 children? 
The music room for 200 children is the same size for 400 children? 
 
Please reconsider that expansion 
 
 
RESPONSE 18 
RESIDENT 
 
I wish to object to the proposal for the expansion of Cheswick Green primary School. 
 
Cheswick Green school is a typical "village" school, created to serve the needs of the 
original village.  By doubling the size of the pupil population, the character of the school 
will be changed in many ways, to the detriment of the quality of education and pupil 
experience. 
 
The distances to the school from Cheswick Place and from Blythe Valley are such that no 
primary school age child can walk that far and will therefore need to be driven. This will 
lead to greater traffic congestion in the school area, and increased air pollution. Although 
bus services are proposed, no parent will send a child of primary school age on a bus, so 
they will have to drive them instead. 
 
Creynolds Lane is too narrow to accommodate increased bus traffic and 
pavement/footpaths are totally unsuitable for child safety. The traffic congestion at the 
junction of Creynolds Lane and Stratford Road has increased markedly since the opening 
of Cheswick Place and will increase still further if proposals go ahead. 
 

Page 24



The proposed increase in parking spaces for school staff is far too small. Cheswick Way 
and surrounding roads are already restricted by staff and parent parking. There is no 
suitable "drop-off" space for parents to safely disembark their children. Local residents are 
already greatly inconvenienced by indiscriminate parking, and this will only get worse. 
 
It is only a matter of time before a child is injured or killed by a traffic collision. 
 
Please reconsider this dreadful proposal to expand the school. 
 
 
RESPONSE 19 
RESIDENT 
 
Please don’t go ahead with this. 
I live in Beechwood Close, the existing traffic situation is dire at school pick up and drop 
off, sometimes I can’t leave my close for the amount of cars backed up on foxland. 
Not to mention teachers and staff parking all day on cheswick way and Foxland close, 
squeezing out the last few spaces left for residents. 
We don’t have driveways, we use the roads to park and there just isn’t enough space as it 
is, if you double the school in size you will create huge traffic problems and increased 
pollution for all the residents living in the immediate area. 
 
 
RESPONSE 20 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
I am writing to express my opposition to the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary 
School.  
 
I start by asking why this seems to be being rushed through in the middle of a pandemic 
when it is extremely difficult for residents to be made aware of what is proposed especially 
if they are not computer literate. It also seems unreasonable to undertake surveys 
regarding traffic etc whilst we are in lockdown so people should not be travelling and 
schools are closed to all except for key workers’ children. Hence it is impossible to get a 
realistic picture of the situation as it will be in normal circumstances. 
 
It seems to me that this proposal has not been properly thought through on educational 
grounds, but done so that the maximum number of children can be accommodated at 
minimum cost. The extra building does not increase space in the hall, library or music 
room and building more classrooms will reduce the amount of outdoor space available for 
pupils to do sport or play. Our children deserve better than this. 
 
Staff parking is a major issue now. A lack of parking spaces in the school grounds means 
that many staff (20 cars at least some days) already park along Cheswick Way causing 
congestion here all day. This situation is likely to get much worse if there are double the 
number of classes as the proposed extra spaces will not accommodate the extra staff this 
will mean. On top of this the number of vehicles that already park outside the school and in 
nearby roads at drop off/pick up times has caused problems for many years, leading to 
arguments and stand offs with nearby residents whose drives get blocked off. This will be 
made much worse if most of the extra children come from Blythe Valley as their parents 

Page 25



will almost certainly bring them by car. It is too far for small children to walk from Blythe 
Valley and there is no safe walking route from there. This will also clog the already busy 
lanes from Illshaw Heath, the Stratford Road and Creynolds Lane where traffic builds up 
during rush hours in particular. The provision of a bus from Blythe Valley is not a practical 
solution for primary age children and parents, by and large, would not be happy to use 
such a service. The problems with parking on Cheswick Way have already meant that the 
village has lost a bus service so residents who may be either elderly or disabled now have 
to walk onto Creynolds Lane and cross a busy and dangerous road if they need to use the 
bus. This may mean that some residents now find travelling anywhere extremely difficult. 
Congestion by the school is also a hazard for emergency service vehicles - I personally 
have witnessed a fire engine struggling to get through. This is not acceptable and could be 
life threatening. 
 
SMBC claims to be following a green agenda and aiming to go carbon neutral by 2050. 
This proposal does nothing to help this cause. More vehicle journeys and traffic jams will 
result in increased emissions and hence increase the carbon footprint. Also vehicle fumes 
have been shown to increase the incidence of asthma and other lung conditions in children 
so having more vehicle engines running close to a school will only make the situation 
worse. 
 
It seems that alternatives have not been looked at properly. I suggest that building a 
school on Blythe Valley should be re-visited as there is plenty of space there and it is not 
green belt land. Such a project could conceivably link with Hockley Heath School so that a 
new two form entry school could be built to serve both communities. This would reduce 
traffic from Blythe Valley to Cheswick Green and the land on which the current Hockley 
Heath School stands could be sold off for development within an already built up area, 
meaning less green belt land needs to be lost elsewhere. Hopefully in this situation more 
children would be able to walk to school, a much more satisfactory solution for everyone’s 
health. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
RESPONSE 21 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
I would like to register my strong objections to the expansion of Cheswick Green Primary 
School from both the educational and environmental viewpoints. 
 
Before discussing my objections I would like to add that this consultation has been 
conducted in a way that does not allow access to all residents. The timing is bad, to 
conduct a policy of this importance during a pandemic seems strange. The  
 
Borough Council has banned the distribution  of flyers and seems to assume that all 
residents have access to a computer and are computer literate. This has caused some 
consternation in the village.There is a feeling that everything is being rushed through. 
 
I can not agree with the proposals for Cheswick Green Primary School and in fact I can 
see little of merit in them. I write as a former teacher now retired. 
 

Page 26



As a mathematician it seems a simple problem that if you double the number of pupils in 
the school you need to double the size of the school.There is much more to education than 
just classroom learning. There needs to be a bigger outdoor area for 
 
class & casual games; the library, the assembly hall and recreational area need enlarging 
and of course staff facilities need improvement. There is little evidence that these aspects 
will be changed. The site is barely of sufficient size. I foresee  a drop  
 
in the overall standards of the children’s education. 
 
The environmental impact of any extension to the school will be catastrophic. There is 
already chaos at the start & end of the day. It surprises me that there has not already been 
a serious accident. The attitude of some parents is not acceptable as   
local residents have suffered  abuse and threats. The traffic on Creynolds Lane is already 
a nightmare, any further complications if a new entrance is made off Creynolds Lane does 
not bear thinking about. The idea of a school bus is a non-starter. 
 
Parents of the youngest children would not entertain the idea and will use cars. A bus 
journey is too stressful, I know this from my own son’s experience of bullying and verbal 
abuse. This was from the adults not other children and caused  
 
considerable distress. I can see no way that this will do anything other than cause an 
increase in pollution and a further deterioration in air quality.  
 
Furthermore there is already an all day problem of staff parking on Cheswick Way. This is 
bound to get worse and already causes problems to the elderly and disabled (including 
myself)  as only one bus per hour comes through the village. 
 
This development seems to me to be poorly researched and another case of the all too 
prevalent lack of care for Cheswick Green. There are other schools and I fail to see why a 
development of the size of Blythe  Valley does not  warrant its own school. 
 
I sincerely hope that SMBC will take note of the realistic objections of the citizens that 
were the people that elected the Borough Council 
 
 
RESPONSE 22 
RESIDENT 
 
To whom it may concern, 
 
I write to convey my concerns with regard to the proposed expansion of Cheswick Green 
School, having recently returned to live in the village after 10 years.  Originally, I lived in 
The Orchards but now live on Foxland Close. 
I have 4 children, ranging in age from 36 to 26, who all attended the school.   
 
Some 30 years ago I organised a petition, requested a traffic count, got the Solihull News 
to write a report in the paper and also involved the local MP in my quest to do something 
about the safety of children attending the school when arriving and leaving.  At that time 
there were approximately 350 pupils attending and the outcome was that there were not 
enough pupils attending the school for any additional safety measures to be implemented. 
 

Page 27



I cited several issues as follows:  

 Irresponsible parents pulling up on Cheswick Way inappropriately to 'drop' their 
children off on the way to work.   

 A blind bend to the right of the site entrance on the same side of Cheswick Way.   
 The site entrance being a few yards from 2 bus stops that are opposite each other.   
 The site entrance being almost opposite the junction of Foxland Close and barely 

50 yards from the junction with Creynolds Lane.   
 A chronic parking issue on Cheswick Way making it extremely difficult to see any 

oncoming traffic coming round the blind bend from the right when leaving the site at 
the end of the school day - most especially the children making their own way to 
and from school (an essential part of gaining independence in year 6 prior to going 
to secondary school). 

 Parking on the corners and all the way down both sides of Foxland Close. 

These issues still exist today and I note that there are cars parked on both sides of the 
road all day on the section of Cheswick Way from the school entrance down to the 
Creynolds Lane junction.  
 
I am extremely concerned about the safety aspect that an increase in traffic would have if 
the expansion of the school was given the go ahead and therefore wish to register my 
objection to the proposed planning application. 
 
Cheswick Green resident 
 
 
RESPONSE 23 
RESIDENT 
 
Please don’t increase the size of our primary school. 
I have lived in Cheswick Green for 34 years my children attended this school and now my 
Grandchildren attend. 
 
I’m not someone that opposes change but the truth of the matter is that this location 
cannot sustain any more traffic. With the recent new development which has increased the 
size of Cheswick green it brings with it more cars and families dropping children at school 
before heading off to work. Cheswick way is very congested at school times and impedes 
residents leaving the village with traffic backing up on creynolds lane. It also makes it very 
dangerous for children crossing surrounding roads. 
 
 
RESPONSE 24 
RESIDENT 
 
Sent: 24 February 2021 at 21:53  
I am disappointed that the objections to the expansion of Cheswick Green Primary School 
have not resulted in any alternatives being put forward.   Please see below my original 
objection letter which I wish to restate in this representation. 
 
Yours sincerely  
Cheswick Green resident 
 

Page 28



Sent: 17 December 2020 at 23:50 

I would like to express my very strong concern that the proposal to double school places at 
Cheswick Green Primary School would have a massive impact on the road network, 
especially on Cheswick Way which is already extremely congested at school drop off/pick 
up times. 

Doubling the number of children arriving and departing from the school, the majority of 
which would undoubtedly be by car, as there are very poor public transport links and there 
is no safe walking route from Blythe Valley to the school, would be chaotic. Not only would 
this bring traffic congestion, it would also increase air pollution on Cheswick Way and the 
surrounding roads. 

The report presented to the Cabinet Member for Children, Education and Skills states that 
the expansion is to cater for the additional housing development at Mount Dairy Farm 
(which is now Cheswick Place) and Blythe Valley, both of which have very high levels of 
car ownership. Blythe Valley is several miles away and not connected to Cheswick Green 
by a regular and reliable bus service, nor is it practical or sensible to expect children to 
walk to and from school from there. There is actually no bus service that runs from Blythe 
Valley to the school site in Cheswick Way, as the hourly A7/A8 services run directly down 
Creynolds Lane and miss out the school altogether. This is because the bus operator has 
indicated that, because of the congestion outside the school, they would not route the bus 
service along Cheswick Way.   

The extra vehicles will add increasing pressure to the surrounding roads. It is already very 
difficult to drive along Cheswick Way by the School at peak times and it would be 
incredibly difficult with the amount of traffic this would present. 

I feel that Cheswick Green School is not a sustainable location to double in size, and I 
don’t understand why the Council has not considered building a new one form entry 
Primary School at Blythe Valley itself, which would be a a much more sensible and 
sustainable alternative. 

Yours sincerely, 
 
 
RESPONSE 25 
RESIDENT 
 
Good morning 
 
I am contacting you to again raise my objections for the planned expansion of Cheswick 
Green Primary School. 
 
I was extremely disappointed that following the first round of consultation, the plans seem 
to be pretty much guaranteed to go ahead, if the Council meeting was anything to go 
by.  With none of the residents valid concerns addressed at all, or dismissed without much 
discussion or interest.  I will add that the last round of consultation seemed to be made so 
hard, people struggled to complete without help and guidance. 
 
I again wish my strong objection to be put on record.  My concerns are based on that of a 
current Cheswick resident. 

Page 29



Traffic and parking is even now a problem, even whilst there are minimal children 
attending school and start and finish times are staggered.  Residents driveways are 
continuously blocked and parking around the school is making crossing roads for local 
children who walk to school extremely dangerous.  This has been a known and ongoing 
issue for a  number of years and is only getting worse.  To expand the school to BVP 
residents, who will almost certainly drive their children to school, will only magnify the 
issue, causing even more issues for local residents and also increasing pollution from the 
increased vehicular traffic, which will also impact the health of our children and vulnerable 
residents. 
 
I cannot convey how strong my objections are to this plan, as every resident I have also 
spoken to agrees.  If this expansion goes ahead, it will be to the detriment of our children 
and all residents.  Traffic will be hugely increased, compounding issues residents were 
already concerned about pre lock down.  Residents access to their own properties will be 
impeded, children who walk to school will be at a higher risk of being hurt or worse from 
crossing next to multiple parked and dangerously parked or stopped cars.  There will be 
congestion caused by increase in traffic, which again was already an issue pre lock down 
and increased traffic will also cause higher pollution damaging our children’s and more 
vulnerable residents health. 
 
It makes perfect sense for children of Cheswick Place to attend Cheswick Green School, 
which the school can already fulfil.  It does not makes sense to expand the school to intake 
children of the ever expanding BVP development.  This development should have it’s own 
school to cater for the local children, reducing the need to travel by car and cutting 
pollution in the process. 
 
I really do hope the voices and concerns of Cheswick Green residents are acknowledged 
and answered this time, instead of being passed over and not given any value 
whatsoever.  That is after all what the consultation process is all about is it not? 
 
Many thanks 
 
 
RESPONSE 26 
RESIDENT 
 
We object to the proposed expansion of Cheswick Green Primary School expansion on 
the following grounds -  
 
The increase in traffic and congestion in the village and the surrounding roads will cause 
great problems for the residents, i.e traffic, pollution, parking, more accidents, etc. 
 
Our 3 children went to Cheswick Green Primary School, it was a very nurturing, caring, 
friendly village school, the children knew everyone which makes the children feel safe and 
looked after. The idea to expand it just dilutes the whole essence of a Village Primary 
School. The children will go from feeling valued and individual to feeling they are just a 
number in a vast pool, from a mental health perspective it is a very wrong idea and we are 
so disappointed this suggestion has been put forward. 
Not happy that Blythe Valley had to be built on, which i'm assuming is the reason for the 
required expansion, but as it was, these things should be thought through to the extent of 
providing a school for the children there, not making Cheswick just a huge entity. The 
children have to grow up and it's a big world out there, secondary schools are a big jump in 

Page 30



size but at least they have had the grounding start at a one form entry primary school, to 
become themselves, have the confidence to be themselves and are ready by the time they 
are at the end of year 6 to go up a size in classes but to do it for children aged 4yrs and 
above just makes the School become a daunting, soulless place. 
 
We absolutely object to this damaging idea. 
 
Kind Regards, 
 
 
RESPONSE 27 
RESIDENT 
 
I object to the proposal above. 
 
Having lived in Cheswick for most of my life, I think this will have a massive detrimental 
effect on the area as a whole. 
 
Regards 
 
 
RESPONSE 28 
RESIDENT 
 
I am writing to object to this proposed expansion to cheswick green primary school not 
only will it be a shame for the school that I went to be made bigger and the lovely village 
school be turned into a bigger school were the friendly aspect be ruined but it will coarse 
mayhem around the village it is already an accident waiting to happen with the teachers 
parking outside the school all day and the at drop off and pick up even more parked but 
this will increase and be a danger to people of the village. We move to this village as it was 
a lovely place to grow up in when I was little and wanted the same for our daughter but this 
will spoil the village having people come from else where to join the school causing 
disruption and the crime is already increasing around the area I really think that it will be a 
much better idea to build a school doctors etc ont the new build sites .  
 
 
RESPONSE 29 
RESIDENT 
 
Good Evening,  
 
I am writing to express my concern over the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary 
School. I do not feel a solution has or will be found regarding traffic and transport 
concerns.  
   The issue still remains that Blythe Valley is not walkable distance to the school meaning 
most likely all pupils from Blythe Valley will have no choice but to travel to school by car.  
   We are living in a climate crisis and should be doing whatever we can to help the 
environment but the suggestions being made will mean more traffic, more pollution and 
more emissions. How is this in any way good for our children? The suggestion of making 
transport arrangements for pupils on Blythe Valley seems ridiculous as they are Primary 
age pupils ranging from the age of three/ four onwards and I can’t imagine parents of 

Page 31



feeling comfortable with this arrangement. Imagine sending your three year old on a bus to 
go to nursery. It is unrealistic.  
   The truth is that the decision was made to not build a new primary school on the Blythe 
Valley development without taking into consideration this issue and the impact it would 
have on the village of Cheswick Green. It is yet another case of houses being agreed and 
built without the infrastructure to support it and without thinking of the impact to the 
environment, climate change and global warming. Proposing unrealistic options in terms of 
transport from Blythe Valley or moving school traffic and parked vehicles to other areas of 
the village. Neither of these options provide a solution.  
 
 
RESPONSE 30 
RESIDENT 
 
We wish to lodge an objection to this planned development.  
We have lived in Cheswick Green for 33 years now and have always had issues with the 
vehicles parking up to drop/collect children from the school. We live in Foxland Close and 
vehicles are parked halfway down our road at key times making it difficult for residents 
who have no off-road parking facilities to park their vehicles. 
The amount of cars parked as you turn into Cheswick Way by the school is ridiculous the 
bus can just about get through and should an emergency arise for fire and ambulances to 
attend they would definitely be delayed at this part of the road.  
The majority of new intake at the school will be coming from new builds in the area which 
means car use would double causing more issues for residents.  
The council should have persevered with gaining backing to build a new school on Blythe 
Valley which would accommodate children from Dorridge and Hockley Heath and also 
have better access for parents who need to use their cars to get children to and from 
school. 
Our other concern with this expansion is that the plan does not show sufficient outdoor 
space for the children at break times. The playground currently is limited on space for the 
amount of pupils attending let alone when the numbers double. 
Solihull council need to recognise that Cheswick Green has village status and as such the 
school is a VILLAGE school we are rapidly in danger of becoming part of the urban sprawl 
as the green space surrounding us is being eradicated. The council need to start listening 
to their residents instead of presenting done deals that nobody wants. 
 
 
RESPONSE 31 
RESIDENT 
 
I previously responded to the initial consultation exercise regarding the proposed doubling 
of the size of this local Primary School. I now discover to my great disappointment that it 
appears as if SMBC seems determined to press ahead with it's plans - despite providing 
what local residents can only imagine to be a token offer of a further stage of consultation. 
 
I am not in principle against the village having a two form entry primary school - to think so 
misses the point of my objection completely. My concerns as stated previously focus on its 
location and the impact it would have on the local environment. 
 
It is clear from the significant and wholly disproportionate increase in housing that the 
parish has and will continue to have over the next few years that additional school places 

Page 32



will be required. It is however extremely short - sighted of the Council to assume that this 
proposal will solve all their long term problems. 
 
WHY IS THE PROPOSAL ILL -  CONCEIVED? 
 
1) TRAFFIC 
 
At peak times ( coinciding with school drop off and pick up) traffic in and around the site 
already becomes impossibly congested - as would be clear to anyone visiting during the 
pre - Lockdown times. It is clear upon visiting that a relative minority of pupils and parents 
walk to the school - the majority are dropped of/ picked up by car. This problem will be 
exacerbated if the proposal proceeds to conclusion as more families will travel in many 
from further away. 
 
The Council should be making strenuous efforts to reduce the volume of traffic in the area  
- not increase it. 
 
2) BUSING 
 
It is naive to assume that families from the expanding BVP development will use a school 
bus service. Ask any parent in this day and age if they would be prepared to put a 5/6/7 
year old in such a situation. I doubt it - hence the additional car journeys. Poor lighting, 
country lanes with no footpaths (from BVP), winter mornings and afternoons - - all 
additional safety concerns. 
 
3) LOCAL ROADS 
 
The school site is virtually adjacent to Creynolds Lane - now one of  ( if not 'the' ) busiest 
roads south of the A34. Parents dropping children off in the morning would most likely 
continue their journey along this road. ( the reverse being true in the afternoon ) further 
impacting on the desperate situations witnessed pre - Lockdown. 
 
4) SPEEDING 
 
Local residents have welcomed the recent initiative to create a new 30mph zone around 
the local accident trouble spot. However this speed restriction along Creynolds Lane does 
not go far enough. Vehicles travelling along it will without doubt continue to approach 
Cheswick Way at speeds of 45/50mph+ as they do now - just 30/40 metres from the 
entrance to the school. 
 
5) TYPES OF VEHICLES USING LOCAL ROADS 
 
The nature of the traffic using the area has changed dramatically in recent years  - in 
particular with regard to the size and weight ( as well as speed ) of vehicles. 
 
A sample survey I conducted on Friday ( 19th February ) taken for 30 minutes outside the 
entrance to Cheswick Way between 8.30 and 9.00am ( and this during a so-called 
Lockdown period) identified 20+ HGV type vehicles that were clearly in excess of the 
stated weight restriction that should be applied to the road - all were travelling well beyond 
the 40mph limit. A clear danger to young children and their families. 
 
 

Page 33



6) POLLUTION 
 
It goes without saying that the area around the school suffers from being in an 
environment polluted by heavy traffic - sadly everyone does.  
The Council should they press ahead with their plans will certainly exacerbate these 
dangers to children's health. And it is simply not just air pollution- it would be noise 
pollution too ( at least for the next ten years or so until we all drive electric vehicles ). 
 
I truly once believed that SMBC was at the forefront of promoting a low carbon future for 
the Borough, 
 
 
7) IMPACT ON THE LOCAL COMMUNITY 
 
It is no surprise to learn that in general  - individuals, representative organisations - in the 
community are unanimous in their rejection of this proposal. They can see no sense in it 
whatsoever. In particular one must feel for those residents living within the immediate 
vicinity of the entrance. The current situation in already impossible - imagine what it would 
become if this were to get the go-ahead ??? With the school in its present site there is 
simply no adequate solution to this problem identified in the proposal and it causes great 
consternation. 
 
IN CONCLUSION 
 
I trust that I leave no-one reading the letter in any doubt that I believe the proposal to be ill-
conceived. 
 
Instead of simply taking a short-term approach to what will become an increasingly 
demanding problem owing to the dramatic increase of the local population the Council 
should seek to seek ' invest in the future'. The only sensible conclusion any future enquiry 
into the wisdom of this proposal would be that SMBC should have - 'invested in a new up 
to date all purpose two form entry school on the BVP site'. Similar challenges will be faced 
when it is realised that there will be inadequate medical support in the area ( doctors , 
pharmacies etc ). 
 
I ask once again that the proposal is rejected without further consideration. It is clear for all 
to see  that the local electorate view this as the only sensible course of action and it is 
incumbent upon the Council to act listen and respond accordingly. 
 
 
RESPONSE 32 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
I wish to object most strongly to this proposal for the following reasons. 
 When a decision was taken to change the traffic lights system at the top of Creynolds 
Lane, going into the A3400 Stratford Road from a 2 phase system to a 3 phase system, 
which basically meant that it was then possible to turn right from Creynolds Lane onto the 
main Stratford Road towards the M42, this change caused major traffic problems, mainly 
on Creynolds Lane which could result in a tailback of traffic waiting at the end of Creynolds 
Lane stretching back past the Lloyds Bank Management Facility. It has been relieved 
recently but only due to the Covid crisis reducing the traffic. If you increase the size of the 

Page 34



school and include an access Road at the back of the school for drop off and school 
parking purposes, it will cause mayhem . Basically you will be adding more traffic to an 
already overladen traffic situation. With current 21st century trends ,whether or not you like 
it, parents from Blythe Valley and Cheswick Place will wish to drive their children to the 
school resulting in massive congestion all around the school area . We already have 
reported incidents of cars being parked across peoples drives blocking entry/exit whilst 
they are dropping off children . This is grossly unfair to the residents living all around the 
school of whom you obviously  have absolutely no care for. 
A far better solution would be to build a new school at Blythe Valley which will 
accommodate the children of that new development and possibly children from Hockley 
Heath as well . This is what I believe you should be looking at doing rather than the plan 
you have concocted from the interested parties who do not have any care of the of the 
effect this proposed change will have on the local community around the Cheswick Green 
School area. 
 
 
RESPONSE 33 
RESIDENT 
 
I wish to OBJECT MOST STRONGLY to the proposed expansion of Cheswick Green 
Primary School. 
The roads between the Blythe Valley development and this school are either totally 
unsuitable or already conjested.  
Expansion would be detrimental to the people living around the school.  
Expansion would be detrimental to the health of children attending the school. 
Blythe Valley could and should have its own facilities including a school. 
Large schools are not condusive to health in times of pandemics such as the present time. 
Common sense says Bylthe Valley needs a school of its own. The Residents of Cheswick 
Green have expressed this view from the start of the planning process and their views 
have been ignored.  
 
 
RESPONSE 34 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
This Expansion is exclusively for the benefit of people outside of Cheswick Green Village 
and will have no benefit to Cheswick Green residents but will have a major impact on the 
lives of all residents.  
 
Cheswick Green village does not require an expanded school. 
 
I believe that this is a vanity project for the self-indulgence of the head teacher and 
governors of Cheswick Green Primary School. 
 
Traffic congestion on Creynolds Lane before the pandemic was already a problem, with 

delays of up to 20 minutes at peak times. These delays are only going to increase and 

standing cars will create even more pollution.  

 

Congestion outside the school even now is horrendous due to staff parking and parents 

at drop off and collection, add up to another 200 cars and Cheswick Way/Creynolds Lane 

Page 35



will be gridlocked with more residents and roads affected and being threatened by 

“parents” when blocking access to private properties. 

 

Various options are being bandied around by SMBC a possible bus service from Blythe 

Valley but with only 30% of children coming from there and the rest from other areas, 

roads such as Tanworth Lane and Watery Lane will be congested. Again, no thought to 

traffic problems. 

 

SMBC’s commitment to reduce carbon emissions is not evident here! 

 

Expansion of CGPS is being rushed through so as to accommodate children from the new 
housing development on Blythe Valley, new housing in Shirley and other areas.  
 
A full feasibility study for the building of a new school at Blythe Valley should be 
undertaken, this could provide a new state of the art school accommodation for the current 
Hockley Heath school which is outdated and inadequate.  
 
There is also provision for a new two form primary school and early years at site 12(BL2), 
less than half a mile from the current CGP school; in which case why is the extension 
required at Cheswick Green?  
 
Resident at Cheswick Green 
 
 
RESPONSE 35 
RESIDENT 

Objection for the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School. 

1. Firstly, can I ask that the person responsible for any agreement to this planning 
application will at least come out and look at the infrastructure within Cheswick Green for 
themselves before making any decisions. This is vitally important. 

2. I and many others believe this planning is being rushed through at a time when we are 
in lockdown, for instance there has been no feasibility study for Blythe Valley to have its 
own school, why has this not been done?  We are all fully aware that for any new house 
builds once the first phase is complete the builders then request more land for yet more 
housing, so why not build a school at Blythe Valley? Why have all our roads congested 
with school traffic, isn’t there enough traffic as it is? 

3. Cheswick Green Village feeds from Creynolds Lane which is a 40mph zone. When 
approaching Cheswick Green from the A34 Stratford Road there is also a blind bend 
before the turning into Cheswick Way, the school is a few hundred yards on the right. 
Cheswick Way is a small winding road and during school term is congested with teachers 
parking their cars during the school day.    

Are you aware that the school only has 13 parking spaces plus one disabled for its staff at 
present?                      

With the teacher’s cars parked on Cheswick Way together with parents dropping off 
children, this results in double parking, parking on zig zags, parking across residents 
drives etc. causing absolute mayhem and danger for the children and residents, so much 

Page 36



so that one local bus service now refuses to even come through the village. Another intake 
of 210 children will be catastrophic for this area and people who use Creynolds Lane as a 
cut through to the main Stratford Road.  Waiting time at the lights at Stratford Road during 
normal times well exceeded 15/20 minutes with traffic backed up to the Lloyds Centre. As 
already stated, this road is currently a 40mph zone. The Parish Council have paid for a 
speed sign to be put around the village and during the month of January and February this 
sign has been located on Creynolds Lane.  I am responsible for the downloads and some 
of the following speeds have been recorded - 57mph on a Thursday between 15:00-
16:00hrs, 54-59mph Wednesday between 13:00-16:00hrs, one car reached 80mph!  As 
you can see in the copy of the table below there are 8.29% speed violations on Creynolds 
Lane alone. 

  

If you would like more information on the speeds please do not hesitate to contact me.  

Have any traffic surveys been done by the council? (I don’t mean the survey of someone 
sitting and driving a van around all the roads in Cheswick Green which we know SMBC 
have done – a real survey counting cars and on a normal day not during the lockdown). 

It’s been mentioned that a second entrance on Creynolds Lane may be a possibility but 
again the problem of congestion will be a major issue.   Surely this cannot be safe for the 
children and parents that actually walk to school or any other motorist. We know that the 
school will still offer a wrap around service, so this will be used throughout the whole day. 
A new entrance would have to be incorporated on Green Belt land, at a time when 
governments/councils are supposedly advising people that they will use brownfield sites. A 
contradiction in itself. It would also open the field to more housing which Creynolds Lane 
just cannot cope with.   

Cllr Ken Hawkins tweeted that Cabinet Member Ken Meeson indicated that school 
transportation will be provided for children coming from Blythe Valley to attend Cheswick 
Green Primary School. Who would allow a child as young as 5 onto a bus, on their own, 
would you? This is purely an exercise for residents to forget about the traffic problems for 
Cheswick Green and its residents and would not work. Parents would still use their cars to 
transport their children to school.  

5. It’s astonishing that by adding a couple of classrooms for an extra 210 pupils seems 
adequate. Do the calculations really add up? Will there be enough space for an extra 210 
pupils? Classrooms, the hall, all remain the same size, how can that be? Outside playing 
space will be reduced considerably which is unhealthy for the children.  

I think the planning officers need to think logically and realistically about this quick fix 
strategy. 

Page 37



I would like to object wholeheartedly with regards to the extension of Cheswick Green 
Primary School, build a new school at Blythe Valley incorporate Hockley Heath if you so 
wish, but please do not make the residents of Cheswick Green suffer anymore than they 
do already. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me for more details on the speed sign.  
 
 
RESPONSE 36 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sirs  
 
I would like to register my objection to the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary 
School.  
 
Over the past few years Cheswick Green village has undergone a huge amount of 
expansion and change. We live on Coppice Walk and it’s like living on a main road at 7:30 
in the morning - it was a relatively quiet road before all the new building went ahead. The 
village doesn’t have the infrastructure to cope with this continual change and the roads 
would not cope with the increased traffic. Leave our village alone and put a school 
somewhere closer to the new developments on Blythe Valley. The residents of Cheswick 
Green are strongly against this plan.  
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
RESPONSE 37 
RESIDENT 
 
It saddens me to hear that this expansion is continuing to the next stage , have you 
listened to the residents views ? We are NOT in favour of this expansion, And the traffic is 
already a problem throughout the village and I fear will be gridlocked . The pollution is also 
of great concern.. as parents from Blythe valley will obviously drive , how many additional 
cars ??  
If you intend to keep building houses on Blythe valley and the surrounding areas wouldn’t 
it make sense to build a school big enough to cope with the constant construction of 
houses. This seems a quick solution not a long term one . All this continues whilst we are 
in lockdown, the flow traffic is not a true representation of the vast quality of vehicles that 
use Cheswick Green as a short cut !! Could you provide me with details as to why you 
haven’t provided children on Blythe valley with a school and an education??  
Looking forward to your response.  
 
 
RESPONSE 38 
RESIDENT 

Although both consultations provide limited information, it is evident that the additional 
planned facilities are restricted and arguably, not in keeping with a doubling pupil capacity. 
The hall, after school club, library and music rooms all remain the same size. Quite clearly, 
this is not consistent with a good learning environment. 

Page 38



The parking of school staff cars causes much consternation, an issue that could get much 
worse. While provision for additional parking in the school grounds is included in a feasible 
study, residents should insist that, despite increasing staff levels, there would no longer be 
a need to park staff cars on nearby roads and such a practice would be banned by the 
school. 

 A recent survey has found that traffic pollution can reduce children’s lung capacity by 
almost 20%. Also, Public Health England’s report into air quality, highlights the need to 
reduce air pollution in the vicinity of schools. Such facts are in the public domain and it 
therefore defies all logic why SMBC should be proposing a doubling of pupil numbers with 
an inherent increase in vehicular traffic. This is completely unacceptable and for this 
reason alone, the proposed expansion should be dismissed. 

It is assumed that the key criteria of such an action would be to drop off/collect children. 
However, with vehicle engines idling and the inherent release of dangerous gases into the 
air, plus traffic congestion on approaching roads, such a move is likely to have devastating 
consequences. 

 As a result of the new housing which is focused in our area, a contribution from 
developers to reduce the impact of new housing and provide funding for a new 
infrastructure. With an obvious funding route, it is both fair and logical that BVP should 
have its own primary school. 

 The consultation suggests that Hockley Heath Primary school and St Patrick’s Academy 
are, in isolation, unsuitable to accommodate an expansion of this size. However, as a key 
suggestion was to accommodate the BVP children across all three primary schools, there 
is no evidence that this proposal has been taken seriously and properly investigated. 
 
 
RESPONSE 39 
RESIDENT 
 
This email is confirmation of my objection of this expansion.  
 
I have lived here for 20 years and only one road away from the school, I have seen first 
hand how much traffic and  how many children are around at peak times.  
 
My road is used as a overflow car park constantly and getting out of Foxland onto 
Cheswick way is also another battle. You cannot see down the road for cars either side. It 
is dangerous for children to be crossing as there is a lot of traffic and if there is expansion 
of the school this will create further danger.  
 
Since the road change of Creynolds Lane, and the traffic lights onto Stratford Road there 
has been nothing but chaos at peak times. There have been times I have been trapped in 
the village unable to get out due to the volume of traffic. Yet again further school places 
will create more traffic and more danger. This whole thing is an accident waiting to 
happen  
 
I am totally disgusted that this idea has even got to this stage. There is no consideration 
for residents, children's safety or the environment.  
 

Page 39



Even if travel was provided. As a mother, there is no way I would put a primary age child 
on a school bus. This will not be practical therefore parents will need to drive for 
reassurance that their children arrive safely.  
 
I sincerely hope that this does not go ahead. This area is being ruined gradually and this 
expansion will further create chaos in Cheswick Green.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
RESPONSE 40 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Sirs, 
 
I wish to register my opposition to the proposed doubling of size of Cheswick Green 
Primary School. 
 
I understand that the additional capacity is primarily required to accommodate children 
from the Blythe Valley Park housing development.  Surely if the Cheswick Green school is 
to be doubled in size then a new school in Blythe Valley is viable.  I am appalled that you 
are contemplating a scheme in which children cannot walk to their local primary school. 
 
In Cheswick Green I see all aspects required to a local community, shops, pub, village 
hall, school.  I see none of these amenities on the Blythe Valley development - why not? 
 
Your Sincerely 
 
 
RESPONSE 41 
RESIDENT 
 
Dear Council 
 
I would like to comment on the proposal to extend Cheswick Green School. 
 
In theory the extension of the school is a good thing , but I am very concerned about the 
additional traffic that it is going to be coming into the village. 
 
The staff car park needs to be extended either way as many staff already park on the road 
during the day. Which makes it quite difficult to manoeuvre around.  
 
It’s all very well saying a school bus will come from Blythe valley but how much will it be 
used.  
 
I did wonder if a school could be built on Blythe valley by converting one of the empty 
commercial buildings no longer being used.  
 
Thanks for all you do 
 
 
 

Page 40



RESPONSE 42 
OTHER 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
I am extremely concerned about the traffic impacts that will be felt by the expansion of the 
school. The roads around the school before lockdown were exceptionally busy both the 
back routes and the more main routes in and out of cheswick green. The queues at the 
traffic lights to get onto the Stratford Road at rush hour were ridiculous at times with it 
taking sometimes 10-15 mins to get through. I don’t think there has been enough thought 
given to the environmental impact of cars queuing and also the danger the extra traffic 
poses to the children. I’m worried the school will be too crowded and especially concerned 
that the play areas and outdoor spaces will be compromised. The school hall doesn’t 
appear to be increasing in size nor does the library which seems to be smaller. The school 
is ideal at the moment for the number of children there and I can’t see how more can be 
accommodated on the same plot. I feel a new school would be more suitable to allow for 
the ever growing population round the area. 
 
Thanks 
 
 
RESPONSE 43 
OTHER 
 
I object 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



RESPONSE 44 
CHESWICK GREEN PARISH COUNCIL 
 

 

 
Cheswick Green 
Parish Council 

SOLIHULL 
 
 
 

Response to Solihull MBCs 

second consultation on 

Cheswick Green Primary 

(CGP) School 
February 2021 

Proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School 
 

 
  
  
 
 

Page 42



The Parish Council (PC) believes that the number of objections to this proposal will be 
severely curtailed, as it has only been able to inform residents about this consultation via 
the internet. As per the previous consultation this discriminates against those that do not 
own/use an electronic device, making these consultations not inclusive and this matter 
needs addressing, as it is unfair.  
 
Members of the Parish Council would have distributed leaflets through doors however due 
to COVID19 we have been advised by Solihull Council (SC) not to do so.  
 
The (PC) appreciates the second opportunity to respond to the proposed expansion of the 
school but unfortunately is opposed to this project being undertaken.  
 
The (PC) is disappointed that (SC) has chosen to refer to the decision of the (PC) in 2016 
rather than the decision of 2020. Agenda item 3.10 of the report to Cabinet Portfolio Holder 
for Children of 11th January 2021 states ‘The Parish Council considers that the expansion 
of Cheswick Green Primary School offers the best location to accommodate the demand 
for primary school places associated with existing and future properties in the area’.  
 
The (PC) would inform (SC) that this decision was taken when the Chairman of the (PC) at 
that time, had what current Parish Council members consider an interest in this matter and 
should have withdrawn from proceedings. The Chairman influenced the decision of the 
(PC) through his position and in that several Councillors had not been in post for long. 
Furthermore, the same person had fraudulently submitted two ‘Call for Sites’ to (SC) one 
of which concerned land adjacent to CGP School. The (PC) would be obliged if (SC) did 
not refer to this tainted decision in future.  
 
As (SC) has chosen to raise the past rather than the present Councillor Hawkins one of 
our Ward Councillors opposed the proposed extension but subsequently changed his 
view. Party (toe the line) politics no doubt, not a “Thatcherite” then.  
 
We were not pleased to read the following message from Councillor Hawkins on 2nd 
February 2021 which he posted on Twitter. ‘Pleased with the reaffirmation by Cabinet 
member Ken Meeson this evening for school transport to be provided for school pupils 
who wish to attend the potentially expanded Cheswick Green Primary School’. The word 
‘potentially’ is understood as is the expected outcome of this consultation process by us 
and our residents.  
 
We cannot understand why so little progress has been made in establishing a project to 
deliver this proposal since 2016. We the public are now entering into a second round of 
consultation where we are being asked to comment on proposals that are not fully 
developed or thought through. It appears that this proposal is accelerating when 
consideration should - but has not - been given to the views of parents of pupils and local 
residents. The only way we are receiving anything other than scant information is by 
asking questions. We hold the view that at the first stage of consultation we the public 
should have been furnished with details that provided a clear picture and an understanding 
of what is being proposed. We are of the opinion that (SC) delayed progress to present 
parents and residents with a fait accompli.  
 
We understand that should this proposal proceed it is likely that a planning application will 
be subject to a Full Cabinet meeting this April. We are a consultee but would appreciate 
sight of the plans and other information at the earliest possible date.  
 

Page 43



The (PC) would welcome a social media meeting with the Councillors involved with this 
proposal and we have sent them each a copy of our response to this consultation. 
 
We raised several questions with Ann Pearson during this consultation period. Our 
questions, her replies are in italics and our views of those replies are below.  
 
1. The Headteacher and Governing Body are supportive of the proposal, in principle, and 
are clear about the benefits that this expansion can provide to current and future pupils. 
Can you please explain this as this was not our impression from the draft minutes from the 
Governor Body meeting?  
 
During original desk top feasibility work, Cheswick Green Primary School was identified as 
one of 3 schools that could meet the demand from the proposed Blythe Valley 
development. The Governing Body expressed an interest in being expanded at that stage 
of the process. Desktop feasibility work identified that neither Hockley Heath or St Patrick’s 
Church of England Academy could be expanded to meet the demand from Blythe Valley 
Park, so Cheswick Green Primary became the identified school for a proposed expansion. 
Since then the Headteacher and Governing Body have worked hard, in partnership with 
the Council, to develop a building scheme that can deliver the requirements of the school 
but meets the budgetary constraints of the Council. At the Governing Body meeting in 
October 2020, the building design and proposal were signed off ‘in principle’ by the 
Governing Body, this meant that the proposal could move forward to public consultation.  
 
However, part of the purpose of the Governing Body meeting in October was to provide 
further feedback and ask questions about the design and this is reflected in the discussion. 
At the time of the meeting from which the draft minutes have been referenced, the 
Governing Body signed off the proposal ‘in principle’ because the majority of the building 
design was agreed but still required some further amendments. Work is ongoing and the 
scheme has move forward again since that meeting. This scheme represents a significant 
investment in Cheswick Green Primary School of around £3,000,000.  
 
No matter what we are told concerning how this stage of the proposal has been reached, 
one cannot escape the fact that you cannot reasonably fit a two-form entry into a one form 
entry school with the addition of new classrooms and by  
re-engineering existing space. Surely our children deserve a modern education 
establishment. This is Solihull one of the most sought-after locations to live in this country 
not an inner-city area.  
 
There were clearly problems with this proposal at the October meeting of the Governing 
Body with funding also being an issue (see Appendix 1). An investment of £3,000,000 from 
Section 106 Agreements, however this amount is only a fraction of what was received in 
relation to Cheswick Place and Blythe Valley (BV).  
 
Finance is the decision-making factor here. As your report states ‘An expansion of an 
existing school is the most cost-effective way of creating the additional 210 places 
required’.  
 
2. The Headteacher and Governing Body have been integral to the design proposal and 
have carefully considered the use of the school building as part of this process. Can you 
please inform us what the benefits to pupils are?  
 

Page 44



The Headteacher, supported by Governors is continuing to work with the Building Design 
team to ensure that the final design ‘enables staff to provide the same quality of education 
for 420 pupils as is currently being provided for 210 pupils’. This work has included 
adapting and improving the design to include the following:  
• Ensuring classroom bases follow the present very successful design (own cloakroom, 
outdoor access and canopy area directly outside classroom in addition all classrooms will 
now have their own sink area)  

• Creating breakout learning spaces around the school  

• Providing additional meeting and office space  

• Having enough storage space for curriculum resources  

• Ensuring there are adequate toilet facilities for children and adults  

• Developing our Early Years provision for Nursery and Reception  

• Improving outdoor spaces for play and games  

• Providing extended space for the hall when needed  
 
It is important to note that the benefits to pupils, through this expansion, are not solely from 
the building expansion. The key benefits for pupils are due to the very fact that the school 
has more pupils on roll which provides increased revenue funding. This was highlighted in 
the published frequently asked questions document that was published as part of the 
consultation process.  
 
With increased funding comes greater opportunities to purchase resources to support 
learning and this includes staffing. This could be through having greater numbers of 
support staff, through increased training, or by being able to retain experienced staff by 
offering wider opportunities for career progression whilst staying in the school.  
 
More staff means more curriculum expertise. All the curriculum subjects need to be led by 
a co-ordinator. In a one-form entry school there can be the need for more subject co-
ordinators than there are staff; this can be a challenge. In a two-form entry school key 
subjects such as English and Mathematics could have two teachers leading to maximise 
impact. Creating staff teams for planning is very effective and whilst this can be done in 
phases (FKS, KS1 and KS2), in a one-form entry primary school it is far more effective 
when done in year groups. This is possible in a two-form entry school because each year 
group has two teachers and other support staff who can work collaboratively and share 
new ideas. This can not only improve the outcomes of the children but can also enhance 
the professional development of all staff.  
 
We agree with the methodology but again as you must be aware there is a lack of space.  
 
Some phrases have been carefully chosen. Creating spaces can only mean within the 
existing school building. Providing additional office space and storage space, again within 
the existing space. And improving outdoor space for play and games, is an insult to our 
intelligence. A significant part of the surface area will make way for classroom construction 
and the number of pupils using the playground will double.  
 
We are told that the Headteacher and Governing Body have been integral to the process, 
so why is it our understanding that staff at the school have been forbidden to discuss this 
matter. And why has the Headteacher refused to discuss this with a parent. We will 
provide particulars on request.  
 

Page 45



3. Additional parking provision for staff has been included in the feasibility study. The 
existing car park will be expanded to provide an additional 14 parking places. Does the 
‘feasibility study’ mean that an additional 14 spaces will be provided?  
 
Do you agree that existing parking is 13+1 disabled space? On the assumption that the 
total of spaces is 28 how many parking spaces will be required for staff when the school is 
at full capacity?  
 
The current formal existing parking provision is 44 and the proposed additional parking is 
65 to account for 7 additional teaching staff and up to 7 assistant teachers, noting that 
some may use sustainable modes of transport.  
 
Existing parking is 14 spaces not 44. If 44 spaces were in place when the school was 
constructed, they have not been evident to our knowledge for 30 years or more. We 
suggest that you reconsider parking as part of your ongoing traffic consultation and review 
where sufficient parking for staff can be created, provided or developed. We know where 
the space will be found, on Cheswick Way or a neighbouring road. 
  
Appendix 3, pages 17-21 show vehicles parked outside the school Monday to Friday. Staff 
at the school park between 12-16 vehicles per day during the same period. Page 22 depict 
the same area outside the school during last week’s half term, quite a marked difference.  
 
4. Would you please provide a copy of the feasibility study that demonstrated that a new 
school could not be built on Blythe Valley. What was the number of houses projected for 
Blythe Valley at the time?  
 
No feasibility study has been undertaken regarding the physical location of a school in 
Blythe Valley. The issue around the creation of a new school is about the development 
providing insufficient pupil demand to sustain the viability of a new school. The pupil yield 
from the Blythe Valley Park development is based on the approved 750 dwellings.  
 
A development of this size is expected to generate approximately 30 pupils per year.  
 
No school takes 100% of its catchment area cohort, the norm in Solihull is on average 
50% of pupils – in more rural areas such as Cheswick Green this rises to around 70%. 
This would generate around 21 pupils per year. It is the pupil yield from both Blythe Valley 
Park and Cheswick Place that will support the creation of the additional 1 form of entry.  
 
We are astounded that (SC) could be so negligent with regard to the future education of 
children. Not a single report with options has been presented to Councillors concerning the 
viability of constructing a new school on Blythe Valley or a new two-form entry school in 
place of the existing Hockley Heath Primary School. Not even a feasibility study just a 
desk top exercise on the back of a fag packet. Councillors have merely accepted without 
question what Officers have told them and from what we can glean from the first 
consultation our objections met with indifference.  
 
5. What is the scope and over what period will the traffic survey be undertaken.  
 
The Council has appointed a consultant transport and highway engineer to review the 
proposal and its impact on the local area. Their finding will be developed and scrutinised 
by the local planning authority ahead of the formal planning submission to ensure that the 

Page 46



proposal meets the Council’s various development policies relating to developments within 
urban neighbourhoods.  
 
The consultant will be required to undertake a transportation assessment suitable to 
support a planning submission to include (but not limited to) the following: 
 
• Mapping of pedestrian and cycle routes into site from the surrounding areas based on 
empirical data including details of existing route infrastructure and identification of desire 
lines across roads.  

• Surveys of (i) on-site car parking demand and (ii) off -street all day demand to identify 
any displaced parking associated with staff and residents.  

• Observation of surrounding highway conditions during set-down/pick-up periods, this will 
include how displaced parking affects/inhibits safe access to the School by all modes, the 
impact on existing residents and highway management.  

• Identification of possible infrastructure improvements to facilitate access into School site 
from identified walking cycle desire lines including enhanced crossing facilities at principle 
roads.  

• Identification of possible improvements to mitigate any increased setdown/pick-up on 
surrounding residential roads, including offer of vehicle access crossings and driveways to 
existing residents.  

• Assessment of personal recorded injury accidents in vicinity of site and identification of 
mitigation for any identified issues.  

• Calculation of forecast traffic impact using evidenced based approach for each proposed 
use e.g. school/nursery facilities based either on first principles or derivation of trip rate 
according to existing modal splits of staff, visitors, pupil set-down/pick-up from existing 
school travel plan data and/or parking surveys.  

• Set out net change in trips against existing use.  

• Calculation of forecast parking accumulations using evidence based first principles for 
proposed use, including visitor parking, using existing parking surveys and modal splits 
contained within existing school travel plans and new facilities, accumulations based on 
derived trips rates. For any nursery uses, please note modal split of set-down and pick-up 
will not follow existing school modal splits due to the greater propensity for parents to drive 
to setdown/pick-up children.  

• Assessment of forecast parking against existing on-site supply with mitigation proposed 
to ensure existing displaced parking does not exacerbate existing injudicious displaced 
parking on surrounding roads. The initial assessments were carried out in December 2020, 
and the transport statement is being developed under the scrutiny of the local planning 
authority. The works will be complete prior to the formal submission of the planning 
application.  
 
(SC) has commissioned a transport survey during a time when only the pupils of key 
workers are in school. What possible meaningful data can be derived from such a survey; 
we look forward to seeing the data prior to the next stage in this process. Irrespective of 
the outcomes of the traffic survey and current COVID restrictions you cannot mitigate 
sufficiently to significantly curb the increase in unwarranted cross flow of traffic and the 
ensuing chaos that will follow. We would appreciate a copy of the commissioned traffic 
report as soon as possible so that we may compare the results with our own traffic survey.  
 
It would appear that a decision has been taken to provide transport to and from school 
which would ease congestion if the take up is high. Staggering school attendance hours 

Page 47



will not help, nor will before and after school club attendance and the need of parents to go 
to work. 
 
6. In view of the significant resident concern, it is noted that an independent assessment of 
traffic and parking had been commissioned. As families dropping off/collecting young 
children from BV would be most likely to use their own transport, would you please confirm 
that the assessment will take account of the additional harmful gases that the expansion 
would produce. Importantly, would you also please confirm that your recommendation will 
reflect the Council’s carbon reduction targets. 
 
The transport mitigation options will consider the Council’s carbon reduction targets. In 
response to reduced carbon emissions the school has refreshed and implemented a 
school travel plan to promote sustainable modes of transport.  
 
We suggest that you give serious consideration to the needless crossflow of  
traffic between Cheswick Green and Blythe Valley. If the revised Local Plan is approved 
the same can be said of a new two form entry school within Site 12 serving pupils who will 
mainly not reside in Cheswick Green. Is Cheswick Green to become a primary school hub. 
We will be interested to see how carbon reduction targets can be met with not only an 
increase in traffic flow but also a needless increase in cross traffic flow.  
 
7. It is stated that the traffic/parking study will investigate mitigating options which may 
include an alternative access to the school site. It is assumed that the key use of a second 
access would be to drop off/collect children from the school. With car engines running in 
the access road and the inherent traffic congestion in approaching roads, would you 
please confirm that this will all be taken into account.  
The proposed transport mitigation options are currently considering several opportunities 
that are subject to further investigation, detailed consideration and agreement with the 
Local Planning Authority. Carbon reduction and congestion will naturally be considered by 
the consultant transport and highway engineer to adhere to the local planning authorities 
policy requirements.  
 
Public Health England is promoting the need for pollution to be reduced in the vicinity of 
schools and yet the implications of the (SC) proposal will be to increase pollution levels.  
 
8. Your feasibility study may have demonstrated that Hockley Heath Primary School and 
St Patrick’s Academy were unsuitable to accommodate an expansion of this size. 
However, as a key suggestion was to accommodate children across all three primary 
schools, we see no evidence that the proposal was taken seriously and investigated. 
Paragraph 4.4 of the Cabinet Member report on 11th January did specifically address the 
feedback in the consultation regarding the option to accommodate the children across all 
three primary schools and identified that this was not a credible option, for the reasons 
identified in the report.  
 
To meet demand from Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place developments the Council 
needs to add additional school places, to ensure it meets its sufficiency duty. Cheswick 
Green Primary School is the closest school to both developments.  
 
As you will see later in our response (SC) has given no meaningful consideration to 
credible alternative options.  
 

Page 48



9. It is noted that the Cabinet Holder for Education is also a Councillor for Hockley Heath. 
This does suggest a conflict of interests and with this in mind, a reappraisal of allocating 
children across all three local primary schools is requested. 
 
As indicated in the Cabinet Member report 11th January and the answer to question 8 
above, it is Officer’s view that this is not a deliverable option to provide sufficient school 
places in response to the housing development at Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place. 
This view has been endorsed by the Cabinet Member.  
 
We believe that some Councillors involved in this proposal have a conflict of interest.  
 
Below are our detailed objections to this proposal which generally are no different than the 
previous consultation. However, if this proposal is approved, we do have a 
recommendation to make with regard to Blythe Valley children travelling to CGP School.  
 
Proposed extension  
The proposed extension is only adequate rather than looking to the future. In our opinion 
while probably meeting the needs to accommodate twice as many children and staff, the 
facilities do not compare to what was provided in the North of the Borough under ‘The 
Building Schools for The Future’ programme. Surely this is an oversight of SC. Is there not 
sufficient funding from the Section 106 Agreements to provide such facilities?  
 
Members of CGPC have read SC documents in relation to building schools for the future 
and the ‘Primary Schools Strategic Framework’ version 1.2 published in 2006. We are 
concerned that provisions of the ‘vision for primary school education in Solihull’ do not 
reflect what is proposed here. The strategic plans (North Solihull) published in 2012/13/14 
have good outcomes but will the same be said of our school some years following this 
proposed expansion?  
 
The proposed classrooms with breakout areas appear to be satisfactory however many 
other areas of the school are not.  
 
The hall for 200 children is the same size for 400 children?  
 
The after-school club for 200 children is the same size for 400 children?  
 
The library for 200 children is the same size for 400 children?  
 
The music room for 200 children is the same size for 400 children?  
 
The number of toilets has been increased which probably meets the minimum 
requirements, but could not more modern considerations have been included as part of 
this project?  
 
The staffroom is too small now yet presumably the number of staff will double.  
Will staff in an overcrowded room for lunch and meetings be in the right frame of mind to 
teach?  
 
Is the reception of sufficient size to deal with parents’ queries?  
 

Page 49



Will all school staff be able to park within the school grounds? It is imperative that sufficient 
car parking spaces are provided for all staff. It is not appropriate that they should have to 
park outside residents’ houses as many do at present.  
 
Will the proposal if approved take into consideration the environment, green credentials 
and be more eco-friendly? Indeed, would the school environment be a good place for 
children and staff?  
 
Will current technology be utilised to aid learning? The school was rated as ‘Good’ 
following the last two Ofsted Inspections and we are concerned that the standard may slip 
in the confined spaces of the school should this proposal be approved. The classrooms 
are adequate; however, it is the other spaces where we have concerns.  
 
We understand the Governing Body have agreed in principle to this proposal which 
comprises of professional and informed lay persons whereas we as uninformed lay 
persons foresee insurmountable issues.  
 
Surrounding area and infrastructure  
Below is a satellite photograph of CGP School showing the nearby road network. If you 
are unfamiliar with this location, you will see that there is only one road access to the 
school. Bear that in mind in conjunction with our objections to this proposal.  
 

 
 
Officers of the Borough Council have commissioned a traffic and highways appraisal to 
assess the impact of this project.  
 
Should this appraisal be undertaken when the school is operating a temporary staggered 
access and egress whilst the pandemic is in operation. We would expect that the 
commission should not only include the impact of 200 plus children travelling to and from 
Blythe Valley, but also the impact of hundreds of children travelling to and from Shirley to 

Page 50



attend the new school proposed as part of the 1000 plus homes to be constructed along 
part of the length of Dog Kennel Lane and the Stratford Road.  
 
We are aware that a travel survey has been undertaken involving staff and parents of 
children attending the school. We are concerned that the survey does not include all 
residents of Cheswick Green in particular residents who live near the school. Perhaps 
residents and/or other surveys will follow, will they?  
 
Parking outside of the school entrance is and has been a problem for decades. At present 
at least 1/3 of the children walk to Cheswick Green school but this proposal will also be to 
accommodate the children living too far away to walk to school. Footpaths from Blythe 
Valley do not exist. So, with 400 children and the accompanying staff, both classroom 
support and others, and the increase in HGV delivering to the school the present 
infrastructure will not cope at all.  
 
We would not object to a 4-metre-wide path with lighting being laid to connect Blythe 
Valley with Cheswick Green. A possible route for your consideration is depicted in 
(Appendix 2) which would also provide a link between the two communities and be of 
benefit to walkers.  
 
Doubling the size of the school exacerbates traffic hazards that cannot be resolved now so 
how could this be resolved in future? Please be aware that one bus service will no longer 
travel past the school because of the congestion and therefore elderly residents must 
alight on Creynolds Lane and walk to their homes. We would point out that a large 
percentage of residents are elderly and/or infirm. 
 
Appendix 3 contains comments from a resident who lives opposite the school together with 
some photographs that he has taken.  
 
We would oppose parking restrictions within 100 metres either side of the school gates 
with a 20-mph speed limit outside the school. The Parish Council has considered this, but 
it would merely create parking hazards elsewhere. If the road was clearer outside the 
school, then children would be more at risk from motorists travelling faster.  
 
We would also oppose designated parking areas such as the car parks of The Saxon Pub 
and the Village Hall. We would expect the management of these premises to continue to 
allocate their parking bays to the users of their buildings and for users of the nearby 
Recreation Ground.  
 
Perhaps restrictive parking could be imposed between 8-9am and 3-4pm, but would such 
a measure be regularly enforced, we think not. In that event a 20-mph speed limit would 
be irrelevant as traffic would be severely hampered in passing the school. We understand 
that the pilot of 20-mph zones in close proximity to schools have not generally been 
successful.  
 
Neighbours nearby the school are being inconvenienced on a twice daily basis, which 
periodically has escalated into arguments and threats of violence between householders 
and motorists. These confrontations are generally the result of blocked drives, a situation 
which will only worsen if these proposals are approved.  
 
Cheswick Way and nearby roads become heavily congested or gridlocked by 
inconsiderate motorists and the air pollution is hazardous to residents and children.  

Page 51



What may mitigate traffic congestion to some extent is a free bus service from Blythe 
Valley. Unless the rules have changed a free bus service is not possible, is a subsidised 
service possible? We assume from Councillor Hawkins recent Twitter comment that 
approval for this option is certain. Which could mean the expansion is already a done deal 
and this consultation is merely a tick box exercise?  
 
Presently traffic congestion along Cheswick Way and other roads local to the school is 
appalling, it would of course be significantly worse if this proposal goes through. It is 
estimated that at least 150 children will be taken to school by car and the extensive 
congestion would inevitably flow over into Creynolds Lane.  
 
We understand that consideration is being given to a secondary access/egress to the 
school, off Creynolds Lane to ease congestion on Cheswick Way. Such a proposal, if 
approved, will not ease the existing level of congestion on Cheswick Way. Indeed, 
congestion would increase on Creynolds Lane and create 2 ‘bottle necks’ where 1 ‘bottle 
neck’ currently exists. The Parish Council is opposed to creating a secondary access to 
the school.  
 
A path between Blythe Valley has been considered and we are uncertain whether that 
remains a possibility considering there would be a need for a bridge over the River Blythe. 
A path runs around Blythe Valley which could be extended to Cheswick Green but what 
safe route would it follow? Great for walkers but is it likely that a path would be used by 
children to walk the 2.2 miles to and from school? We have provided a route for a path for 
your consideration. We believe that not enough pupils would use a path to make this 
option viable (Appendix 2).  
 
In a wider context consideration should have been given to the increase in traffic from 
feeder roads on to and through the Stratford Road corridor as part of this consultation. The 
cross flow of traffic between Blythe Valley and Cheswick Green Primary School would not 
be necessary if a new school or extension had been constructed on Blythe Valley or 
Hockley Heath.  
 
School Board of Governors meeting  
We have been provided with a copy of the draft minutes of the Board of  
Governors held on Tuesday 13th October 2020. The debate relating to this matter  
are shown in Appendix 1.  
 
Having read the content we are adamant that the Board of Governors should not have 
agreed in principle to the plan.  
 
The following points made during that meeting give great cause for concern;  
 
An old version of a picture of 3D modelling was shared but will be updated and shared with 
the school?  
An Ecologist will do a habitat and biodiversity study?  
 
The design is agreeable at present?  
 
Assumptions are being made about services and exceptions?  
 
White boards are not included but there used to be a fund?  

Page 52



As the ICT suite is being remodelled, the school would have to ask AW about funding for 
this?  
 
If new computers are needed because of the new building, this is another discussion to be 
had?  
 
Traffic was identified as a key issue.  
 
Further considerations  
This issue will be exacerbated by the children coming from Blythe Valley for which there is 
currently little or no alternative other than to drive.  
 
Detailed and workable solutions will be required to this issue in order to recommend the 
expansions and to obtain planning permission.  
 
The continuation of the current staggered starts and finishing times in the school may be 
required. Unlikely to be favoured by parents once COVID19 abates.  
 
New pupils are likely to come from Blythe Valley who would probably require car trips.  
 
A path from Blythe Valley is being looked at, but there are complications. 
Because a new school did not form part of the plans for Blythe Valley, plans need to be 
made for children to get to school. This may mean that some money would be available for 
transport.  
 
A bus service from Blythe Valley might be a possibility, but these services are expensive 
and not always popular with parents.  
 
Part of the planning process would be consultation with local residents and parents.  
 
Transport and highways would be part of this consultation.  
The above extracts from the draft minutes do not give confidence that this is no more than 
an exercise of how can the extension of the school be shoehorned in.  
 
We are of the opinion that the Governing Body accepted what they were being told and did 
not have any questions or queries which in our experience is unusual particularly when the 
proposal is double the number of pupils.  
 
We were told that we will have the opportunity to comment on any transport and highways 
mitigation offered as part of the planning application. Residents do not need a 
commissioned traffic and highways appraisal to know that whatever mitigation is 
recommended congestion will be far worse than at present.  
 
This is just another example of no proper thought being given to a large project by the 
Council.  
 
Alternative Proposal  
Under a ‘presumption route’ the Council is able to make a business case for a new school. 
We understand that under this arrangement the Council is responsible for the capital cost 
and revenue set up costs. We agree that creating over-provision of school places has the 
potential to destabilise the viability of neighbouring schools, but the Councils preferred 
model is a 2FE (420) place school.  

Page 53



The Parish Council recommends a new one (210) or two form entry (420) place school.  
 
The Council has said ‘That no site has been identified for a school at Blythe Valley’. We 
request that Officers are asked to re-examine Blythe Valley and examine Hockley Heath 
for a site suited to a one form entry school. Officers will conclude there is sufficient 
demand for places for a new school to be feasible at both sites. Indeed, should the 
construction of 90 plus dwellings earmarked for Hockley Heath in the current draft LDP be 
approved, that development could be commenced in the first stage (5 years) of the plan 
and further school places for children would be available.  
 
An alternative is to build a new two form entry school at Hockley Heath to replace the 
existing school which was built following the closure of the original school in 1913.  
 
Either of these two proposals could be financed from Section 106 Agreements arising from 
the developments at Cheswick Place and Blythe Valley to pay for a new school. Further 
finance would be available from the sale of land if a new school is built in Hockley Heath.  
 
A new school constructed within Blythe Valley or Hockley Heath would make journeys to 
and from Cheswick Green school easier and safer for children with the benefit of easing 
congestion locally. Blythe Valley has a mix of uses including housing and has been 
effectively removed from the green belt. Hockley Heath has a settlement boundary around 
it and we would reiterate that there are proposals to remove more land from the green belt. 
Both areas are also sustainable with good connectivity and transport links. We understand 
that the Council owns/has an interest in parcels of land within the area.  
 
Solihull Council should be looking to the future education of our children by constructing a 
new school incorporating up to date environmental, bio-diverse, energy saving and 
technological advancements.  
 
Summary  
This consultation lacks proper detail and expanding Cheswick Green Primary School is an 
easy option without any recourse to the implications for the local area. It seems that no 
other options have been given any detailed consideration.  
 
The primary concern of the Parish Council is the expansion of the school with exception to 
other criteria. Will the school be ‘fit for purpose’ appears to be a secondary consideration 
and the impact on residents not a consideration at all.  
 
Residents do not need a commissioned traffic and highways appraisal to know that 
whatever mitigation is recommended congestion will be far worse than at present.  
 
The Parish Council continues to urge the Borough Councillors to reject the expansion of 
Cheswick Green Primary School when so many questions posed require answers and 
seek an alternative location to accommodate the children within Blythe Valley or Hockley 
Heath. 
 
 
REMOVED: 
Appendix 1 
CHESWICK GREEN PRIMARY SCHOOL  
Minutes of the Meeting of the Full Board of Governors  
Held at 6.30pm on Tuesday 13th October 2020 by Teams  

Page 54



Appendix 2  

 
Appendix 3 

 
As you know we live opposite the current school entrance and have for around 2 years. 
During our have experienced several issues with traffic and parking associated with the 
school run as it stands. I've even stood in the road and directed traffic when a Mexican 
standoff has occurred!  
 
The biggest issue for us is parents parking across our drive restricting access to our 
property or guests from leaving. We are not the only people on Cheswick Way in the 
vicinity of the school who experience this issue. Most properties between the School and 
Creynolds Lane experience this regularly.  
 
I have looked to address the situation directly with people but having been called racist 
amongst other things, when all I asked was them to move their vehicle and experienced 
further repercussions of this I have stopped doing so due to concerns it may impact on my 
kids.  
 
There are 2 further points regularly that are shown in the photos.  
 
The 1st is parking on the Zig Zag and blocking the safe access for others to enter/leave 
the school.  

Page 55



The 2nd being people parking on the double yellow lines opposite the entrance. It has 
been indicated that the school suggested to a few who are disabled that this was 
acceptable, but it is not just them who park there.  
 
When you have a combination of all 3 which is pretty often it totally restricts the flow of 
traffic on Cheswick Way. Adding yet more vehicles to the school runs is only going to 
make the situation worse.  
 
 
 

    
 

  
 

Page 56



     
 

 
 
 

Appendix 4 
 

   

Page 57



RESPONSE 45 
CHESWICK GREEN RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION 

 

We write on behalf of Cheswick Green residents with regard to your above proposal. We 

believe that the proposal contains major faults and fails to recognise the geography of the 

Cheswick Green Parish, especially the semi rural nature of the area. 

 

While we believe that Cheswick Place children should have a right to attend CGPS, we 

feel that your plan to allocate Blythe Valley children to the same school would lead to 

significant issues in respect of traffic congestion, parking and pollution. Also, it could 

easily lead to a reduction in the standard of education 

 

Our key reasons for rejecting your proposal are discussed below:- 

 

 1) Although the consultation provides limited information, it is evident that the additional 

planned facilities are restricted and arguably, not in keeping with a doubling of pupil 

capacity. The hall, after-school club, library and music rooms all remain the same size. 

Quite clearly, this is not consistent with a       good learning environment.  

    

2) The parking of school staff cars and parents dropping-off children causes much 

consternation, an issue that would get much worse. While provision for additional parking 

in the school grounds is included in a feasibility study, we ask for an undertaking that 

despite increased staffing levels, there would no longer be a need to park staff cars on 

nearby roads and that such a practice would be banned by the school. 

 

 3) A recent survey has found that traffic pollution can reduce children’s lung capacity by 

almost 20%. Also, Public Health England’s report into air quality, highlights the need to 

reduce air pollution in the vicinity of schools. Such facts are in the public domain and it 

therefore defies all logic why you are proposing a doubling of pupil numbers with an 

inherent increase in vehicular traffic. Blythe Valley is some 2.5 miles from Cheswick 

Green and there are no walkways, cycle paths or footpaths. To think that parents bringing 

children from Blythe Valley would use a sustainable form of transport or put a 4/5 year old 

on a school bus is a complete folly. 

 

4) It is noted that you are investigating a second access to the school which we assume 

would be to drop off/collect children. However, with vehicle engines idling and the 

inherent release of dangerous gases into the air, plus traffic congestion on approaching 

roads, such a move is likely to have devastating consequences. 

 

5) As a result of new housing in the Cheswick Green Parish, It is noted that you are 

benefitting from significant Section monies which are intended to reduce the impact of 

new housing and provide funding for new infrastructure. With an obvious funding route, it 

is both fair and logical that BVP should have its own primary school.  

 

6)The consultation suggests that Hockley Heath Primary School and St Patrick’s 

Academy are, in isolation, unsuitable to accommodate an expansion of this size. 

However, as a key suggestion was always to accommodate BVP children across all three 

primary schools, there is no evidence that this suggestion has been properly investigated. 

 

Page 58



It is noted that the Council’s Cabinet Holder for Education is also the Ward Councillor for 

Hockley Heath. This does suggest a conflict of interests and with this is mind, a 

reappraisal of allocating children across all three primary schools is requested. While this 

is no longer our favoured route, should you 

continue to reject the building of a new primary school on BVP, then the 

suggestion would be to the forefront. 

 

CHESWICK GREEN RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION 

21st February 2021 

 

 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 Appendix B 
 

Decision Makers Guidance – Key Factors 

 

1. In order to expand schools the Council must follow a statutory process and 
have regard to the relevant guidance.  The ‘Making Significant Changes to 
Maintained Schools’ guidance sets out the requirements a Decision Maker 
must consider and have due regard to when considering a proposal such as 
the expansion of Cheswick Green Primary School.  

 

2. Consultation – The guidance states that Cabinet Member should be satisfied 

that appropriate open and fair consultation and/or representation has been 

carried out and that due regard has been given to the responses received. 

Pre-statutory consultation was carried out for six weeks in November and 

December 2020. Consultation information was widely circulated and 

published on the Council website and on social media. A frequently asked 

questions document was created and published in response to specific 

questions raised and a telephone helpline was manned by the School Place 

Planning Team. 

A detailed analysis of the consultation process and its outcomes were 

considered by the Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Culture on 11 

January 2021 before approval was given to publish a statutory proposal.  

Following this approval by Cabinet Member, officers published a statutory 

proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School and a statutory notice 

was published on the Council website and in the local press, in accordance 

with DfE guidance.  The four week representation period ran from 27 January 

2021 until 25 February 2021.  45 representations have been received during 

this period and are attached at Appendix A for consideration as part of this 

report. 

3. Education Standards and Diversity – When considering changes to school 

organisation the Decision Maker should consider the quality and diversity of 

schools and whether the proposal will meet or affect the aspirations of parents 

and improve local standards. 

The School Organisation Plan outlines the criteria used for selection schools 

for expansion.  One of the key criteria is that schools selected should be good 

or outstanding.  Cheswick Green Primary School is considered to be ‘good’ by 

Ofsted. The provision of additional school places at this school extends the 

provision of good school places available to the school’s community, and 

meeting the preference of local parents for a place in their most local school. 

Page 61



 Appendix B 
 

4. Equal Opportunities – The Decision Maker must have regard to the Public 

Sector Equality Duty which requires that due regard is given to the need to 

eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations.  The decision maker should consider whether there are any sex, 

race or disability discrimination issues that arise from the proposed changes. 

This proposal will increase the number of places available in good and 

outstanding schools available.  Through the published admission 

arrangements these places will be offered in a fair and transparent process in 

accordance with the Schools Admission Code.   

These place are required to meet the demand from both the Blythe Valley 

Park and Cheswick Place developments.  Without the creation of additional 

school places these families have the potential to be disadvantaged in their 

access to a local school place.   

The Council operates a catchment area system to ensure that every family 

living in Solihull has a priority at a local school.  Cheswick Green Primary 

School is the catchment area school for both of these housing developments.  

If families moving into the developments cannot access a place at their 

catchment area school then they will not have priority at any local school and 

will be considered alongside all other admission applications. 

5. Community Cohesion – Schools have a key part to play in providing 

opportunities for young people from different backgrounds to learn with, from, 

and about each other; by encouraging through their teaching, an 

understanding of, and respect for, other cultures, faiths and communities. 

When considering a proposal, the decision-maker should consider its impact 

on community cohesion.  

The creation of additional school places at Cheswick Green Primary School 

will mean that there are sufficient school places available to meet the growing 

demand from the new housing developments located in the school’s 

catchment area, therefore better meeting demand from the local community.   

Through the published admission arrangements these places will be offered in 

a fair and transparent process in accordance with the Schools Admission 

Code.   

6. Travel and accessibility – Decision-makers should satisfy themselves that 
accessibility planning has been properly taken into account and the proposed 
changes should not adversely impact on disadvantaged groups.  
 

The decision-maker should bear in mind that a proposal should not 

unreasonably extend journey times or increase transport costs, or result in too 

many children being prevented from travelling sustainably due to unsuitable 

walking or cycling routes. A proposal should also be considered on the basis 

Page 62



 Appendix B 
 

of how it will support and contribute to the LA’s duty to promote the use of 

sustainable travel and transport to school.  

The distances children travel is considered in determining the location of 

additional school places.  Normally, school places will be within walking 

distance of where children live, however this is not possible for families 

moving into the Blythe Valley Park development to any school.   

As part of the mitigation to support this proposal the Council will provide a 

dedicated school bus service to support families to access their primary 

school place at their catchment area school.  For families moving into 

Cheswick Place the expansion will support their access to a school within 

easy walking distance to the development.  The Blythe Valley development 

proposal included a S106 agreement of a sum up to £532,000 to develop or 

enhance bus services from Blythe Valley to Cheswick, Town Centre and 

Dorridge communities.   

72% of families currently attending the school live in the catchment area for 

the primary school.  Therefore this proposal may also seek to provide further 

mitigation to support families currently living in Cheswick Green and within 

walking distance of the primary school to walk to school.   

7. Funding – The Decision Maker should be satisfied that any necessary 

funding required to implement the proposal will be available and that all 

relevant local parties (e.g. trustees of the school, diocese or relevant diocesan 

board) have given their agreement. A proposal cannot be approved 

conditionally upon funding being made available.  

The Council has secured S106 funding to provide the additional school places 

required. The Children’s Services Capital Programme currently includes 

budgetary provision of £2.5M for this proposals but this will be updated to 

reflect the latest feasibility scheme of circa £3M. 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 
 
Key issues raised on the proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School  
 

Consultation Key Issue Consultation Feedback and Officer Response 

Traffic and Parking Current traffic and parking is intolerable for residents during the ‘school run’.  To expand Cheswick 
Green Primary School will double the number of cars, increasing the problem further. 
 
Impact of school traffic on local bus service. 
 
Parents park and drive inconsiderately, blocking resident’s driveways and ignoring current parking 
restrictions.   
 
Road infrastructure is already at capacity and cannot manage a further increase in traffic. 
 
There is insufficient parking already, so any increase is unacceptable. 
 
Staff park in the road all day as there is insufficient parking on the school site. 
 
Officer response – Parking around school sites is always an issue. The local community has 
expressed a clear view that they feel very strongly about the existing problems of car congestion 
and how the expansion proposal will seriously exacerbate the situation.  Traffic and parking has 
come forward as the most significant concern from this consultation.  
 
The design team for this proposal has commissioned an independent transport assessment as part 
of this proposal, which is attached at Appendix D.  Traffic and parking will be given full 
consideration by the Planning Committee when considering whether to allow expansion of the 
buildings on the school site. 
 
The national Policy Planning Framework (NPPF) 2019, paragraph 94 states:- 
 

P
age 65



It is important that sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and 
new communities.  Local planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative 
approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education.  
They should: 

a) Give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through the preparation of 
plans and decisions on applications; and 

b) Work with schools’ promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to identify and resolve 
key planning issues before applications are submitted. 

 

Planning committee will take into account the proposed mitigation measures as part of their 

assessment of the proposal.  This will include the provision of a bespoke school bus for pupils 

travelling to and from Cheswick Green Primary School from the Blythe Valley Park development, 

updating and implementing the School Travel Plan, the use of staggered start/end times between 

year groups, encouraging the use of park and stride initiatives and the use of before /after school 

clubs.  The Council will also seek the reconfiguration of existing public bus routes from Blythe 

Valley to Cheswick.  

Additional parking provision for staff has been included in the feasibility study. The existing car park 

will be expanded to provide an additional 23 parking places. 

To address the issue of inconsiderate parking it is likely that the focus on mitigation will be around 

the implementation of a revised school travel plan and the school’s encouragement, particularly at 

new parent inductions and through parent newsletters for improved behaviours. Note that 72% of 

pupils on roll live within the Cheswick community which is  within walking distance of the school.  

 

Child Safety  Current traffic and parking levels are dangerous for the pupils accessing the school.  Increasing the 
traffic and parking will make matters worse and could result in a serious accident.   
 

P
age 66



Officer response – The school will be supported by the Council to develop a School Travel Plan 
using the nationally recognised ModeShift STARS accreditation scheme. This will help the schools 
identify any potential road safety issues and what measures can be put in place to mitigate them. 
Modeshift STARS also looks at the whole school community and sets targets and monitors 
initiatives to increase levels of sustainable travel and to reduce the number of cars. 

Pollution Increase in traffic will increase the level of pollution around the school site. 
 
Recent national studies show the need to reduce air pollution around schools. 
 
Officer response – The roads in and around the school have not been identified by the council as 
a priority for monitoring air pollution. Traffic use and levels on the local road network do not present 
a likelihood for exceedance of air quality objectives. As such the development presents a low risk 
for significant traffic related air quality impacts or exceedances, either pre or post development.  In 
the event that the expansion were to take place, and should residents continue to raise concerns 
over air quality impacts, a request to monitor the traffic related pollutant (NO2) could be made to the 
council, for a diffusion tube to be installed locally. However, it is considered very unlikely that any 
significant concentrations will be observed. 
  
Part of the solution to reduce any impact on air pollution around the school site is the reduction in 
car journeys made by those families that can access the school on foot.  Currently 72% of the 
families attending the school live in the catchment area for the school, the majority of which are 
within walking distance of the school site.  The School travel plan will be key to targeting this issue. 
 
In addition the Council will provide a dedicated school bus to provide sustainable travel from the 
Blythe Valley Park development to Cheswick Green Primary School to limit the number of families 
having to access the school by car.   

The new build does not 
provide enough space for 
a 2 form entry school.  . 

The expansion does not provide additional space in communal areas such as the hall, library, ICT 
suite, food tech room. 
 
The art room has been removed. 
 
Some classrooms are undersized. 

P
age 67



 
Officer response - The proposed expansion of the school buildings has been designed in 
accordance with Government building guidance contained within the Department for Education’s 
Area Guideline for mainstream schools - Building Bulletin 103 which provides guidance on the 
space required for a two form entry school.  
 
The Hall and proposed shared library exceeds the guidance. However a Food Tech Room, ICT 
suite and Art room do not correlate with the BB103 requirement for a new 2FE School, however it 
is acknowledged as an existing specialist curriculum provision, therefore this accommodation has 
either been re-provided within the remodelled proposal, or included within a shared resource space 
thus not omitted. To supplement Art and STEM curriculum the school has agreed to include sinks 
within each class base, or with the shared resource space and a dedicated 5m² Art Store has been 
included. 
 
The reception class bases have been revised to achieve the guidance recommendation, all other 
class bases meet or exceed the area requirements. 
This proposal provides significant investment in the school building.  The Head and Governing 
Body have been integral to the design proposal and have carefully considered the use of the 
school building as part of this process.  The Headteacher and Governing Body are supportive of 
the proposal and are clear about the benefits that this expansion can provide to current and future 
pupils.   
 

Impact on existing ethos 
and family feel to the 
school 
 

Expanding the school will spoil its small family and village school ethos. 
 
Officer response – Cheswick Green Primary School is a good school and children do well there.  
This is as a consequence of the effective leadership and management of the school.  By expanding 
and increasing the size of the school the Headteacher and Governors will extend the current family 
ethos at the school to a wider group of children, and ensure that all children benefit from the 
additional opportunities that a larger school can offer. 
 
The size of the school is not necessarily the issue but actually how the school is organised.  

Schools can operate different key stage departments and implement measures such as separate 

P
age 68



play areas and access doors which can make pupils feel part of a smaller environment whilst being 

part of a larger school.   

Impact of the expansion 
on outdoor space such as 
the playing field and 
forest school.  
 

Outdoor space has not been increased, impact on the playing field. 
 
Officer response - The feasibility study has shown that the school site is sufficient to meet the 
needs of a 2FE primary school, conforming to government guidance BB103. An appraisal has been 
made of the hard and soft play provision as part of the feasibility study and does continue to 
comply with the areas required under government guidance.  
 
A small strip of grass land adjacent to the school will be utilised to support the required developable 
area, without compromising the sport pitch provision which is protected for the school’s curriculum 
requirements. The plans allow for the required outdoor play space for a two form entry school. 
 

Travelling distances of 
children at the school. 
 

These places are being added for children that live a long way away from the school and cannot 
walk to school. 
 
Officer response – When the planning application for the housing development was considered, in 
2016, the delivery of primary school places was considered.  It was acknowledged that the 
development would not provide sufficient pupil demand to support a new school and that an 
existing school would need to be expanded.   
 
Cheswick Green Primary School is the closest primary school to the Blythe Valley development.  
The development is located in the catchment area for the School and is the primary school where 
the families living in Blythe Valley have the highest priority for a place.   
 
Feasibility work has demonstrated that Hockley Heath Primary School has insufficient site capacity 
to accommodate a 2 form entry school and that the buildings at St Patrick’s CE Primary Academy 
do not lend themselves to a two form entry expansion.  The issue of travelling distances for families 
would have been the same if either of these schools had they been proposed for expansion. 
 

P
age 69



This school expansion proposal will not be able to address the wider implications of accessibility to 
and from Blythe Valley Park.  The proposal will, however, seek to support families with accessing a 
school place. 
 

 

P
age 70



 

PJA 
pja.co.uk 

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

Transport Assessment 

February 2021 

Project Code: 05214 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Transport Assessment 
 

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council  Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

   

 

Version Control and Approval 

Version Date Main Contributor Issued by Approved by 

A - Draft for client 18 December 2020 JO/MOC JO CS 

B – Draft for SMBC 15 January 2021 JO JO CS 

C – Submission Version 10 March 2021 JO/MOC JO CS 

 
 

Prepared for 

Solihull MBC 

Council House  

Manor Square  

Solihull 

B91 3QB 

 

 

Page 73



 

 

 

Page 74



Transport Assessment 
 

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council  Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

   

 

Contents 

Section Page 

1 Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 7 

1.1 Overview 7 

1.2 Purpose of Report 7 

1.3 Scoping Discussions 7 

1.4 Report Content 8 

2 Policy Framework ............................................................................................................... 9 

2.1 Introduction 9 

2.2 National Policy 9 

2.3 Regional Policy 12 

2.4 Local Policy 12 

2.5 Summary 13 

3 Baseline Conditions .......................................................................................................... 14 

3.1 Introduction 14 

3.2 Site Location 14 

3.3 Existing School Characteristics 15 

3.4 Existing Travel Modes 17 

3.5 Travel Plan 19 

3.6 Access and Parking 20 

3.7 Committed Developments 20 

3.8 Local Highway Network 22 

3.9 Local Highway Network Observations 23 

3.10 Pedestrian Infrastructure and Accessibility 25 

3.11 Cycling 30 

3.12 Public Transport 31 

3.13 Highway Safety 33 

3.14 Summary 35 

4 Development Proposals .................................................................................................... 37 

4.1 Overview 37 

4.2 Access 37 

4.3 Parking Provision 37 

5 Travel Demand and Impact .............................................................................................. 40 

Page 75



 

 

5.1 Overview 40 

5.2 Committed Developments - Pupil Draw and Build-Out 40 

5.3 Travel Demand – Pupils 41 

5.4 Vehicle Impact 46 

5.5 Pedestrian/Cyclist Impact 51 

5.6 Public Transport Impact 51 

5.7 Summary 52 

6 Mitigation Measures .......................................................................................................... 53 

6.1 Overview 53 

6.2 School Travel Plan 53 

6.3 Implementation of staggered start/end times 54 

6.4 Implementation of dedicated school bus to Blythe Valley Park 55 

6.5 Increasing the frequency of A7/A8 bus service 56 

6.6 Park and Stride 56 

6.7 Expanded provision for before/after school clubs and care 59 

6.8 Car Parking Strategy 60 

6.9 Review of TROs within the vicinity of the school 60 

6.10 On-Site Car Park Management Strategy 60 

6.11 Summary 61 

7 Summary and Conclusion ................................................................................................. 62 

7.1 Summary 62 

7.2 Recommendations 63 

7.3 Conclusion 63 

List of Tables 

Table  1-1: Existing and Proposed Staff and Pupil Numbers ............................................................................. 7 

Table  3-1: Pupils – Existing Travel Modes ...................................................................................................... 17 

Table  3-2: Parents Survey Preferred Mode of Travel (select all modes that apply)....................................... 18 

Table  3-3: Staff  – Existing Travel Modes ........................................................................................................ 19 

Table  3-4: Walk Journey Distance and Time Thresholds ................................................................................ 25 

Table  3-5: WRAT Scoring Assessment ............................................................................................................ 29 

Table  3-6: Bus Service Summary..................................................................................................................... 32 

Table  3-7: Collision Data Summary ................................................................................................................. 34 

Table  4-1: Existing and Proposed - Staff and Pupil Numbers ......................................................................... 37 

Table  5-1: Committed Development - Housing Numbers .............................................................................. 40 

Table  5-2: Committed Development – Pupil Yield and Place Take-Up ........................................................... 40 

Table  5-3: Committed Development - Pupil Intake by School Year ............................................................... 41 

Table  5-4: Existing Pupil Travel Demand ........................................................................................................ 41 

Page 76



Transport Assessment 
 

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council  Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

   

 

Table  5-5: Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Existing Mode Share) ................................................................. 42 

Table  5-6: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (accounting for before/after school wrap around 

care and clubs) ................................................................................................................................................. 43 

Table  5-7: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Sensitivity Test) – Cheswick Place ......................... 44 

Table  5-8: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Sensitivity Test) – Blythe Valley Park ..................... 45 

Table  5-9: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Sensitivity Test) - Total .......................................... 45 

Table  5-10: Origin/Destination of trips that occur before/after an escort education trip ............................. 47 

Table  5-11: Number of two-way trips through adjacent junctions ................................................................ 48 

Table  6-1: Staggered Start/End Times - Parking Accumulation – AM Peak.................................................... 54 

Table  6-2: Mitigation Measures...................................................................................................................... 61 

 

List of Figures 

Figure  3-1: Site Location ................................................................................................................................. 15 

Figure  3-2: Cheswick Green Primary – Postcode Plot .................................................................................... 17 

Figure  3-3: Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place ........................................................................................ 21 

Figure  3-4: AM Peak parking on Cheswick Way ............................................................................................. 24 

Figure  3-5: Cheswick Green Primary – Postcode Plot .................................................................................... 26 

Figure  3-6: Walking Isochrone ........................................................................................................................ 28 

Figure  3-7: Key Walking Routes ...................................................................................................................... 29 

Figure  3-8: Cycling Isochrone.......................................................................................................................... 31 

Figure  3-9: Bus Stop Locations........................................................................................................................ 32 

Figure  3-10: Traffic Collision Data................................................................................................................... 34 

Figure  6-1: Summary of responses to “Would you be open to the continued use of staggered start/end 

times ................................................................................................................................................................ 55 

Figure  6-2: Results of question asking parents “If a Park and Stride scheme was implemented at Cheswick 

Green Primary, would you be interested in participating?” ........................................................................... 58 

 

Page 77



  
Transport Assessment 

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull  Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

   

 

Appendices 

Appendix A  Site Layout .......................................................................................................... 65 

Appendix B School’s communications with parents  ........................................................... 66 

Appendix C  Parking Beat Survey Results ............................................................................. 69 

Appendix D Walking Route Audit ......................................................................................... 70 

Appendix E Road Traffic Collision Report Summary ......................................................... 71 

Appendix F Trip Generation Calculations ........................................................................... 72 

Appendix G School Letter of Support .................................................................................. 73 

 

 

Page 78



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 7 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Overview 

1.1.1 PJA has been commissioned by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) to prepare a 

Transport Assessment to accompany a planning application for a one form entry (1FE) expansion 

to Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull. A site layout is given in Appendix A.   

1.1.2 A summary of the existing and proposed staff and pupil numbers are provided in Table  1-1.  

Table  1-1: Existing and Proposed Staff and Pupil Numbers 

 Pupils Staff 

Existing Proposed Existing Proposed 

Pre-School 30 30 

44 65 
Nursery 30 60 

Reception – Year 6 210 420 

Total 270 510 

 

1.1.3 The expansion proposals will require the existing school building to be extended to accommodate 

the additional pupils. 

1.1.4 It is understood that these additional primary school places are required to accommodate demand 

generated by nearby housing developments at Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place.  

1.2 Purpose of Report 

1.2.1 The purpose of this report is to identify the transport characteristics of the school and the 

surrounding area to examine the likely travel implications of the development proposals. 

1.2.2 A separate Travel Plan for the school has been prepared by SMBC within Modeshift STARS that the 

school will start to implement prior to expansion. 

1.3 Scoping Discussions 

1.3.1 A series of pre-application meetings have been undertaken with the local highway authority, SMBC, 

to agree the scope of this assessment. A summary of the key points from these discussions are 

summarised below: 

• Details regarding the impact of COVID-19 should be included within the assessment, to 

understand the impact this has on observations made during site visits, parking beat surveys and 

mode share data collected;  

• The number of pupils attending before/after school clubs and wrap around care should be 

provided within the report; 

Page 79



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 8 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

• Justification of the on-site parking provision for staff should be provided; 

• Concerns were raised regarding the number of vehicle trips that would be generated by the 

expansion should suitable mitigation measures not be implemented, and the impact this would 

have on the capacity of the local highway network and occurrence of on-street parking within 

the vicinity of the site access; 

• Consideration should be given as to the impact of the expansion at the A34 Stratford Road / 

Creynolds Lane junction;   

• Proposed mitigation should form a coordinated package of measures, with evidence to 

demonstrate that these would be used by parents; 

• TfWM should be consulted to understand current and future aspirations for bus routes to/from 

Cheswick Green and how S106 monies from Blythe Valley Park have been spent. 

1.3.2 This report has been prepared on the basis of the above. 

1.4 Report Content 

1.4.1 The remainder of this report is structured as follows: 

• Chapter 2: Policy Framework; 

• Chapter 3: Baseline Transport Conditions; 

• Chapter 4: Development Proposals; 

• Chapter 5: Travel Demand and Impacts; 

• Chapter 6: Mitigation Measures; and 

• Chapter 7: Summary Conclusions. 

 

Page 80



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 9 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

2 Policy Framework 

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 This section of the report summarises national, regional, and local policy of relevance to the 

proposed development. 

2.2 National Policy  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 

2.2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated in February 2019 and sets out the 

Government’s wider planning policies. The presumption in favour of sustainable development 

remains at its core.  

2.2.2 The core planning principles, which are set out on page 5 of the NPPF, set out the Government’s 

overarching objectives for the role of the planning system. One of the key principles is to:  

“support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and 

range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by 

fostering a well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces 

that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-

being.” 

2.2.3 Specifically, with reference to schools, paragraph 94 states that: 

“It is important that sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing 

and new communities. Local planning authorities should take a proactive, positive, and 

collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen choice 

in education they should: 

a) Give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through the preparation of 

plans and decisions on applications; and  

b) Work with schools’ promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to identify and resolve 

key planning issues before applications are submitted.”  

2.2.4 Polices aimed at promoting sustainable development are covered within section 9, paragraphs 102 

to 111 of the NPPF with paragraph 102 stating that:  

“Transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of plan-making and development 

proposals, so that:  

a) the potential impacts of development on transport networks can be addressed;  

Page 81



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 10 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

b) opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure, and changing transport 

technology and usage, are realised – for example in relation to the scale, location or density of 

development that can be accommodated;  

c) opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are identified and pursued;  

d) the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be identified, assessed, 

and taken into account – including appropriate opportunities for avoiding and mitigating any 

adverse effects, and for net environmental gains; and  

e) patterns of movement, streets, parking, and other transport considerations are integral to the 

design of schemes and contribute to making high quality places.”  

2.2.5 Paragraph 103 states: 

“The planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in support of these objectives. 

Significant development should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, 

through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can 

help to reduce congestion and emissions and improve air quality and public health. However, 

opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural  

2.2.6 Paragraph 108 outlines the importance for new developments to promote sustainable transport 

where possible, to strive towards providing safe and suitable access to the site for all users and to 

mitigate any potential impact the development could have on the local highway network.  

2.2.7 Paragraph 109 states: 

 “Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 

would be severe.” 

2.2.8 Paragraph 110 states: 

“a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with 

neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to high quality public 

transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other public transport services, 

and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use;  

b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of 

transport;  

c) create places that are safe, secure, and attractive – which minimise the scope for conflicts 

between pedestrians, cyclists, and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local 

character and design standards;  

d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency vehicles; and  

Page 82



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 11 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible 

and convenient locations.” 

2.2.9 Paragraph 111 states: 

“All developments that will generate significant amounts of movement should be required to 

provide a travel plan, and the application should be supported by a transport statement or 

transport assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed.” 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 2014 – Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and 

Statements 

2.2.10 PPG 2014 stipulates that the scope and level of detail in a Transport Assessment or Statement will 

vary from site to site, but the following should be considered when settling the scope of the 

proposed assessment:   

“- information about the proposed development, site layout, (particularly proposed transport 

access and layout across all modes of transport) 

- information about neighbouring uses, amenity and character, existing functional 

classification of the nearby road network; 

- data about existing public transport provision, including provision/ frequency of services and 

proposed public transport changes; 

- a qualitative and quantitative description of the travel characteristics of the proposed 

development, including movements across all modes of transport that would result from the 

development and in the vicinity of the site; 

- an analysis of the injury accident records on the public highway in the vicinity of the site 

access for the most recent 3-year period, or 5-year period if the proposed site has been 

identified as within a high accident area; 

- measures to improve the accessibility of the location (such as provision/enhancement of 

nearby footpath and cycle path linkages) where these are necessary to make the 

development acceptable in planning terms; 

- a description of parking facilities in the area and the parking strategy of the development; 

- ways of encouraging environmental sustainability by reducing the need to travel; and 

- measures to mitigate the residual impacts of development (such as improvements to the 

public transport network, introducing walking and cycling facilities, physical improvements 

to existing roads.” 

2.2.11 The PPG continues: 

Page 83



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 12 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

“In general, assessments should be based on normal traffic flow and usage conditions (e.g. non-

school holiday periods, typical weather conditions) but it may be necessary to consider the 

implications for any regular peak traffic and usage periods (such as rush hours). Projections 

should use local traffic forecasts such as TEMPRO drawing where necessary on National Road 

Traffic Forecasts for traffic data.” 

2.3 Regional Policy  

West Midlands Local Transport Plan (LTP) 2011-2026 

2.3.1 The West Midlands LTP provides the core transport strategy for the whole West Midlands area, for 

the period 2011-2026. The document represents the long-term strategy and details the council's 

aspirations across all aspects of transport and highways.  

2.3.2 The ‘Long-Term Theme 3’ of the LTP is the ‘Modal Transfer and the Creation of Sustainable Travel 

Patterns’. One aspect of this is to implement school travel plans, with the key action being:   

“Development of a long-term active and sustainable approach to school travel plans with 

complementary schemes and initiatives to improve and encourage further active travel for school 

journeys reducing the reliance on private transport.”   

2.4 Local Policy  

Solihull Local Plan (December 2013)  

2.4.1 The Solihull Local Plan sets out how and where Solihull will develop in the future, as well as the 

strategies and proposals that will allow Solihull to grow in accordance with the vision set out in the 

Local Plan.   

2.4.2 Challenge H of the local plan is “Increasing Accessibility and Encouraging Sustainable Travel”. The 

key objectives in order to address this challenge are: 

a)  “Improve accessibility and ease of movement for all users to services, facilities, jobs and green 

infrastructure.” 

 b)  “Reduce the need to travel.” 

 c)  “Manage transport demand and reduce car reliance” 

 d)  “Enable and increase the modal share of all forms of sustainable transport.” 

 e)  “De-couple economic growth and increase in car use.”  

2.4.3 Policies P7 and P8 are transport policies that area focused on improving accessibility and 

encouraging sustainable travel  

Page 84



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 13 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

2.4.4 Policy P7 focuses on accessibility and providing ease of access so that all new developments are 

within the most accessible locations and seek to enhance existing accessibility levels.  It states that 

education facilities should be located where they are easily accessible on foot, by bicycle and bus 

by the local community they serve. 

2.4.5 Policy P7 outlines that the core walking, cycling, public transport and road networks should be 

access by providing:  

• “Safe, attractive, overlooked and direct on foot, by bicycle and from public transport;  

• Safe for those vehicles which need to access the development;  

• And assessed in accordance with Policy P15 ‘Securing Design Quality’ in the Local Plan.” 

2.4.6 Policy P8 outlines measures required for manging the demand for travel and for reducing 

congestion. The following elements should be considered to ensure transport efficiency and 

highway safety is upheld: 

a “Development will not be permitted which results in a significant increase in delay to vehicles, 

pedestrians or cyclists or a reduction in safety for any users of the highway or other transport 

network;  

b  Travel demands associated with development should be managed to minimise detrimental 

impact to the efficiency of the highway network;  

c Ensure new development reduces the need to travel e.g. by promoting linked trips and 

encouraging mixed use development where appropriate;  

d  Provision for parking and servicing will be required in accordance with a Supplementary Planning 

Document on managing travel demands associated with development; 

e The Council will support proposals for strategic public transport schemes such as rapid transit, 

local rail schemes as identified in LTP3 and local Park and Ride at appropriate railway stations 

subject to other policies in the Local Plan;  

f vi. Off-site parking provision proposed in association with economically important sites will be 

supported, subject to other policies in the Local Plan, where sustainable transport links between 

those sites and the parking provision are of a good quality, direct and attractive to use.” 

2.4.7 Policy P8 promotes and encourages the use of sustainable modes of transport for all developments, 

with emphasis placed on ensuring good quality routes and direct connections. 

2.5 Summary  

2.5.1 In summary, the above policies all aim to ensure that all users have safe and suitable access to the 

site, and that there are opportunities to maximise travel to the site by sustainable modes. Following 

consideration of the above policy documents, the development proposals have been prepared to 

accord with policy at all levels.  

Page 85



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 14 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

3 Baseline Conditions 

3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1 This is informed by a desktop study and a number of site visits to the site during school peak periods: 

• Tuesday 10th November 2020, 08:00 – 09:15: and 

• Thursday 12th November 2020, 15:00 – 16:00.  

3.1.2 The weather conditions on both of the above dates were overcast, but dry. It should be noted that 

due to the current COVID-19 restrictions, the school was operating a staggered start/end to the 

school day for all pupils, with reduced capacity at the on-site nursery and pre-school (morning only).  

3.1.3 The school have confirmed the following levels at the nursery/pre-school on the date of the AM 

peak site visit: 

• 6 Pre-School pupils (20% of capacity); 

• 20 Nursery pupils (66% of capacity); and 

• 5 Staff.  

3.2 Site Location  

3.2.1 The school is located on Cheswick Way in Solihull, approximately 0.6km north east of the centre of 

Cheswick Green. As shown in Figure  3-1, the site is bound by Longleat Drive to the north, Creynolds 

Lane to the east and Cheswick Way to the west.  

 

Page 86



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 15 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Figure  3-1: Site Location 

 

3.3 Existing School Characteristics  

Pupil and Staff Numbers 

3.3.1 Cheswick Green Primary School currently has a capacity of 240 pupils (Nursery to Year 6, 1 FE), plus 

30 children at the on-site pre-school. Currently, there are 165 families attending the school, which 

means the average family has 1.6 children. 

3.3.2 There are 44 staff members employed by the school with some of the staff working part-time. This 

equates to 11.8 FTE (teachers) and 18.9 FTE (other staff).  

School Day Timings 

3.3.3 The school operates a start time of 08:50 and ends at 15:30. The nursey and pre-school which are 

attached to the school finishes at 12:00 and 12:30, respectively. 

3.3.4 The school operates the following before/after school provision: 

• Breakfast club (from 07:30) and an after school club (until 18:00), called Cheswick Chimps,  

approximately 30 - 40 pupils attend each day (Monday to Friday); 

Page 87



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 16 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

• After School Sports Clubs (15:30 – 16:30), approximately 15 – 20 children at each session 

(Monday to Thursday); and 

• Before School Club (08:00 – 08:45), approximately 10-15 children at each session (two days a 

week).  

3.3.5 Due to the current COVID-19 pandemic the school has implemented staggered start and end times 

for each year group, as follows: 

• 08:30 – 15:00 – Nursery and Reception; 

• 08:40 – 15:10 – Year 1 and Year 2; 

• 08:50 – 15:20 – Year 3 and 4; and 

• 09:00 – 15:40 – Year 5 and 6.  

Catchment Area 

3.3.6 The catchment area of Cheswick Green Primary School approximately covers the area bound by 

A34 Stratford Road to the north, M42 to the east, Illshaw Heath Road/Water Lane/B4102 to the 

west and Dog Kennel Lane to the north1. This means that the majority of pupils are currently drawn 

from within Cheswick Green, south of A34 Stratford Road.  

3.3.7 A postcode plot of current pupils in Reception – Year 6 is provided in Figure  3-2.  

 
1 https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Onlinemaps 

Page 88



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 17 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Figure  3-2: Cheswick Green Primary – Postcode Plot 

 

Correspondence with Parents 

3.3.8 The school actively encourages parents/guardians to park considerately within the vicinity of the 

school during peak periods. Evidence of this correspondence is provided in Appendix B. 

3.4 Existing Travel Modes 

3.4.1 Existing mode share data has been gather using ‘Hands-up’ survey with pupils (Reception – Year 6) 

in December 2020. The results are presented in Table  3-1. This represents a response rate of 99%. 

Table  3-1: Pupils – Existing Travel Modes 

Mode Number of pupils % of pupils 

Walk 95 46% 

Cycle/Scoot 24 12% 

Park & Stride 5 2% 

Car Share 1 0% 

Car 83 40% 

Total 208 100% 

 

Page 89



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 18 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

3.4.2 Table  3-1 shows that the majority of pupils currently travel by car, or on foot. This reflects the 

distribution of pupils within the catchment area – some live within the village of Cheswick Green, 

and other live in surrounding rural areas and Blythe Valley Park.  

3.4.3 An online survey was undertaken with parents to understand their preferred mode of travel 

to/from Cheswick Green Primary School. This question was answered by 107 families, a response 

rate of 64%.  

Table  3-2: Parents Survey Preferred Mode of Travel (select all modes that apply) 

Mode % of families 

Car (with just my children) 43% 

Car Share (with children from other families) 3% 

Taxi 1% 

Walk 44% 

Cycle/Scoot 3% 

Bus 2% 

Park and Stride 3% 

Other 2% 

Total 100% 

 

3.4.4 Following on from this question, parents were asked why they didn’t use this mode(s) more 

frequently. Common themes were as follows: 

• For some families, living outside of Cheswick Green in areas such as Monkspath and Blythe Valley 

Park, restricts their ability to walk/cycle to school (8 responses, 7.5%); 

• For some families, time constraints/working full-time means that parents drop their children off 

as part of an onward journey to work in the car (9 responses, 8.4%); 

• It is perceived by a few families that there is a lack of safe crossing locations outside the school 

due to parking within the vicinity of the school (2 responses, 1.9%) 

• There is no direct bus from Monkspath (1 response, 0.9%);  

• It was perceived by one respondent that there was no parking available within the vicinity of the 

school (1 response, 0.9%); and  

• One family perceived that driving is more convenient and reliable than walking or using public 

transport (1 response, 0.9%) . 

3.4.5 An online survey was also undertaken with staff to understand their current mode of travel to/from 

Cheswick Green Primary School. This question was answered by 32 members of staff, a response 

rate of 73%. The results are presented in Table  3-3.  

Page 90



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 19 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Table  3-3: Staff  – Existing Travel Modes 

Mode Number of staff % of staff 

Car (as driver) 24 75% 

Car Share (with a colleague) 0 0% 

Car Share (external) 0 0% 

Walk 7 22% 

Cycle 0 0% 

Bus 1 3% 

Total 32 100% 

 

Impact of COVID-19 

3.4.6 It is recognised that the current COVID-19 pandemic may affect travel behaviours. To understand 

the extent to which mode share has been affected by the pandemic, an online survey was sent out 

to all parents/guardians at the existing school. This was answered by 64% of current families at the 

school.  

3.4.7 The survey showed that for 86% of parents/guardians the pandemic has not altered the method 

they use to take their child to/from school.  12 parents/guardians stated COVID-19 has had an 

impact on which modes they used prior to March 2020. From this data it is calculated: 

• 19% (10 respondents) of those who currently walk previously travelled by car (just their child) 

to school; 

• 2% (1 respondent) of those who currently travel by car (just their child) previously walked to 

school; and 

• The number of respondents who car share (with multiple families) has decreased by 50% (1 

respondent) 

3.4.8 This data shows that for the majority of families the COVID-19 pandemic has not altered how they 

travel, but that for some home-working has allowed them to walk with their child to school. On this 

basis and given the likely increase in flexible working patterns in the future, it is considered that the 

mode share data collected in this assessment is fit for use in this assessment. 

3.5 Travel Plan 

3.5.1 SMBC has assisted the school to prepare a Travel Plan on the Modeshift STARS platform in 

December 2020. The Travel Plan currently has a target of achieving a 2% reduction in pupil car trips 

and 2% increase in cycle/scooting.  

3.5.2 It should be noted that this is a “live” document and will be updated throughout the expansion of 

the school.  

Page 91



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 20 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

3.6 Access and Parking  

3.6.1 Vehicular access to Cheswick Primary School is taken via a gated access from Cheswick Way, and 

measures approximately 7m in width. Pedestrian access to the site is taken adjacent to the 

vehicular access. These accesses are gated to restrict access, and outside of the school peak periods 

a key card is needed to gain access to the site.  

3.6.2 The car park is only open to staff, visitors, and disabled pupils. There are 13 marked car parking 

spaces on the site, plus one disabled parking space. It is understood from the school that some staff 

double-park and block each other in. 

3.6.3 There are no formal cycle storage facilities at the school, however the school have advised they use 

the fence to store cycles/scooters in.  

3.7 Committed Developments 

3.7.1 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that consideration must be given to the cumulative impacts 

arising from committed development within the vicinity of development sites. A committed 

development site is defined as that which is consented or allocated, with a reasonable degree of 

certainty of proceeding in the next three years.  

3.7.2 It is understood that the expansion of Cheswick Green Primary School is partially being undertaken 

to accommodate demand generated by residential development that has been consented at Blythe 

Valley Park and Cheswick Place. The location of these sites, in relation to Cheswick Green Primary 

School is shown in Figure  3-3.   

Page 92



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 21 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Figure  3-3: Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place 

 

Cheswick Place 

3.7.3 In 2014, an outline planning application was submitted for a residential development in Cheswick 

Green for up to 220 dwellings, known as Cheswick Place. As part of the application, there were 

proposals for the creation of public space, improvements for infrastructure and parking provision. 

Consent was granted in February 2017. 

3.7.4 A condition was imposed on the development, which stated development could only commence 

once a road safety scheme was implemented at Creynolds Lane/ Vicarage Road / Watery Lane/ 

Illshaw Road. It is understood that this is now completed.  

 

  

Page 93



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 22 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Blythe Valley Park 

3.7.5 In 2016, a hybrid planning application was submitted for mixed use development at Blythe Valley 

Park for 750 residential dwellings, 98,850sqm of B1/B2/B8 floorspace, 250 unit care facility, town 

centre uses, leisure and community uses’ and a 200 bed hotel. Consent was subsequently granted 

in March 2017.  

3.7.6 As part of this application, a number of off-site highway improvements and sustainable travel 

schemes were identified: 

• Commitment to fund extensions and improvements to the S4 bus service to provide a 30 minute 

frequency service into Blythe Valley Park as part of a circular route between Solihull Town 

Centre, Cheswick Green, Hockley Heath and Dorridge via a Section 106 agreement. Since 

submission of planning application this bus service is no longer in operation and has been 

replaced by the A7/A8 bus service;  

• Off-site highway improvement scheme to make A34 Stratford Road/Creynolds Lane junction an 

all-movements junction, enabling right turns out of Creynolds Lane to improve bus journey times 

and reliability between Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Green; 

• Commitment to funding cycling and walking improvement along corridors linking the site with 

the A34/A3400 cycle route, Monkspath local centre and Dorridge Village Centre via a Section 

106 agreement; 

• Provision of a highway improvement scheme at Illshaw Heath Triangle, involving making Illshaw 

Heath Road a one-way road – with travel in the northwest bound direction – and Kineton Lane 

a one-way road – with travel in an eastbound direction, with provision of build outs and road 

markings to narrow the road with on Kineton Lane; and 

• Implementation of highway capacity scheme at A34/Stratford Road/Monkspath Hall Road.  

3.8 Local Highway Network  

Cheswick Way 

3.8.1 Cheswick Way is a single carriageway road that bounds the school site to the south and forms the 

main route through the village of Cheswick Green. At both its northern and southern extents, 

Cheswick Way forms a priority junction with Creynolds Lane.  Cheswick Way measures 

approximately 7.5 meters in width and is subject to a 30mph speed limit.  

3.8.2 Along the frontage of the school on Cheswick Way there are ‘School keep clear’ zig-zag markings 

on the northern side of the carriageway. Double yellow lines restrict parking surrounding the 

junction with Foxland Close.   

Page 94



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 23 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

3.8.3 Within the vicinity of the school there are a number of dropped kerbs providing access to private 

residential properties that restrict the availability of parking.  

Creynolds Lane  

3.8.4 Creynolds Lane is a single carriageway road to the east of Cheswick Primary School. It is subject to 

a 40mph speed limit and has a road width of approximately 7 meters.  

3.8.5 To the north, Creynolds Lane provides access to the A34 Stratford Road to the east and to the south 

it provides access towards Earlswood and Wood End. At its southern extent it forms a four arm 

cross roads with Illshaw Heath Road/ Vicarage Road/ Watery Lane.  

3.8.6 Within the vicinity of the site, it provides direct access to a number of residential properties on the 

eastern side of the carriageway. There are no parking restrictions in place.  

A34 Stratford Road 

3.8.7 Stratford Road is a dual carriageway located north-east of Cheswick Primary School. Within the 

vicinity of the site it is subject to a 40mph speed limit. A34 Stratford Road provides a direct route 

into central Birmingham to the north and a connection to the M42 to the south.  

3.8.8 A34 Stratford Road forms a three-arm signalised junction with Creynolds Lane. As part of the Blythe 

Valley residential development funding was sought to implement an improvement scheme at this 

junction to permit all movements at A34 Stratford Road/Creynolds Lane. This was implemented to 

provide a more direct and reliable public transport route between Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick 

Green for the A7/A8 bus service. It is understood that this has been recently implemented. 

3.9 Local Highway Network Observations 

3.9.1 This section provides a bullet-point summary of the key observations, by location. These 

observations should be interpreted in the context of COVID 19, as set out in Section 3.1 of this 

report.  

On-Site 

• At the start of both peak periods, on-site parking for staff was observed to be at capacity and 

some staff were observed to park on Cheswick Way. 

Cheswick Way 

• Parking on Cheswick Way occurred on both sides of the carriageway between its junction with 

Saxon Wood Road and Creynolds Lane, but generally did not extend over dropped kerbs to 

access private drives; 

Page 95



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 24 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

• Due to the staggered start/end times to the school day any spaces that became available were 

generally filled within the next five minute period.  

• Throughout both peaks, parking restricted traffic flow to one way shuttle working, although 

apart from school traffic, vehicle flows along Cheswick Way were low, so this did not cause 

considerable queueing or delay. It is noted that the current government advice to work from 

home, where possible, could explain why background traffic flows were low.  

Figure  3-4: AM Peak parking on Cheswick Way 

  

• Vehicles generally abided by the ‘School Keep Clear’ markings, with the exception of some pupils 

being dropped off/picked up at the last minute, and a secondary school coach in the school PM 

peak; 

• As the availability of parking on Cheswick Way/Foxland Close reduced, vehicles were observed 

to park within the marked bus stops, on double yellow lines and in close proximity to junctions 

with Foxland Close and Creynolds Lane; 

• Visibility of oncoming traffic from the dropped kerb/tactile paved crossing point was obstructed 

by parked vehicles;  

• Pupils were observed to cross between parked cars, and directly in front of the pedestrian access 

to the school; 

• Vehicle speeds were generally low due to the presence of parked vehicles. During both peak 

periods, vehicles travelling westbound on Cheswick Way were observed to slow down on 

approach to Foxland Close to see if parking spaces were available; and 

• Towards the end of each staggered drop-off/pick up period, some vehicles were observed to 

turn in private drives, complete 3-point turns in Cheswick Way, and turn around in the junction 

between Cheswick Way/Foxland Close.  

Foxland Close 

Page 96



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 25 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

• As the available parking spaces on Cheswick Way reduced, more vehicles were observed to 

parked on Foxland Close; and 

• Taxis were observed to park and wait on the double yellow lines close to the junction with 

Cheswick Way in both peak periods. 

Creynolds Lane 

• Traffic was observed to be operating under free-flow conditions. There was some queueing 

observed at the junction with A34 Stratford Road. Minimal queueing was observed at the 

junction between Creynolds Lane/Cheswick Way; and 

• No parking associated with the school occurred on Creynolds Lane. 

3.10 Pedestrian Infrastructure and Accessibility 

Infrastructure 

3.10.1 There is footway provision on Cheswick Way, with a 2m footway on either side of the carriageway. 

There is a small section of guard railing adjacent to the pedestrian site access to prevent pedestrians 

from encroaching onto the carriageway. Throughout Cheswick Green there are lit footways which 

provide access to surrounding residential areas.  

3.10.2 Along Creynolds Lane there is a footway on the northern side of the carriageway, which provides 

access to the school from residential areas to the north of the site. At the signalised junction with 

A34 Stratford Road, there is a toucan crossing on the eastern arm of the junction, with tactile paving 

and dropped kerbs. This provides access towards bus stops on the eastbound side of the 

carriageway and residential areas north of Stratford Road.  

Accessibility 

3.10.3 Guidelines provided by the Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) in their publication 

‘Guidelines for Providing for Journeys on Foot’ (2000) suggests that in terms of commuting, walking 

to school and recreational journeys; walk distances of up to 2,000m can be considered a preferred 

maximum with ‘desirable’ and ‘acceptable’ distances being 500 and 1,000m respectively. It should 

be noted that journeys of a longer length are often undertaken.  

3.10.4 Assuming a typical walking speed of approximately 1.4m/s, Table 3-1 summarises the walk journey 

times that fall under each category.  

Table  3-4: Walk Journey Distance and Time Thresholds 

IHT Standard Distance (m) Time (minutes) 

Desirable 500 6 

Acceptable  1,000 12 

Preferred Maximum 2,000 25 

Page 97



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 26 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

 

3.10.5 Walking isochrones showing the extent of the local area within a desirable, acceptable, and 

preferred maximum walking distance from Cheswick Green Primary School are provided in Figure  

3-6.   

3.10.6 Figure  3-6 shows that the majority of Cheswick Green is within 500m of Cheswick Green Primary 

School. Cheswick Place is within acceptable walking distance (1,000m) In addition, there are 

residential areas to the north of the site in Monkspath that are within preferred maximum walking 

distance (2,000m) of the site.  

3.10.7 A postcode plot of current pupils in Reception – Year 6 is provided in Figure  3-5. 

Figure  3-5: Cheswick Green Primary – Postcode Plot 

 

3.10.8 Based on the postcode data provided in Figure  3-5 for pupils in Reception – Year 6 (currently 214 

pupils on roll): 

• 95 pupils (44%) live within desirable walking distance of the school; 

• 154 pupils (72%) live within acceptable walking distance of the school; and 

• 161 pupils (75%) lived within preferred maximum walking distance of the school. 

Page 98



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 27 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

3.10.9 The hands-up survey conducted with pupils in December 2020 found that 57% of pupils currently 

walk/cycle to school. Based on the above pupil numbers and percentages, it is therefore likely that 

all pupils that live within desirable walking distance travel on foot/by bike, but a proportion of those 

living up to 1,000m away, within 6-12 minute walk (acceptable distance) travel by private car.  

3.10.10 As shown in Figure  3-6, the area within “acceptable” walking distance includes all of Cheswick 

Green and Cheswick Place.  Therefore, in the context of changing attitudes of flexible working 

patterns, the above postcode plot and mode share data, there are clear opportunities to increase 

the percentage of existing pupils walking, scooting, and cycling to Cheswick Green Primary, by 

between 10 – 20%. A 10% increase in non-car modes would reduce the number of vehicle trips 

currently generated by the school by up to 25 vehicles (equivalent to three to four families per class 

changing to non-car modes). It is considered that this is achievable through implementation of the 

School Travel Plan that has been prepared in Modeshift STARS.  

3.10.11 It must however be noted that the ability for parents/pupils to walk to school depends on personal 

circumstances of families such as a need to drop-off and pick-up children on the way to/from work. 

Therefore, walking what can be perceived to be long distances to/from the school, particularly with 

young children is not always practical.  

Page 99



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 28 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Figure  3-6: Walking Isochrone 

 

Walking Route Audit 

3.10.12 The Walking Route Audit Tool (WRAT) was developed as part of the Active Travel Wales Guidance 

to assess the condition and suitability of walking routes. It has been used to develop Local Cycling 

and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) across the UK. It is therefore considered a suitable tool 

to assess the condition and suitability of walking routes to Cheswick Green Primary School. It 

assesses the following criteria: 

• Attractiveness (e.g. traffic noise, fear of crime); 

• Comfort (e.g. condition, footway width); 

• Directness (e.g. footway provision, location of crossings); 

• Safety (e.g. traffic volume and speed); and 

• Coherence (e.g. presence of dropped kerbs and tactile paving).  

3.10.13 The key walking routes to Cheswick Green Primary from surrounding residential areas and existing 

sustainable transport infrastructure are shown in Figure  3-7. These have been identified based on 

a review of the local highway network, walking accessibility, current pupil postcode data and the 

Page 100



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 29 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

location of committed developments within the vicinity of the site for which the expansion will 

provide capacity for. These routes have been assessed using the WRAT.  

Figure  3-7: Key Walking Routes 

 

3.10.14 The full assessment of each of the above routes is provided in Appendix D with a summary 

presented in Table 3-4. National guidance states that a score of 70% (i.e. a score of 28 out of a 

potential 40 points) should normally be regarded as a minimum level of provision overall. Routes 

which score less than this, and factors which are scored as zero should be used to identify where 

improvements are required. This scoring has been based on a site visit and desktop appraisal of 

routes.  

Table  3-5: WRAT Scoring Assessment 

Route WRAT Score Route improvement 
measures required? Attractiveness Comfort Directness Safety Coherence Total 

Stratford Road/ 
Creynolds Lane/ 
Cheswick Way  

 

7 9 9 3 2 30 (75%) N/A 

Cheswick Way 8 9 12 5 2 37 (90% N/A 

Page 101



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 30 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Route WRAT Score Route improvement 
measures required? Attractiveness Comfort Directness Safety Coherence Total 

Kingfisher Way/ 
Saxon Wood Road/ 
Cheswick Way 

7 9 12 5 2 36 (88%) N/A 

Foxland Close 7 10 12 5 2 36 (88%) N/A 

 

3.10.15 Table 3-4 shows that on all identified routes, at least minimum walking provision is in place, and on 

this basis, it is concluded that no further improvements are required in order for these routes to be 

suitable for pupils/parents to walk to/from Cheswick Green Primary School. 

3.11 Cycling  

Infrastructure 

3.11.1 As part of their Walking and Cycling Strategy (Emerging), SMBC have identified key routes for cycling 

including the Monkspath & Blythe Valley route which offers a direct connection to Solihull Town 

Centre, with a spur to Cheswick Green.  

3.11.2 SMBC have designated Creynolds Lane and Cheswick Way as quiet roads for cycling. Cheswick Way 

and Creynolds Lane form part of a wider cycle network with routes S6, L7 and L9 running through 

Cheswick Green. This facilitates connections to a range of nearby residential areas such as 

Monkspath, Illshaw Heath, Dickens Heath and Hollywood.  

3.11.3 The S6 cycle route provides a direct route from residential areas in Monkspath to Cheswick Way via 

Creynolds Lane. Additionally, a shared pedestrian and cycleway is located on the eastern side of 

Stratford Road on Hay Lane.  

Accessibility 

3.11.4 Figure 3-7 shows the cycling catchment at 2, 5 and 8km distances. This shows that the residential 

areas to the north of the school, towards Solihull Town Centre are within a 2km cycling distance. 

The majority of the catchment area is between 5km cycling distance. It is noted, however, that due 

to the age of the pupils, travel by bicycle over longer distances is more likely to be suitable for staff 

than pupils. 

3.11.5 The level of accessibility for pupils via cycling has the potential to be high, as when Figure 3-7 is 

compared to the pupil post code data (Figure 3-2), it suggests that the majority of pupils reside 

within less than 2km from the school – a suitable distance for pupils to cycle with their parents to 

school.  

Page 102



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 31 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Figure  3-8: Cycling Isochrone 

 

3.12 Public Transport 

Bus 

3.12.1 The nearest bus stop is located on Cheswick Way, approximately 30m south east from the school 

entrance. Both of these bus stops have flag and pole provision with timetable information for 

passengers. It should be noted that only the eastbound bus stop is currently in operation.  

3.12.2 There are additional stops on Creynolds Lane and A34 Stratford Road, which provide additional bus 

services. These are approximately 350m and 1km from the site access, respectively. 

Page 103



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 32 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Figure  3-9: Bus Stop Locations 

 

Table  3-6: Bus Service Summary 

Service Number Nearest Bus Stop 
Location 

Service Provider Route Peak Hour Frequency 

872 (School Service) Cheswick Way The Green Bus Monkspath / Cheswick 
Green / Sharmans Cross / 
Kings Heath  

One a day 

A5 Cheswick Way LandFlight The Saxon (Cheswick 
Green) / Three May Poles 
/ Shirley / Solihull Station 

One per hour  

A7/A8 Creynolds Lane LandFlight Solihull Station / Windley 
Road / Dorridge Rail 

Station / Fore Business 
Park / Himley Rise / 

Allotments  

Every 30 minutes   

 

3.12.3 Given the frequency of the A5 bus service, this is unlikely to be viable for pupil travel. The A7/A8 

bus service, which serves Blythe Valley Park, would be a viable route for pupils who live in Blythe 

Valley to use to travel to school – a journey time of approximately 6-7 minutes based on the latest 

printed timetable. 

Page 104



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 33 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Rail  

3.12.4 The nearest railway station is Widney Manor, approximately is located 4.5km from the site and 

operates on the West Midlands Railway service. It provides connections to regional locations such 

as Kidderminster and Dorridge. The railway station has 28 cycle parking spaces. The station is 

approximately a 15-minute cycle 2 from Cheswick Green Primary School. This is therefore a viable 

travel option for staff based at the school. 

3.12.5 In addition, Whitlocks End Railway Station is approximately 5.4m to the east of the site and operates 

on the West Midland Trains service. It provides connections to Worcester Shrub Hill and Stratford-

upon-Avon via a one train per hour service.  

3.13 Highway Safety  

3.13.1 In order to determine whether there are any highway safety issues that may be exacerbated by the 

proposed expansion, Personal Injury Collisions (PIC) data for the most recent three-year period 

(01/03/2017 to 29/02/2020) has been obtained from Transport for West Midlands (TfWM). The full 

data set is included in Appendix E. 

3.13.2 There has been a total of seven collisions across the whole study area within a three-year period, 

all of the recorded collisions within the study area were classified as slight and no fatal collisions 

occurred within the study period Figure 3-6: 

 

 

 

 
2 2 2 A cycling speed of 4.4m/s has been taken from the SUSTRANS Information Sheet FF11 or ‘Cycle Friendly 
Employers’ Information Sheet’ and states that “a five mile journey can be comfortably cycled by an adult in 30 
minutes”. 
 

Page 105



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 34 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Figure  3-10: Traffic Collision Data 

 

Table  3-7: Collision Data Summary  

Location  
Severity  Sensitive Road Users  

Slight  Serious  Fatal  Pedestrian  Cyclist  Motorcyclist  

Vicarage Road/Illshaw 
Heath Road/ Watery Lane 1 -  -  -  1 -  

Cheswick Way/Glenwood 
Drive  

1  -  - -  -  

Stratford Road/Creynolds 
Lane 

1 -  -  -  -  -  

Total  3 - -  - 1 -  

 

Vicarage Road/Illshaw Heath Road/Watery Lane 

3.13.3 Over the last three years, there was one collision reported at this junction, an average of less than 

one collision per annum.  

3.13.4 The only collision at this junction involved one sensitive road user who was in an accident with a 

vehicle on a Saturday. The causality for the collision was reported that the driver did not look 

properly.  

Page 106



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 35 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Cheswick Way/Glenwood Drive 

3.13.5 Over the last three years, there was only one collision reported at this junction. There were no 

sensitive road users involved in this incident and it occurred outside of peak school hours. 

Stratford Road/Creynolds Lane 

3.13.6 Over the last three years, there was only one collision reported at this junction, no sensitive road 

users were involved in this accident and it occurred outside of peak school hours. In addition, the 

junction has recently been improved to permit all-movements, which mean that this collision 

record does not reflect the current form of the junction.  

Summary 

3.13.7 Based on the assessment presented above there has been a low frequency of collisions within the 

study area. periods. All collisions have been classified as slight, and these have not involved children 

of school age, nor occurred during school peak. In addition, none of the reported collisions have 

occurred in close proximity of the school.  

3.13.8 On this basis, it is not considered that there are any existing road safety issues within the vicinity of 

the site which could be exacerbated by the proposed development.  

3.14 Summary  

3.14.1 To summarise: 

• On-site observations found that there are some existing issues surrounding inappropriate 

parking on Cheswick Way at the start and end of the school day. Generally, parking associated 

with the school reduces Cheswick Way to one-way shuttle working, however this was not 

observed to generate considerable levels of queueing and delay for other traffic using Cheswick 

Way; 

• The school actively encourages parents/guardians to park considerately on Cheswick 

Way/Foxland Close;  

• The school has good accessibility to local bus services which provide direct access to surrounding 

areas with bus stops within 400m of the site access;  

• There are existing residential areas within a 2km walking and cycling distance that fall within the 

catchment area of the school, with suitable footway and crossing provision to facilitate trips to 

the school by these modes. It is considered there is potential to increase the percentage of 

existing pupils that walk/cycle/scoot to school through the School Travel Plan; 

Page 107



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 36 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

• The walking route audit has shown that the key walking routes within Cheswick Green score 

over 70% and therefore no improvements are required. On this basis it is concluded that all 

routes  could accommodate pupils walking/scooting to/from the school; 

• Residential development at Blythe Valley Park will see highway improvements implemented 

within the vicinity of the site, and has also funded a 30-minute frequency bus service between 

Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Green. This improves accessibility to the site by public 

transport;  

• There are no existing road safety issues within the vicinity of the site which could be exacerbated 

by the proposed developments. 

Page 108



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 37 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

4 Development Proposals  

4.1 Overview  

4.1.1 It is proposed to expand the school by 1FE, taking the total capacity of the school (Reception – Year 

6) to 420 pupils. The capacity of the existing pre-school will remain at 30, and the existing nursery 

will be expanded in line with the school expansion. This will bring the total capacity of the site post-

expansion to 510 pupils.  

4.1.2 The school has advised that post-expansion there will be 65 members of staff at the site, increasing 

staffing levels by 21.  

Table  4-1: Existing and Proposed - Staff and Pupil Numbers 

 Pupils Staff 

Existing Proposed Existing Proposed 

Pre-School 30 30 

44 65 
Nursery 30 60 

Reception – Year 6 210 420 

Total 270 510 

 

4.1.3 To accommodate the additional pupils, the existing school building will be extended to provide 

additional classrooms and associated storage and facilities. The proposed site masterplan is 

included in Appendix A.  

4.1.4 SMBC have confirmed that these additional primary school places are required to accommodate 

demand generated by nearby housing developments at Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place.  

4.2 Access 

4.2.1 It is proposed to retain the existing vehicular and pedestrian access to the site from Cheswick Way. 

This will continue to form the servicing and emergency service vehicle access to the site.  

4.3 Parking Provision   

Quantum 

4.3.1 The school currently has 13 car parking spaces on-site, plus one disabled parking space. An online 

survey was undertaken with staff at the school. 32 members of staff responded, a response rate of 

73%. These results showed that pre March 2020, 75% of staff travelled by car. This equates to 

demand for 33 car parking spaces. It is understood that the 19 surplus vehicles (based on above 

mode share data) double-park within the site, or on Cheswick Way.  

Page 109



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 38 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

4.3.2 The SMBC parking standards are found within the “Vehicle Parking Standards and Green Travel 

Plans” (2006) supplementary planning document. Standards for primary schools dictate that a 

maximum of two spaces should be provided per classroom; plus whatever provision may be 

deemed necessary to ensure the operation of the approved Travel Plan. Post-expansion, the school 

will have 16 classrooms, which equates to a maximum provision of 32 car parking spaces. 

4.3.3 Post-expansion, it is proposed to provide 36 car parking on-site for use by staff, plus one disabled 

parking space. Of these 36 spaces, nine will be tandem parking spaces. This represents an additional 

22 spaces compared to current provision. This provision exceeds the standards set out by SMBC to 

ensure that parking generated by school staff does not occur on-street.  

4.3.4 Post-expansion, there will be 65 members of staff at the school. Based on the previous mode share 

data collected, this equates to parking demand for 49 vehicles. This will result in surplus demand 

for 12 vehicles, which is five less than that generated by the current site.  

4.3.5 Given the constrained nature of the site, there is no space for additional car parking without 

substantial loss of play/greenspace. Therefore it proposed to use the School Travel Plan to promote 

car sharing/uptake of sustainable modes amongst staff (further details given in following section). 

4.3.6 It is proposed to provide an area for cycle parking adjacent to the existing playground. There will 

be XX spaces available for staff and pupil use.  

Management Strategy 

4.3.7 In order to manage the on-site car parking, the school will implement a car park management 

strategy for staff and visitors. The principles of this strategy are detailed below.  

4.3.8 All staff who drive to work must register their car with the School and display a parking permit at 

all times. The school will then allocate the tandem parking spaces to staff, based on working hours. 

Staff must use these to their full potential/capacity. Any staff vehicle preventing access to a space 

will be asked to move by the School. The School will keep a record of numberplates and owners, 

this will help to ensure that: 

• staff park appropriately and in the designated areas; 

• the nine tandem parking spaces are managed effectively so that staff ‘blocking in’ others will 

be able to be contacted quickly and efficiently; and 

• the school can quickly contact the driver/owner of a vehicle in an emergency.   

4.3.9 All visitors wishing to park on-site must pre-book a parking space with the School prior to arrival. 

The school will cone off these spaces for specific visitors at the start of the school day. This will help 

to ensure that: 

Page 110



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 39 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

• On-site parking spaces are used efficiently; 

• Visitors parking appropriate and in designated areas; and 

• The school can quickly contact the driver/owner of a vehicle in an emergency.  

4.3.10 Through the School Travel Plan, staff and visitors will be encouraged to travel to school sustainably, 

through the following measures, where possible, to reduce demand for on-site car parking: 

• Provision of cycle maintenance session for staff (and pupils); 

• Installation of cycle parking that can be used by staff and visitors; 

• Participation in cycle purchase scheme for staff; 

• Promotion of opportunities for car sharing to staff and visitors; and 

• Promotion of local bus services available within the vicinity of the site to staff and visitors. 

Page 111



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 40 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

5 Travel Demand and Impact  

5.1 Overview 

5.1.1 This section seeks to assess the travel demand generated by the proposed development and 

consider the likely impact of this on the local highway network.  

5.2 Committed Developments - Pupil Draw and Build-Out 

5.2.1 It is understood that these additional primary school places are required to accommodate demand 

generated by nearby housing developments at Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place.  The number 

of dwellings, by ownership, at each of these sites are set out in Table  5-1.  

Table  5-1: Committed Development - Housing Numbers  

 Blythe Valley Park Cheswick Place Total 

% of affordable housing 
approved 

25% 40% - 

Affordable Dwellings 188  100 288 

Privately-Owned Dwellings 562 150 712 

Total Dwellings 750 250 1,000 

 

5.2.2 As shown in Table  5-2, the SMBC School Place Planning team have provided the following estimates 

of pupil yield and take-up of places at Cheswick Green Primary, based on the following assumptions: 

• Pupil yields calculate on 28 primary pupils per 100 houses (Reception – Year 6); 

• Early Years pupils have been excluded as this is non-statutory and subject to wider market 

patterns of delivery; and 

• 70% catchment area trend applied based on current school trend in Cheswick Green.  

Table  5-2: Committed Development – Pupil Yield and Place Take-Up  

 Blythe Valley Park Cheswick Place Total 

Pupil Yield Affordable Dwellings 53 28 81 

Privately-Owned 
Dwellings 

157 42 199 

Total Pupils 210 70 280 

School Place Take-Up Affordable Dwellings 37 20 57 

Privately-Owned 
Dwellings 

110 29 139 

Total Pupils 147 49 196 

 

Page 112



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 41 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

5.2.3 This shows that of the additional 210 school places proposed from this expansion, 147 pupils will 

be drawn from Blythe Valley Park, and 49 from Cheswick Place – a total of 196 pupils (93% of 

additional primary school places, excluding Early Years provision).  

5.2.4 Assuming equal distribution of housing completion and even pupil distribution between the two 

development sites, Table  5-3 sets out the assumed pupil yield by school year.  

Table  5-3: Committed Development - Pupil Intake by School Year 

School Year Blythe Valley Park Cheswick Place Total Pupils Intake at Reception 

2022/23 21 7 28 4 

2023/24 42 14 56 8 

2024/25 63 21 84 12 

2025/26 84 28 112 16 

2026/27 105 35 140 20 

2027/28 126 42 168 24 

2028/29 147 49 196 28 

 

5.3 Travel Demand – Pupils 

Existing Mode Share 

5.3.1 Table 5-4 provides a summary of the existing multi-modal pupil trip generation for the school. It is 

understood from the school that it is currently operating at capacity (1FE). This has been presented 

for both the school AM and PM peak periods, as the nursery and pre-school children depart at 12:00 

and 12:30, respectively.  

Table  5-4: Existing Pupil Travel Demand 

Mode Mode Share  
(Hands-Up, December 2020) 

School AM Peak - Existing 
Capacity (1FE) 

School PM Peak - Existing 
Capacity (1FE) 

Walk 45.7% 123 96 

Cycle/Scoot 11.5% 31 24 

Park & Stride 2.4% 6 5 

Car Share 0.5% 1 1 

Car 39.9% 108 84 

Total (pupil trips) - 270 210 

Total (vehicles) - 115 89 

 

5.3.2 Assuming that in vehicles that car share there is an average of two pupils, Table 5-4 shows that 

Cheswick Green Primary School currently generates 115 vehicles on the local highway network 

during the AM peak and 89 vehicles during the PM peak. This equates to 230 two-way vehicle trips 

in the AM peak and 178 two-way vehicle trips in the PM peak.  

Page 113



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 42 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

5.3.3 Assuming that the mode share remains the same post-expansion, Table  5-5 sets out the forecast 

pupil and vehicle trip generation for each school peak. Assuming that in vehicles that car share 

there is an average of two pupils, Table 5-5 shows that the expansion of Cheswick Green Primary 

School could generate an additional 102 vehicles on the local highway network during the AM peak 

and 89 vehicles during the PM peak.  

Table  5-5: Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Existing Mode Share) 

Mode Mode Share  
(Hands-Up, December 
2020) 

School AM Peak School PM Peak 

Existing 
Capacity 
(1FE) 

Proposed 
Capacity 
(2FE) 

Additional 
Pupil Trips 

Existing 
Capacity 
(1FE) 

Proposed 
Capacity 
(2FE) 

Additional 
Pupil 
Trips 

Walk 45.7% 123 233 110 96 192 96 

Cycle/Scoot 11.5% 31 59 28 24 48 24 

Park & Stride 2.4% 6 12 6 5 10 5 

Car Share 0.5% 1 2 1 1 2 1 

Car 39.9% 108 204 96 84 168 84 

Total (pupil trips) - 270 510 240 210 420 210 

Total (vehicles) - 115 217 102 89 179 89 

 

5.3.4 The school has advised that they currently have 165 families at the school, this means that a high 

proportion of pupils at the school have siblings and will therefore travel in one vehicle. As shown in 

Table 5-4, only 0.5% of pupils stated they car share. In reality, based on the known number of 

siblings at the school the proportion of pupil’s car sharing will be higher that the hands up survey 

suggests. The disconnect between the two results is likely to be due to the age of the pupils and a 

misunderstanding of the question being asked. As such it is wholly reasonable to assume that the 

number of vehicle trips both existing and proposed will be lower than that presented in this report, 

albeit it is acknowledged that not all families with siblings will travel by car and therefore this cannot 

be quantified. 

5.3.5 The school operates the following before/after school provision: 

• Breakfast club (from 07:30) and an after school club (until 18:00), called Cheswick Chimps,  

approximately 30 - 40 pupils attend each day (Monday to Friday); 

• After School Sports Clubs (15:30 – 16:30), approximately 15 – 20 children at each session 

(Monday to Thursday); and 

• Before School Club (08:00 – 08:45), approximately 10-15 children at each session (two days a 

week).  

5.3.6 Attendance at these activities will reduce the number of vehicles associated with peak school drop-

off/pick-up periods, as shown in Table 5-6. Therefore, in order to present a worst-case assessment 

of vehicle trip generation during peak periods, attendance of only 30 pupils at Cheswick Chimps 

Page 114



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 43 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

(14% of primary school age children) has been considered, as the other clubs do not run on every 

day of the week. It is assumed that attendance at Cheswick Chimps will operate at the same 

percentage of primary school pupil’s post-expansion. 

Table  5-6: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (accounting for before/after school wrap around care and 
clubs) 

Mode Mode Share  
(Hands-Up, December 
2020) 

School AM Peak School PM Peak 

Existing 
Capacity 
(1FE) 

Proposed 
Capacity 
(2FE) 

Additional 
Pupil Trips 

Existing 
Capacity 
(1FE) 

Proposed 
Capacity 
(2FE) 

Additional 
Pupil 
Trips 

Walk 45.7% 110 206 96 82 164 82 

Cycle/Scoot 11.5% 28 52 24 21 42 21 

Park & Stride 2.4% 6 11 5 4 9 4 

Car Share 0.5% 1 2 1 1 2 1 

Car 39.9% 96 180 84 72 144 72 

Total (pupil trips) - 240 450 210 180 360 180 

Total (vehicles) - 102 191 89 77 153 77 

 

5.3.7 Table  5-6 shows that the expansion of Cheswick Green Primary, based on existing mode share data, 

could generate an additional 89 vehicles in the school AM peak and 77 vehicles in the school PM 

peak.   

Future Mode Share – Sensitivity Test 

5.3.8 It is recognised that the mode share of future pupils may not mirror that of existing due to the 

increase in the number of pupils originating from outside of Cheswick Green.  As shown in Section 

5.2, 147 pupils will be drawn from Blythe Valley Park, and 49 from Cheswick Place – a total of 196 

pupils (93% of additional primary school places, excluding Early Years provision). Therefore, a 

sensitivity test has been included in this assessment to account for this. It assumes the mode share 

of existing pupils at the school remains as per that set out above. 

5.3.9 Section 3 of this report demonstrated that all of Cheswick Place is within 1,000m of the school – an 

acceptable walking distance to school based on IHT guidance. Therefore, for the purposes of this 

assessment these pupils have assumed to have the same mode share as existing pupils at Cheswick 

Green Primary School, as shown in Table  5-7. It is assumed that the same percentage of pupils 

attend before/after school care provision (14%) as per existing pupils (7 pupils). Through the 

mitigation measures outlined in this report, and the School Travel Plan, these 49 pupils will be 

strongly encouraged to walk/cycle to school. 

Page 115



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 44 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Table  5-7: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Sensitivity Test) – Cheswick Place 

Mode Mode Share Cheswick Place Pupils 

School AM Peak School PM Peak 

Walk 45.7% 19 19 

Cycle/Scoot 11.5% 5 5 

Bus 0.0% 0 0 

Park & Stride 2.4% 1 1 

Car Share 0.5% 0 0 

Car 39.9% 17 17 

Total (pupil trips) 100% 42 42 

Total (vehicles) - 18 18 

 

5.3.10 The Transport Assessment submitted for Blythe Valley Park stated that 85% of primary school trips 

would travel to, or from, Cheswick Green Primary School, and would use public rights of way to 

connect to Illshaw Heath Road, which along with trips to the doctor’s surgery in Cheswick Green 

and St Patrick’s Church of England School (7.5% of primary school trips), could generate 97 two-

way trips by foot and 7 two-way trips by cycle each day (paragraph 4.7.16).  

5.3.11 For the 147 pupils travelling to the school from Blythe Valley, it is recognised that due to the age of 

pupils and distances included, walking and cycling will not be viable based on current infrastructure 

provision. In addition, based on the current timetable, the current bus service between Cheswick 

Green and Blythe Valley Park would not be a viable route for pupils to travel to school. Therefore, 

it is proposed to provide a dedicated escorted bus service for pupils from Blythe Valley Park to the 

school, post-expansion. Further details of this mitigation measure are provided in Section 6 of this 

report.  

5.3.12 SMBC Children’s Services have advised that in 2016/17 the SMBC ran a dedicated bus service, with 

a guide, from Millisons Wood estate to Balsall Common for primary school pupils. Of the 37 pupils 

that lived on Millisons Wood estate, 20 used the bus service (54%).  

5.3.13 This patronage data has been used in this assessment – it is assumed that 54% of pupils drawn from 

Blythe Valley Park will utilise the school bus service. This school bus will be run by the local authority 

with a guide. Further details are provided in Chapter 6 of this report. It is assumed that the 

remainder of pupils will be split between car and car share, based on the mode share data for 

existing pupils at Cheswick Green Primary (98.8% car, 1.2% car share).  

5.3.14 The travel demand for these pupils is set out in Table  5-8 . It is assumed that the same percentage 

of pupils attend before/after school care provision (14%) as per existing pupils (21 pupils). 

Page 116



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 45 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Table  5-8: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Sensitivity Test) – Blythe Valley Park 

Mode Mode Share Blythe Valley Park Pupils 

School AM Peak School PM Peak 

Walk 0% 0 0 

Cycle/Scoot 0% 0 0 

Bus 54.0% 68 68 

Park & Stride 0% 0 0 

Car Share 0.5% 1 1 

Car 45.5% 57 57 

Total (pupil trips) 100% 126 126 

Total (vehicles) - 58 58 

 

5.3.15 For the remaining primary aged pupils that are drawn from outside of Cheswick Place and Blythe 

Valley (4 pupils), and additional pupils attending Early Years provision (30 pupils), it is likely that 

these will be drawn from a similar catchment area to that of current pupils. Therefore, the existing 

mode share has been used for these 75 pupils. It is assumed that the same percentage of school-

age pupils attend before/after school care provision (14%) as per existing pupils (2 pupils). 

5.3.16 A summary of the total travel demand for the sensitivity scenario is set out in Table  5-9.  

Table  5-9: Existing and Proposed Pupil Travel Demand (Sensitivity Test) - Total 

Mode Existing  Proposed Additional 

School AM 
Peak 

School PM 
Peak 

School AM 
Peak 

School PM 
Peak 

School AM 
Peak 

School PM 
Peak 

Walk 110 82 148 107 38 25 

Cycle/Scoot 28 21 37 27 10 6 

Bus 0 0 68 68 68 68 

Park & Stride 6 4 8 6 2 1 

Car Share 1 1 2 2 1 1 

Car 96 72 187 151 91 79 

Total (pupil 
trips) 

240 180 450 360 210 180 

Total (vehicles) 102 77 195 157 93 81 

 

5.3.17 This sensitivity test shows that the expansion could generate an additional 93 vehicles in the school 

AM peak and 81 vehicles in the school PM peak. This equates to 186 two-way trips in the school 

AM peak and 164 two-way trips in the school PM peak. 

5.3.18  It should be noted that this does not account for car sharing between siblings, which based on the 

known number of siblings at the school the proportion of pupil’s car sharing will be higher that the 

hands up survey suggests. As such it is wholly reasonable to assume that the number of vehicle trips 

both existing and proposed will be lower than that presented in this report, albeit it is 

Page 117



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 46 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

acknowledged that not all families with siblings will travel by car and therefore this cannot be 

quantified. On this basis, it is considered that this presents a robust, worst-case assessment.  

5.3.19 In interpreting the above results, consideration should be given as to how key environmental and 

societal factors are affecting travel patterns, as follows: 

• The long term effect of COVID-19 on home working; 

• SMBC’s ambition to achieve net zero carbon emissions for the borough by 20413 . 

5.3.20 As summarised in Section 3, a survey conducted with parents shown that for the majority of families 

the COVID-19 pandemic has not altered how they travel, but that for some home-working has 

allowed them to walk with their child to school. It is likely that attitudes to flexible working hours, 

and home-working have changed as a result of the pandemic, which could result in increased 

uptake of sustainable modes to travel to/from school in the future.  

5.3.21 The Net Zero Solihull Green Paper outlines that two of the key transport interventions are to 

encourage those living and working in Solihull to travel shorter distances, and drive less. The 

implementation of measures to support these interventions are likely to reduce dependence on 

private vehicles for all journeys, including those to school.  

5.4 Vehicle Impact  

Site Access 

5.4.1 The development will increase the volume of traffic within the vicinity of the site access, however, 

access to the site will continue to be restricted to staff, visitors and disabled pupils only. It is 

anticipated that staff arrivals and departures would be outside of the drop-off and pick-up times 

for pupils. Therefore, any impact is likely to be negligible. 

Local Highway Capacity 

5.4.2 Based on the school start and end times, it is considered that the greatest impact (in traffic terms) 

of the development will be during the network AM peak period (08:00 to 09:00), and prior to the 

network PM peak period (15:00 to 16:00).  

5.4.3 Based on the sensitivity test, the school expansion could generate up to 186 two-way trips in the 

school AM peak and 164 two-way trips in the school PM peak. 

 
3 https://netzerosolihull.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/NetZero-Solihull-Green-Paper-1.pdf 

Page 118



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 47 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

5.4.4 Table NTS0502 of the National Travel Survey (NTS), sets out information collected regarding the 

trip start time by trip purpose for trips occurring before an “escort education” trips (2010 – 2019). 

Escort trips are defined as: 

“used when the traveller has no purpose of his or her own, other than to escort or accompany 

another person; for example, taking a child to school…Note, that the purpose of a trip for a small 

child accompanying older children to school would be escort education” 

5.4.5 Given the age of the pupils, all vehicle trips generated by the development will be escort education 

trips. Table  5-10 sets out the destinations of trips that occur after an escort education trip and the 

origins of trips that occur before an escort education trip in both the school AM (08:00 – 09:00) and 

school PM (15:00 – 16:00) peak.  

Table  5-10: Origin/Destination of trips that occur before/after an escort education trip 

 Destination of trip after escort education 
trips 

Origin of trip before escort education 

School AM Peak 
(08:00 – 09:00) 

School PM Peak 
(15:00 – 16:00) 

School AM Peak 
(08:00 – 09:00) 

School PM Peak 
(15:00 – 16:00) 

Place of Work 19% 0% 0% 8% 

Education 5% 0% 0% 4% 

Another escort education 
trip 

5% 2% 3% 4% 

Shopping 4% 2% 0% 2% 

Other escort 4% 4% 1% 1% 

Personal business 3% 1% 0% 0% 

Visit friends 2% 3% 1% 3% 

Other leisure 2% 1% 0% 0% 

Home 57% 86% 94% 79% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 

5.4.6 To determine the impact of the development on the local highway network during the school peak 

periods, the additional trips generation by the expansion have been distributed onto the network 

based on the information contained in Table  5-10, and the below assumptions: 

• Trip Origin/Destination Assumptions: 

− All origins/destinations other than home and work are assumed to be north of the site based 

on a high level review of the location of local facilities in relation to the school; 

− Distribution of trips to/from work has been derived based on 2011 Census journey to work 

data for the Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) the site is within, E02002109 Solihull 029, 

assigned to the wider highway network based on GIS routing software for an average 

Wednesday at 08:30; and 

Page 119



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 48 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

− Based on a high level review of mode share data, walking accessibility and pupil postcode 

data provided by SMBC, it is assumed that 66% of vehicle trips to homes outside of Blythe 

Valley Park and Cheswick Place are to locations north of the site, and that 34% of vehicle trips 

are to homes within Cheswick Green.  

• Routing Assumptions: 

− Trips to/from Blythe Valley Park have been split 25%:75% between Illshaw Heath Road and 

A34 Stratford Road, based on the difference in trip length for each route; 

− Trips to/from Cheswick Place all route via Coppice Way and Cheswick Way; 

− For trips using routes to the south e.g. Illshaw Heath Road, 50% of trips route via Cheswick 

Way, and 50% of trips route via Creynolds Lane. 

5.4.7 On this basis, the number of additional vehicle trips through adjacent junctions is set out in Table  

5-11. Full calculations are set out in Appendix F. This represents a worst case assessment as it does 

not account for the impact of implementing a Park and Stride on trip distribution and assignment, 

which could encourage a greater proportion of Blythe Valley pupils to route via Illshaw Heath Road. 

Table  5-11: Number of two-way trips through adjacent junctions 

Junction School AM Peak (08:00 – 09:00) School PM Peak (15:00 – 16:00) 

Arrivals Departures Total Arrivals Departures Total 

A34 Stratford 
Road / Creynolds 
Lane 

30 52 82 30 26 56 

Cheswick Way / 
Creynolds Lane 
(N) 

50 65 115 47 45 92 

Cheswick Way / 
Creynolds Lane (S) 

41 26 67 35 37 72 

Illshaw Heath 
Road / Watery 
Lane 

41 26 67 35 37 72 

 

5.4.8 Table  5-11 shows that the greatest impact is forecast in the school AM peak. Due to the nature of 

drop-offs and pick-ups, any impact caused by the additional trips will be spread across a 45-minute 

period following implementation of the staggered start/end times. This would only coincide with 

the network peaks during the morning drop-off period.   

5.4.9 Not all of the trips in Table  5-11 will be “new” trips to the network as a result of the expansion, as 

follows: 

• As set out in Table  5-10, between 6 – 43% of trips in each peak are linked trips, to/from 

destinations other than home. Depending on the origin and final destination of these trips, a 

proportion of these will already be present on the local highway network;  

Page 120



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 49 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

• As part of the planning applications for both Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Place, the 

accompanying Transport Assessments calculated vehicle trip rates using the TRICs database for 

each of the network peak periods. For residential sites, TRICs calculates trip rates based on a 

database on surveys undertaken at residential sites across the UK, which can be filtered based 

on a number of parameters. This therefore accounts that some of the trips in the AM network 

peak periods will be undertaken for education purposes. 

• Within each of the Transport Assessments, the development trips have been distributed and 

assigned to the network based on journey to work data from the 2011 Census. Therefore, whilst 

neither of these development sites specifically distributed trips to Cheswick Green Primary 

School, the escort education trips will be accounted for within the trip rate extracted from TRICs. 

Both of these sites subsequently undertook an assessment of the local highway network and 

identified requirements for off-site mitigation. Therefore the majority of these additional trips 

set out in Table  5-11 will have already been accounted for within the assessment of the local 

network for each of these sites.  

5.4.10 Based on the above, it is considered that no further assessment of junction capacity is deemed to 

be necessary.  

On Street Parking 

5.4.11 Due to the age of pupils at Cheswick Green Primary School, most parents will require somewhere 

to park so that they can accompany children to the school gates. Therefore, the increase in vehicle 

trips is also likely to increase the demand for on-street parking in the vicinity of the school. Due to 

the nature of drop-offs and pick-ups, any impact caused by the additional parking will be limited to 

at most a 30-minute period within the vicinity of the school.  

5.4.12 In order to forecast the likely impact of the expansion, a parking beat survey was undertaken by 

Streetwise Services Ltd for areas within approximately a 5-minute walk of the school access. The 

parking beat survey was undertaken on Thursday 26th November 2020 between 08:00 and 09:30 

and 14:00 and 16:00. The full outputs of the survey are provided in Appendix C. 

5.4.13 It is recognised that this was undertaken during the COVID-19 pandemic when the school was 

operating staggered start/end times as follows: 

• 08:30 – 15:00 – Nursery and Reception; 

• 08:40 – 15:10 – Year 1 and Year 2; 

• 08:50 – 15:20 – Year 3 and 4; and 

• 09:00 – 15:40 – Year 5 and 6.  

5.4.14 In addition, the school advised that at the time of undertaking the survey there were no pupils off-

school self-isolating. Due to the staggered start/end times it should be noted that the survey will 

Page 121



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 50 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

likely demonstrate that parking will occur in a more localised area for a longer time period, 

compared to pre-COVID.  This should be considered when interpreting the below results.  

5.4.15 As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the parking beat survey has been used to determine the 

capacity of the local highway network prior to arrival of school-related traffic. It is likely that due to 

COVID-19 pandemic there would have an increased incidence of residential parking, and therefore 

that this presents a robust assessment of parking capacity.  

Survey Results 

5.4.16 The results show that car parking associated with Cheswick Green Primary School is concentrated 

on Cheswick Way between its junctions with Badger Close and Creynolds Lane, and on Foxland 

Close north of its junction with Briarwood Close during both peak periods. The data showing the 

locations of parked vehicles shows there were a few instances of cars parking across dropped kerbs, 

on double yellow lines, in the bus stop (westbound) and on the school keep clear markings. These 

general observations were consistent with the site observations made on site by PJA. 

5.4.17 Across the whole study area (5-minute walk from site access), the local highway network has 

capacity for 592 parked vehicles. This takes into account parking restrictions, presence of dropped 

kerbs and the available width of the highway for accommodated vehicles parked on both sides of 

the carriageway. Prior to the start of both school peak periods, a maximum of 127 vehicles were 

parked within the study area, with residual capacity for 399 vehicles. This could suitably 

accommodate the forecast demand for Cheswick Green Primary School operating at 2FE (maximum 

demand forecast of 195 vehicles, sensitivity vehicles). This does not account for the impact of 

implementing staggered start/end times, which would considerably reduce maximum parking 

demand post-expansion. 

5.4.18 It is acknowledged that the majority of parents/guardians will want to park in the most convenient 

location, within close proximity to the school access. On the roads closest to the school access 

(Cheswick Way, Saxon Wood Road, Boscobel Road, Badger Close and Foxland Close) there is 

capacity for 323 vehicles. All of these areas are within a five minute walk of the site access. Prior to 

the start of each peak, the following number of vehicles were parked: 

• Prior to AM Peak (08:10 – 08:20) – 54 vehicles; and 

• Prior to PM Peak (14:40 – 14:50) – 71 vehicles.  

5.4.19 Taking into consideration the above, there would be residual capacity for 269 vehicles in the AM 

peak and 252 vehicles in the PM peak. This could accommodate the forecast demand for Cheswick 

Green Primary School operating at 2FE based on the Sensitivity Scenario travel demand (195 

vehicles in the AM peak and 157 vehicles in the PM peak). This demand for parking would only be 

Page 122



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 51 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

generated over a relatively short time period (assuming current staggered timings are continued 

this could be up to a maximum of 30-40 minutes in each peak).   

Summary  

5.4.20 The survey results reflect the parking that is currently observed in close proximity to the access on 

Cheswick Way. The results have demonstrated that there is considerable spare capacity for on-

street parking further from the school in the surrounding area if parents are willing to park slightly 

further from the school. This should be strongly encouraged by the school. 

5.4.21 On balance, whilst the proposals will increase parking pressures on Cheswick Way directly in front 

of the school, it is considered that there is enough on-street parking available in the wider area to 

accommodate the extra demand. It will however be essential that parents are encouraged to park 

further from the school (if necessary) on Cheswick Way, Saxon Wood Road, Boscobel Road, Badger 

Close and Foxland Close, and discouraged from parking inappropriately. 

5.5 Pedestrian/Cyclist Impact 

5.5.1 Given the catchment of the school and distances to the school, it is likely that the majority of 

pedestrian/cyclist demand will be generated by pupils living in Cheswick Green, Cheswick Place or 

in Monkspath. Based on the sensitivity test, the expansion will generate an additional 48 

pedestrian/cyclist trips in the AM peak and 31 trips in the PM peak.  

5.5.2 Throughout Cheswick Green there are lit footways, with dropped kerbs/tactile paving crossing 

points at regular intervals. Towards Monkspath, north of A34 Stratford Road, there is a footway on 

the western side of Creynolds Lane and signalised crossing facilities at the Creynolds Lane/A34 

Stratford Road junction. A shared footway/cycleway provides access from A34 Stratford Road onto 

Hay Lane. A WRAT assessment of the key walking routes to the school has demonstrated that these 

have suitable provision to accommodate walking/cycling trips to/from Cheswick Green Primary 

School. 

5.5.3 It is therefore considered that the existing infrastructure is suitable to accommodate the forecast 

increase in pedestrians and cyclists.  

5.6 Public Transport Impact 

5.6.1 Currently, no pupils travel to the site using public transport. Given that the expansion will provide 

primary school capacity for pupils originating from the Blythe Valley Park residential development, 

and the distances to Cheswick Green Primary from the development site, it is proposed to provide 

a dedicated school bus for pupils living in Blythe Valley.  

Page 123



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 52 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

5.6.2 A Section 106 contribution has been agreed between the developers of Blythe Valley Park and 

SMBC to pump-prime the A7/A8 bus service for up to six years, after which the service is forecast 

to become commercially viable. Ongoing discussions are in place between SMBC and TfWM to 

ascertain how these will be used. It is understood that based on current discussions, it is proposed 

for TfWM to alter the times of public bus to fit with the school start/end times, and to provide a 30-

minute frequency service.  Further details are provided in the following section of this report. 

5.7 Summary  

5.7.1 This section of the report has demonstrated that the proposed expansion of the school will lead to 

an increased demand for drop-off, pick-up, on-street parking, and pedestrian activity outside the 

site. It is considered that the potential impact of this demand can be reduced and managed by the 

implementation of a comprehensive package of mitigation measures which are detailed in the 

following section.  

Page 124



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 53 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

6 Mitigation Measures 

6.1 Overview 

6.1.1 Based on on-site observations and consideration of the expansion proposals, this section outlines 

the measures we consider are required to facilitate a 1FE expansion at Cheswick Green Primary and 

mitigate the impact of the expansion to ensure that it does not have a severe impact on highway 

safety or capacity. 

6.1.2 The school are fully supportive of the measures outlined within this report and are committed to 

work with SMBC to deliver these, as the school expands to 2FE. A letter of support is provided in 

Appendix G.   

6.2 School Travel Plan 

6.2.1 In December 2020, the school worked in liaison with SMBC to prepare a School Travel Plan in 

Modeshift STARS. The focus of this Travel Plan is to encourage those who are able to walk/cycle to 

do so on a regular basis, and contains a number of measures through which this will be achieved.  

6.2.2 This School Travel Plan is now in place at the school, and will continue to be followed and updated 

post-expansion. Recommended travel initiatives (with Modeshift STARS code) for inclusion post-

expansion are as follows: 

• Pupils: 

− W12/C2: Scooter/cycle storage installed; 

− C1: Dr Bike/cycle maintenance sessions;  

− R1: Cycle training for pupils (e.g. Bikeability); 

− R9: Road Safety assembly/presentation; 

− AQ4: Park and walk/stride scheme; 

− AQ7: Parent Parking campaign; 

− AQ8: Parking pledge scheme; and 

− PT2: School promotes public transport. 

• Staff/Visitors: 

− C2: Cycle storage installed; 

− C1: Dr Bike/cycle maintenance sessions;  

− C12: Bicycle security marking;  

− C11: Cycle purchase scheme for staff; 

− R8: Cycle training for staff and/or parents; 

Page 125



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 54 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

− AQ1: School promotes car sharing; and 

− PT2: School promotes public transport. 

6.3 Implementation of staggered start/end times 

6.3.1 Currently, due to the COVID-19 pandemic the school is operating staggered start and end times for 

all pupils. In order to reduce the concentration of parking demand within the vicinity of the school, 

it is recommended that this is continued to be implemented by the school post COVID-19, in two 

groups, rather than the current four.  

6.3.2 It is recommended that the start/end times for pupils in Reception to Year 6, are staggered by Key 

Stage, as follows: 

• Stagger 1: Reception – Year 2 (plus Early Year provision) - 08:30 – 15:10; and 

• Stagger 2: Year 3 to Year 6 – 08:50 – 15:30.  

6.3.3 Based on available mode share data there is currently parking demand for 102 vehicles in the AM 

peak and 77 vehicles in the PM Peak. Assuming the mode share, draw from committed 

developments and take-up of before/after school provision is consistent across all year groups, 

following implementation of the above arrangements the parking demand would be as follows: 

• Stagger 1 – 106 vehicles in the AM Peak, 66 vehicles in the PM peak; 

• Stagger 2 – 90 vehicles in each peak. 

6.3.4 Assuming that pupils arrive in the 15 minute period before school starts, and parents/guardians 

depart in the 10 minute afterwards, there would be no overlap between these periods. On this 

basis, the demand for parking within the vicinity of the school would not considerably exceed that 

currently experienced at the school. An indication of the parking accumulation for the AM peak is 

provided in Table  6-1. It should be noted that this does not account for parents using the Park and 

Stride provision, which would reduce the demand presented in Table  6-1.  

Table  6-1: Staggered Start/End Times - Parking Accumulation – AM Peak 

Time Trip Profile Parking Demand 

% Arrivals % Departures Arrivals Departures Accumulation 

08:15 33%  35  35 

08:20 33%  35  70 

08:25 33%  35  106 

08:30 STAGGER 1 – START 106 

08:35 33% 50% 30 53 83 

08:40 33% 50% 30 53 60 

08:45 33%  30  90 

08:50 STAGGER 2  – START 90 

08:55  50%  45 45 

Page 126



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 55 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Time Trip Profile Parking Demand 

% Arrivals % Departures Arrivals Departures Accumulation 

09:00  50%  45 0 

 

6.3.5 Existing families at the school were asked if they would be open to the use of staggered start/end 

times through an online survey. A summary of responses to this question are provided in Figure 6-

1.  

Figure  6-1: Summary of responses to “Would you be open to the continued use of staggered start/end times 

for pupils once Covid-19 restrictions have been lifted?”

 

6.3.6 The responses to this question indicate that parents/guardians would generally be open to 

continued use of staggered start/end times (approximately 74%).  

6.3.7 The school has advised they currently have 165 families at the school, which means that a high 

proportion of pupils at the school have siblings. As siblings may span different start/end times, the 

school would be required to provide wrap around care for these pupils to ensure that each family 

only generates one-trip. 

6.4 Implementation of dedicated school bus to Blythe Valley Park 

6.4.1 As mentioned in Chapter 5, it is proposed to implement a dedicated school bus between Cheswick 

Green Primary and Blythe Valley Place. The bus would be commissioned and funded by the local 

authority (SMBC) and have a guide.  

6.4.2 The size of this bus would increase as the development is built-out and the school expands on a 

yearly basis. The route and pick-up location(s) would be confirmed between Education Transport 

and bus provider once the expansion comes forward. 

Page 127



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 56 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

6.4.3 The school bus would arrive prior to 08:30 and depart after 15:30, to cater for pupils in different 

year groups. The school would be required to provide wrap around care for pupils before/after the 

staggered start/end times until the bus arrives/departs. 

6.4.4 The use of the School Bus would be strongly promoted to pupils residing in Blythe Valley Park 

through the School Travel Plan. This could also be promoted through the Travel Plan that will be 

implemented at Blythe Valley Park, as part of the marketing and communication strategy (for 

example, within the Welcome Packs sent to each household upon occupation).  

6.5 Increasing the frequency of A7/A8 bus service 

6.5.1 A Section 106 contribution has been agreed between the developers of Blythe Valley Park and 

SMBC to pump-prime the A7/A8 bus service for up to six years, after which the service is forecast 

to become commercially viable. Ongoing discussions are in place between SMBC and TfWM to 

ascertain how these will be used. It is understood that based on current discussions, it is proposed 

for TfWM to alter the times of public bus to fit with the school start/end times, and to provide a 30-

minute frequency service.  This increase in frequency would allow the bus times to cater for pupils 

in both stagger timings.  

6.5.2 This would be in addition to the dedicated school bus service, providing parents, staff, and visitors 

another sustainable option to travel between the school and Solihull Railway Station, Knowle, 

Dorridge, Blythe Valley, and areas south of Solihull Town Centre.  

6.5.3 The timetabled journey time between Blythe Valley Park and Cheswick Green is approximately 6-7 

minutes, so would be particularly beneficial for these residents. It could also be used by parents 

residing in Cheswick Place and Cheswick Green for onwards journeys to work in Solihull and Blythe 

Valley Park, and onward rail connections to regional destination from Solihull Railway Station.  

6.6 Park and Stride   

6.6.1 It is recommended that provision of an off-site ‘Park and Stride’ opportunity could reduce 

congestion outside the school during pick-up and drop-off periods. Park and Stride involves parents 

parking at a designated location away from the school and members of staff walking the 

children, in a walking bus, to the school. Due to its location, it is likely that this facility would 

predominantly be used by pupils living in Blythe Valley Park (up to 57 vehicles), as it would offer a 

quieter location to drop-off/pick-up pupils.  

6.6.2 One potential site for a ‘Park and Stride’ is Cheswick Green Local Centre Car Park comprising circa 

51 spaces, with no parking restrictions in place. This is currently used for those using local facilities 

in Cheswick Green e.g. Newsagent, Takeaway, Public House. In addition to this car park to the rear 

of the local facilities, there is also a small amount of parking fronting Cheswick Way.  

Page 128



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 57 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

6.6.3 Due to COVID-19, the parking beat survey did not encompass this car park, as it was unlikely this 

would be representative of the typical occupancy levels. However, during the site visit undertaken 

by PJA it was observed to have significant spare capacity. Given the land uses which this car park 

serves, there would be minimal interaction between peak periods, and therefore sufficient space 

within the car park to accommodate some of the parking demand generated by the school 

6.6.4 From the access to the car park on Coppice Walk, Cheswick Green Primary School is approximately 

650m walking distance away via a footway on the northbound side of Cheswick Way. Chapter 3 

presented an assessment of the quality of pedestrian infrastructure on this route using the WRAT. 

This concluded that no further improvements are required in order for these routes to be suitable 

for pupils/parents to walk to/from Cheswick Green Primary School. This site would therefore 

provide an ideal location for a park and stride service if an agreement can be made between the 

school and landowner.  

6.6.5 To ascertain the likely uptake of this provision, existing families at the school were asked if they 

would use this provision through an online survey. A summary of responses to this question are 

provided in Figure  6-2. Of those who drive to school, 39% would consider using the scheme to 

some extent. The majority of those who would use the scheme would either use it everyday or 

several times a week. It should be noted that this does not include those for whom it would be most 

useful post expansion, namely those residing in Blythe Valley Park.  

6.6.6 Further evidence is available from previous consultation undertaken with a member of staff 

Greswold Primary School regarding their ‘Walking Bus’, which is promoted to parents who drive 

from further afield to the school as well as parents living en-route. In March 2020, Greswold Primary 

School had 24 pupils using the provision in both the morning and afternoon, between the school 

and newly built housing estate on Wharf Lane, Solihull.   

Page 129



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 58 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Figure  6-2: Results of question asking parents “If a Park and Stride scheme was implemented at Cheswick Green 
Primary, would you be interested in participating?” 

 

6.6.7 Both of these sources of evidence show that this mitigation measure could be effective at Cheswick 

Green. Drawing on feedback from Greswold Primary School, it is recommended that the scheme is 

implemented as follows: 

• Implemented by the school with support from SMBC; 

• Operated by paid members of staff, which could be parents/school support staff/lunchtime 

supervisors, to ensure consistent operation; 

• Regular feedback is sought from families to gauge option and draw on community experience; 

and 

• Families are required to sign a contract to state expectations of the service if booked.  

6.6.8 Implementation of this provision would reduce demand for parking within the direct vicinity of the 

school, whilst increasing the uptake of sustainable modes for at least a proportion of the journey 

and promoting healthier lifestyles.  

6.6.9 Once organised, the scheme could be launched with “Park and Stride Week” to raise awareness of 

the scheme.  

6.6.10 To account for the staggered start/end times, take-up for the Park and Stride by year group, will be 

ascertained by the school. If there is sufficient take-up, two Park and Stride routes may need to be 

operated.  

Page 130



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 59 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

6.7 Expanded provision for before/after school clubs and care 

6.7.1 Currently, the school provides before/after school wrap around care, as well as a number of after 

school clubs, as follows: 

• Breakfast club (from 07:30) and an after school club (until 18:00), called Cheswick Chimps,  

approximately 30 - 40 pupils attend each day (Monday to Friday); 

• After School Sports Clubs (15:30 – 16:30), approximately 15 – 20 children at each session 

(Monday to Thursday); and 

• Before School Club (08:00 – 08:45), approximately 10-15 children at each session (two days a 

week).  

6.7.2 In order to reduce demand for car parking during school peak periods it is recommended that the 

school expands its before/after school clubs / care offer and promotes this to parents/families.  

6.7.3 Pupils attending before/after school clubs and care provision would not be able to utilise the Park 

and Stride Facility.  

6.7.4 Pupils would leave/attend this provision in line with their relevant staggered start/end time. 

 

  

Page 131



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 60 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

6.8 Car Parking Strategy 

6.8.1 This report has demonstrated that within a five minute walk of the school, there are multiple 

locations that could accommodate additional on-street parking. Whilst the proposals may increase 

parking pressures on areas close to the site access, it is considered that there is enough on-street 

parking available in the wider area (Cheswick Way, Saxon Wood Road, Boscobel Road, Badger Close 

and Foxland Close) to accommodate the extra demand. It will however be essential that parents 

are encouraged to park further from the school if necessary and discouraged from parking in 

inappropriate locations.  

6.8.2 In order to encourage this, it is recommended that a car parking strategy is developed by the school, 

with support from SMBC, to encourage parents to park further from the school in less congested, 

more appropriate locations. This will also complement and help to implement all of the other 

mitigation measures proposed in this section. 

6.8.3 It is recognised that the school already actively encourage parents to park safely and appropriately, 

as evidence in Appendix B. It is recommended that this regular communication is encouraged, plus 

the following measures are considered for implementation: 

• SMBC and the school to work together to generate a set of parking rules for parents to sign, 

which will encourage better parking behaviour outside the school; 

• Actively promote use of the “Park and Stride” scheme to parents/guardians who live further 

afield and cannot walk/cycle to school, to promote the message that if you have to drive to 

school, park away from the school gates; 

• Implement signage to act as a deterrent to parents parking inappropriate within the direct 

vicinity of the school; and 

• Staffing the school gates at the start and end of the school day to monitor car parking and 

behaviour. It should be noted that staff would not be required to “police” parking.  

6.9 Review of TROs within the vicinity of the school 

6.9.1 Whilst the expansion cannot rely on Traffic Regulation Orders  as these will need to form part of a 

separate consultation process, it is recommended that the existing TROs within the vicinity of the 

school are reviewed to ensure that they are fit for purpose. This should be reviewed in the context 

of the findings of the parking beat survey.   

6.10 On-Site Car Park Management Strategy 

6.10.1 The school will implement a car park management strategy for staff and visitors to manage on-site 

parking provision. Further details of this mitigation measures are set out in Section 4.3 of this 

report. 

Page 132



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 61 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

6.11 Summary 

6.11.1 A summary of the proposed mitigation measures and to whom they will benefit is set out in Table  

6-2. 

Table  6-2: Mitigation Measures 

 Existing Pupils Additional Pupils – 
Blythe Valley Park 

Additional Pupils – 
Cheswick Place 

Additional Pupils 
– Other 

Staff 

School Travel Plan 
     

Implementation of staggered 
start/end times     

 

Implementation of dedicated 
school bus to Blythe Valley 
Park 

 
 

   

Increase the frequency of the 
A7/A8 bus service      

Park and Stride 
  

 
 

 

Expanded provision for 
before/after school clubs and 
care 

    
 

Car Parking Strategy 
    

 

Car Park Management Strategy 
(on-site) 

    
 

Review of TROs within the 
vicinity of the school      

 

Page 133



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 62 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

7 Summary and Conclusion 

7.1 Summary 

7.1.1 PJA has been commissioned by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council to provide a Transport 

Statement relating to the proposed 1 FE expansion to Cheswick Green  Primary School, Solihull.  

7.1.2 Vehicular and pedestrian access to the development remains as per the existing site, from Cheswick 

Way.  

7.1.3 This report has demonstrated the following: 

• The school is accessible via sustainable modes of transport, in particular for those residing in 

Monkspath, Cheswick Green and Cheswick Place, in line with Policy P7 and P8 of Solihull Local 

Plan; 

• An interrogation of highway safety data over the latest three year period indicates that there 

are no existing safety issues that warrant further analysis; 

• On-site observations indicate that there are existing issues of inappropriate parking on Cheswick 

Way during school peak periods; 

• Following the 1FE expansion, there is forecast to be up to an additional 93 vehicles in the school 

AM peak and 81 vehicles in the school PM peak, a high proportion of which are likely to be 

diverted trips as part of a journey to work; 

• It is recognised that the current COVID-19 pandemic may have altered reported travel 

behaviours. A survey conducted with parents found that a small proportion of parents who used 

to travel by car, now walk to school. As flexible working is likely to be promoted by many 

employer’s post COVID-19 pandemic this may encourage more parents to walk/cycle with their 

child to school, where possible;  

• It is predicted that the expansion would lead to an increased demand for drop-off, pick-up, on-

street parking, and pedestrian activity outside the site. Due to the nature of drop-offs and pick-

ups impact this would be limited to at most a 30-minute period in the vicinity of the school, and 

only coincide with the network peaks during the morning drop-off period. A parking beat survey 

has demonstrated that there is sufficient capacity for this additional parking demand to be 

accommodated on the local highway network, should this be promoted to parents;  

• A Travel Plan that has recently been implemented at the school will continue to encourage those 

who are able to walk/cycle to school to do so, rather than travel by private car; and 

• A package of recommended mitigation measures that are deemed necessary to alleviate the 

impact of the proposed expansion have been outlined, including implementation of staggered 

start/end times, provision of dedicated school bus to Blythe Valley with a guide, implementation 

Page 134



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 63 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

of a Park and Stride from Cheswick Green Local Centre and expanded provision for before/after 

school clubs and care. 

7.2 Recommendations 

7.2.1 The key recommendations of this report are as follows: 

• A staffed “Park and Stride” system should be implemented from the Cheswick Green local centre 

car park, approximately 650m from the school entrance; 

• The  School Travel Plan should continue to be implemented by the school to encourage those 

who are able to walk/cycle to school to do so;  

• Implementation of staggered start/end times beyond the current COVID-19 pandemic to spread 

the demand for car parking at the start and end of the school day; 

• Increase the frequency and change the timetable of the A7/A8 bus service using S106 monies 

from the Blythe Valley Park development to better serve the school; 

• Review of TROs within the vicinity of the site; 

• Expansion of the offer of wrap around care/after school clubs for pupils; and 

• Creation of car parking management strategy for school site to encourage parents to park to 

further from the school in less congested, more appropriate locations, and to manage on-site 

staff parking.  

7.3 Conclusion  

7.3.1 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF (2019) states that:  

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 

would be severe." 

7.3.2 Based on the evidence presented in this report and following the implementation of the mitigation 

measures set out in Section 6, it is not considered that the expansion would have an unacceptable 

impact on highway safety nor have a severe residual cumulative impact on the operation of the 

road network.  

7.3.3 Of specific relevance to education development, Policy P7 states that: 

“Proposed education, health and other public service facilities should be located where they are 

easily accessible on foot, by bicycle and bus by the local community they serve”. 

7.3.4 The implementation of the aforementioned mitigation measures will together ensure that the 

school is accessible by sustainable modes, for both the existing local community within Cheswick 

Page 135



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 64 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Green, but also for pupils drawn from Cheswick Place and Blythe Valley Park which the expanded 

school will serve.  

7.3.5 The School Travel Plan will complement these measures by promoting and encouraging the uptake 

of these modes to parents, pupils, staff, and visitors, in line with section b of Policy P8 of the Local 

Plan.  

 

Page 136



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 65 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Appendix A Site Layout 

Page 137



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 66 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Appendix B School’s communications with parents 

 

 

Page 138



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 67 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

 

 

Page 139



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 68 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

 

 

Page 140



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 69 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Appendix C Parking Beat Survey Results 

Page 141



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 70 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Appendix D Walking Route Audit  

Page 142



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 71 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Appendix E Road Traffic Collision Report Summary  

Page 143



   

 

Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 72 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

Transport Assessment   

 

Appendix F Trip Generation Calculations 

Page 144



  

 

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 73 Cheswick Green Primary School, Solihull 

  Transport Assessment 

 

Appendix G School Letter of Support 

 

 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 29th March 2021 

 

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education and Skills 

Subject/report 
title: 

LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF REVISION OF INSTRUMENT 
OF GOVERNMENT 

Report from: Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Natasha Chamberlain 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☒ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To approve the revision of Governing Body Instrument of Government 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 To approve the revision of the Instrument of Government for Blossomfield Infant and 
Nursery School. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 The governing body is re-constituting under the latest 2012 regulations which give 
governing bodies more flexibilities in their composition than previously.  This means 
that they should be no bigger than necessary to secure the range of skills required 
and that their Governing Body is constituted from an appropriate number of governors 
in the correct categories.   

3.2 The change in the revised Instrument for Blossomfield Infant and Nursery School is to 
attract specific skills on the board; changing the current 10 governors to 11 by 
increasing the number of co-opted governors by 2 and reducing the number of parent 
governors by 1. The governing body proposal meets the requirements of Schools 
Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 N/A 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 N/A 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the 
opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

N/A 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment. 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

N/A 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances in 
our most disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults & children with 
complex needs. 

 

Governing bodies should be no bigger than 
necessary to secure the range of skills 
required and that their Governing Body is 
constituted from an appropriate number of 
governors in the correct categories.   

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 N/A 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 N/A 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 N/A 

Page 148

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 N/A 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 N/A 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 A draft instrument of Government for approval 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 N/A 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 N/A 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
THE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SOLIHULL 

EDUCATION ACT 2002 

INSTRUMENT OF GOVERNMENT  

(Blossomfield Infant and Nursey School) ORDER 2021 

MADE    29th March 2021 

 

In exercise of the powers conferred on Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 

by the provisions of the School Governance (Constitution)(England) 

Regulations 2012, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council being the local 

authority for the Metropolitan Borough of Solihull, hereby make the following 

Order:- 

1. This Order may be cited as the Instrument of Government (Blossomfield 

Infant and Nursery School) Order 2021. 

2. The Instrument of Government for Blossomfield Infant and Nursery 

School shall be that set out in the Schedule hereto and shall when it 

comes into force replace any earlier Instrument of Government. 

 
 
THE COMMON SEAL OF ) 

THE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH ) 

OF SOLIHULL was hereunto affixed ) 

The [           ] day of [              ] 20XX ) 

in the presence of:- ) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Solicitor to the Council 

 

Page 151



 

 

INSTRUMENT OF GOVERNMENT 
 

 
 

1. The name of the school is Blossomfield Infant and Nursery School. 

 

2. The school is a community school. 

 

3. The name of the governing body is The Board of Governors of Blossomfield 

Infant and Nursery School. 

 

4. The governing body shall consist of: 

 

a. 2 parent governors  

b. 1 LA governor 

c. 1 headteacher 

d. 1 staff governor 

e. 6 co-opted governors 

 

5. Total number of governors 11 

 

6. This Instrument of Government comes into effect on 12th April 2021. 

 

7. The instrument was made by order of Solihull Local Authority on 29th March 

2021. 

 

8. A copy of this instrument must be supplied to every member of the governing 

body. 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 152



 

 
 

Meeting date: 29 March 2021 

 

Report to: Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, 
Education and Skills 

Subject/report 
title: 

LOCAL AUTHORITY APPROVAL OF LA GOVERNOR 
APPOINTMENTS 

Report from: Director of Children’s Services and Skills 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Natasha Chamberlain  

 

 
Wards affected:  

☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☒ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To approve a Local Authority nominations to school governing bodies. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 To approve the proposal for the nomination of Local Authority Governors shown in 
Appendix A. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 The proposal for new LA Governor nominations are set out in Appendix A. 

3.2 Under School Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulation 2012 new LA 
governors are nominated by the Local Authority but appointed by the Governing Body. 

3.3 The proposed nominees have been approved by the governing body. 

3.4 DBS and Section 128 checks have been undertaken and clearance has been 
received. 

3.5 A summary of LA governor vacancies is set out in Appendix B. 

Page 153

Agenda Item 6



 

 
 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 N/A 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 N/A 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Economy: 

1. Revitalising our towns and local 
centres. 

2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the 
opportunities of HS2. 

3. Increase the supply of housing, 
especially affordable and social 
housing. 

N/A 

Environment: 

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment. 
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality. 
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions. 

N/A 

People and Communities: 

7. Take action to improve life chances in 
our most disadvantaged communities. 

8. Enable communities to thrive. 
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable 

provision for adults & children with 
complex needs. 

 

Governors are appointed to monitor and 
support and challenge school leadership. 

Implications for children and young people, 
vulnerable groups and particular 
communities.  

All new governors have completed an 
enhanced DBS check and Section 128 
check 

Building stronger communities 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 N/A 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 N/A 

Page 154

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/Portals/0/Ourvisionandpriorities/Council_plan.pdf


 

 
 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 N/A 

6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 N/A 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 N/A 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Proposed Local Authority Governor Nominations (Appendix A) 

7.2 Summary of LA Governor Vacancies (Appendix B) 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 N/A 

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 N/A 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

APPENDIX A 

 
 

 

NEW LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNOR 

NOMINATIONS 

 
 

SCHOOL 

 

 

NOMINEE 

St Alphege  Kathryn Clarke 

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
 
 

LA Governor Vacancies ( Feb 2021) 
 

GOVERNING BODY 

 

 

NUMBER OF VACANCIES 

 

 

NEW NOMINATIONS 

 

= 

Blossomfield 1 0 1 

     Tidbury Green 1 0 1 

St Alphege                        1 1 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LA Governor Overview  

 

Total LA Governor positions (excluding schools 
academising)  

52 

Total LA Governor vacancies   2 

% Posts filled                                       

                                    96% 

 

 

Catholic schools with LA vacancies that are academising from the 1 April 2021 

 

St Andrew’s  1 

St Augustine’s  1 

St George and St Teresa 1 

St John the Baptist 1 

 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Proposal to expand Cheswick Green Primary School
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	5 Local Authority Approval of Revised Instrument of Government - Blossomfield Infant and Nursery School
	Appendix A

	6 Local Authority Approval of Appointment of LA Governors
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


